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Corporate Information
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Guo Zi Wen (chairman)

Mr. Guo Zi Ning (vice chairman and chief executive officer)
Mr. Yang Zhong (chief operating officer)

Ms. Xin Zhu (executive vice president)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tsui King Fai

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

Mr. Hu Jiang

REGISTERED OFFICE
Cricket Square,

Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111,

Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC

Aoyuan Mansion,

No. 108, HuangPu Avenue West,
Tianhe District,

Guangzhou,

PRC

PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Units 1901-2, 19th Floor, One Peking,

No. 1 Peking Road,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon
Hong Kong

COMPANY WEBSITE

http://www.aoyuan.com.cn

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Ho Kar Yan Joyce

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Guo Zi Wen

Mr. Guo Zi Ning
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Corporate Information (continued)

MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung (chairman)
Mr. Tsui King Fai
Mr. Hu Jiang

MEMBERS OF THE REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

Mr. Tsui King Fai (chairman)
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung
Mr. Hu Jiang

MEMBERS OF THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Guo Zi Wen (chairman)

Mr. Tsui King Fai
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung
Mr. Hu Jiang

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bank of China Limited

China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Nanyang Commercial Bank Limited

China Construction Bank Corporation

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Ping An Bank Company Limited

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND

TRANSFER OFFICE
Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

4th Floor, Royal Bank House

24 Shedden Road, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-1110
Cayman lIslands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
17 M Floor,

Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen's Road East,

Wanchai,

Hong Kong

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Email: ir@aoyuan.net

Telephone:  (852) 3622 2122
(86) 20-3868 6666

Facsimile: (852) 2180 6189
(86) 20-3868 6688
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» Financial Highlights
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Results Highlights 2&/H=

For the year ended 31 December 2013 #HEZZT—=F+-_A=+—HIFE
(RMB' 000) (AR¥FIT)
2013 2012
—E—=F —E——F
Revenue LR 5,729,267 3,943,205
Gross profit EH 1,758,550 1,186,540
Net profit Rl 752,136 932,644
Attributable to: LA AR -
— Owners of the Company VNG Z PN 735,824 930,272
— Non-controlling interests —IEEAR R A 16,312 2,372
Earnings per share (cents) BlEF(9)
- Basic — &R 27.42 35.57
— Diluted —#E 27.40 35.57
Revenue Analysis & %% 5 #T
For the year ended 31 December 2013 HZE_ZT—=F+_A=+—HItFE
(RMB’000) (AR¥F7T)
2013 2012
—E—-=F =T
Property development MEER 5,599,797 3,865,079
Property investment LIES S} 48,706 31,211
Others EHAth 80,764 46,915
Total At 5,729,267 3,943,205

Property Development Revenue Analysis Y32 E WA 247

For the year ended 31 December 2013

%ZK T—

=Ft+-A=1T—HLFE

Sold and Delivered

2ERXM
Revenue Area
ON HE
(RMB' million) ('000 sq.m.)
(ANRBEET (FFF7K)
Residential apartments FEURE 3,120.7 606.0
Commercial apartments [(EEJE/NCD 700.8 64.0
Retail shops and others 7 8 K Ho A 1,460.2 107.0
Low-density residential EEEEE 318.1 38.6
Total CEl 5,599.8 815.6

4 China Aoyuan Property Group Limited H [58 5 ] 3th 32 4 3 B 40 R A #]




Financial Highlights (continued)

Balance Sheet Summary EEEERBE

As at 31 December 2013 R—E—=F+=-A=+—~H”
(RMB' 000) (AERETT)

B ()

2013 2012

—E—=F —E——F

Total assets BERRE 29,931,506 20,813,041
Total liabilities BEREE 22,407,650 13,709,356
Total equity HEmBRE 7,523,856 7,103,685

Three Years Financial Highlights = F B i H=

Revenue & ¥ %8 Gross Profit 7|
RMB million ARBBHET RMB million ARKEEAET
6000 5,729 1800 1,789
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. Yearin Review
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Artists impressions for reference

Subsequent to the successful
issuance of USD125 million five-year
senior notes, the Group additionally
issued USD100 million of senior
notes due 2017 at a premium.
BEFHNETTFHEFM1.25E
ETEERE  AEEREBER
2017 FE|HIM 1 BETEBERIR -

The Group acquired the 51% equity
interest in Guangzhou Aoyuan
Kangwei Plaza of Guangzhou
Zengcheng Project.
REEWEEMNEMIERS EMNEE
FRBUE %) 51 % IRHE -

T = T R E
Artists impressions f'gﬁefergwce

The Group acquired two premium
residential and commercial projects—
Foshan Aoyuan Central Parkview,
Foshan city, Guangdong province
and Chongging Aoyuan Shuiyunjian,
Chongging city to strengthen the
strategic layout.
AEERGBEREEH LT —FHILRE
AE—RREET -EEREKER
MEBEREER - BICERAS -

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B8 [ 3 7 45 3] e 4 A B A 7]

Zhongshan Aoyuan “Ten Miles” was
officially launched for sale.
RILEE RS AEEAREE -

The Group acquired the equity
interest in Jiangmen Aoyuan Yicheng
International Plaza, a commercial and
residential project to optimize the
regional land reserve.

& EEFIPI R E & KB B 5 7
E18 B IHE - B L iR o



The “New Spanish Eco-friendly
Style” multi-story apartments of
Kunshan Aoyuan “Yinxiang Gaodi”
Phase Il were launched.
BILIRREROR&EHEL =8 [FEHT
HRERTm ] ZEFE o

Guangzhou Aoyuan Health Plaza
launched the final batch of flagship
apartments and street shops.
BMNRESEEBESBEHTmEETR
B AL TS

Year in Review (continued)

The shops of Block C of Phase | of
Shenyang Aoyuan Convention Plaza
and the high rise apartments of Block
A1 of Phase Il of Shenyang Aoyuan
The Metropolis were officially
launched.

BEREERES —HCEAHE
FREERR -_HAM RS EFERES
FAS o

A BE R [l g ()

The Phase | low-density residential
of Zhuzhou Aoyuan Shennong Health
City were sold out after launching,
recording subscription sales amount
of approximately RMB360 million on
that day.

WNRESEE AL EHERE

FE eE—=
R¥3687T -

ERABBRENOA

The Phase | single shops of
Jiangmen Aoyuan Waitan were
officially launched with subscription
sales amount of approximately
RMB170 million.

L PR E SNE & 55 IR 7 4 % K 7
B ERREBHEHARE.7(ET -

The first phase of Guangzhou Aoyuan
Spring Garden was sold out in a day
after launching, recording sales of
over RMB400 million.
BENEREESHFARERERAE
B RARYEEBARK4BEITHIHE
BEER -

The Phase | shops of Chongqging
Aoyuan The Metropolis were sold
out rapidly after launching, with
subscription sales amount totaling
approximately RMB130 million.
EFREFEFSEAREHER - AR
THEE  RBABHARK13E
IT o

Annual Report 2013 & —=4R4E)
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Artists impressions-for reference

The Group successfully obtained the
quality commercial and residential
project in Guangdong Province,
Yangjiang Aoyuan Central Parkview.
AEBEKNBISEREBEREIER
ZIRE AR o

The first batch of shops of
Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza
was officially launched, recording
excellent subscription sales amount
of approximately RMB600 million on
that day.

F& N B3 B35 T K b 5 HE 7S 4 AR K
& BRNGRBHEHAARKGET
BV EH AR o

Two blocks of garden apartment
products of Chongqging Aoyuan The
Metropolis “Shu Yuan” were sold
out in merely one hour after they
were first launched.
EERERER [ 220 ] F5 - B8
NEEHEMREREIEE

0 ‘ Year in Review (continued)

A E R = [l g (4F)

Artists impressions for reference

The Group obtained two parcels of
quality commercial and residential
land being Chongging Aoyuan City
Plaza and Guangzhou Luogang
Aoyuan Plaza.

RN E S S R B TR & EM
ZEERERESMAELEEERM -

The Group also acquired the
commercial and residential land of
Meizhou Aoyuan Peninsula View,
this was the first entrance in the
eastern Guangdong region, and
further enriched the land reserve of
Guangdong province.
RNEBTESEIINEEES—5RAR
T HRERERIDEE—PE
ERERA T o

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B8 [ 3 7 45 3] e 4 A B A 7]

The foundation laying ceremony of
Foshan Aoyuan Central Parkview
was held.

HLREAR —SRETEEER -

Phase Il of Guangzhou Aoyuan
Spring Garden was sold out within
one day again with subscription sales
amount of nearly RMB600 million on
its launch.

BMNEEERE _BHFARBRE B -
REFLARK6ET -



Kﬂﬁ-’

The first phase of Guangzhou Aoyuan
Beyond Era was launched, the
products were sold out in merely two
hours, recording subscription sales
amount of approximately RMB800
million on that day.

J%J‘\‘Ié’r@ﬁﬁ%ﬁéﬂﬁﬁaﬂ B2/
MEERHEE  EEARBELBOAR
HefET -

Year in Review (continued)

A BE R [l g ()

Phase | apartment of Guangzhou
Aoyuan City Plaza was officially
launched, with subscription sales
amount reached approximately
RMB800 million within two hours
after launching.
BIMNRBREW TR EHABEMBEAN
FE - ME N ARBREII ARKESE

JC °

The first phase of Zhuzhou Aoyuan
Plaza was launched and the
subscription sales amount was
approximately to RMB500 million,
created various single project
launching new records in Zhuzhou.
WNRERES SRR RESELD
ARG EIT - RIFTRMERFREZZIAE
FOER o

Aoyuan raised its 2013 full-year sales
target to RI\/IBS 5 billion.

REFAS _Z—=F2FHEAR
AE%%%no

Guangzhou Aoyuan Kangwei Plaza
was officially launched, eighty
percent of the number of units
initially launched was sold within two
hours after launching.

BN R E R ESEAFRE - €85
B2/NREHE BHE S\ o

Guangzhou Aoyuan Plaza welcomed
a dual celebration of its anniversary
and Christmas, breaking the guest
patronage record of 100,000 person
on Christmas Eve for Guangzhou
Aoyuan Plaza.

[ BB [ 35 0 SR F B AR EE R T
EEEM  T2RI0BARERES
AEMNBEESZRTS °

Annual Report 2013 & —=4F4E#
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2013 Honors and Awards
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1 Awarded as the “2013 China Top 100 Real Estate Developers” by 1
three research institutes, namely Enterprise Research Institute of the
Development Research Centre of the State Council, Institute of Real
Estate Studies of Tsinghua University and China Index Research Institute,
being ranked among the “Top 10 in Operational Efficiency”.

2 Awarded with “The 12th (2013) Top 20 Guangdong Property Enterprises 2

with High Credit” by the branches of four major commercial banks in
Guangdong Province, and People’'s Daily Online, the Group was one of
the four major real estate companies in Guangdong Province winning the
award for twelve consecutive years.

3 Awarded as “Guangdong Province Enterprise of Observing Contract and 3

Valuing Credit” by Guangzhou Administration for Industry and Commerce
and Guangzhou Enterprise Credit Promotion Association for fourteen
consecutive years.

4 The Group was awarded as an “Enterprise with Top Investment Value” in 4

The Tenth Chinese Blue Chips Real Estate Annual Conference 2013.

5 Awarded with the “Best Commercial Model and Innovation Enterprise” 5

jointly granted by China Commercial Real Estate Association (CCREA) and
Asia Commercial Real Estate Association (ACREA).

6 Awarded as “The 13th Golden Brick Award for Real Estate of China — 6

2013 Real Estate Company with Top Investment Value" by the Organizing
Committee of the Boao 21st Century Real Estate Forum.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ 58 [5] 3 7 45 5 e 4 A B A 7]
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2013 Honors and Awards (continued)

2013 458 ] BEIH (1)

Repeatedly awarded as “CAPITAL Outstanding Chinese Property
Developer Group” in The 8th CAPITAL Outstanding China Enterprise
Awards by CAPITAL in Hong Kong.

Awarded as “2013 Outstanding China Real Estate Developer” by
Economic Digest of Hong Kong, winning the award for four consecutive
years.

Awarded as the “Top 10 Southern China Real Estate Enterprises Brand
Value 2013" by three research institutes, namely Enterprise Research
Institute of the Development Research Centre of the State Council,
Institute of Real Estate Studies of Tsinghua University and China Index
Research Institute, the brand valuation was estimated as RMB2.369
billion, being a jump of the brand value by twofold.

Awarded with two awards of “The Company with Greatest Development
Value"” of “China Real Estate Listed Companies” and “Top 10 Hong Kong
Listed PRC Companies of Composite Value” in the 2013 annual summit
meeting of First Financial eDichanhui.

Awarded with the “Top 100 China Real Estate Enterprises with Social
Corporate Responsibilities (Guangdong)” by Xinhuanet, at the same time
the Group was awarded with the “2013 Best Marketing Team Award”
and “2013 Benchmark Real Estate Enterprise” by Sina.com.

10

1"

BREEEBCERMRTIE NEE AT BN D
ERHER [ EARFEGEHERRER | K -
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2013 5R2& - EETFREULIRE o
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Chairman’s Statement

B2 8

Guo Zi Wen

BPFEC

Chairman

*E

Dear Shareholders, B HIARR -

In 2013 the Chinese economy maintained stable and faster growth. —E-ZFHPEKERE T FERRRIERE - S
The property purchase restriction and mortgage restriction policies PREEPR B R EERIRIT - BORTIEAIEA
were strictly executed continuously in all regions. The austerity FIREAH] - BEHMEMISERETTR  217F
measures entered into a stable and transformation phase as a whole. ERAEMR G - ISR FERAE f'%ﬂ?*éf/ﬁﬁ
The real estate market in general operated steadily. The development FRAMELEET  2EEREEERARSE
of the whole sector moved on a favorable trend while the turnover HEREELEH -

and related development resources were further concentrated in
brand companies. There were substantial growth in construction and

transaction volume of commercial and residential properties.

12 China Aoyuan Property Group Limited H [ 58 i 1 7 45 [ i 0y A B 23 6



Chairman’s Statement (continued)

In 2013, the Group continuously adhered to the development model
of “rapid development and rapid sales”, insisted on the product
strategy of developing commercial and residential properties
in parallel, focused closely on the core targets of “achieving
sales targets, implementing cost control and further expansion,
fully increasing gross profit margin”. With the joint efforts of all
employees, in 2013, the Group achieved good contracted sales
results with total contracted sales of approximately RMB10.038
billion, or a substantial growth of approximately 91% as compared
with 2012, which marked a new chapter in the development history
of Aoyuan. At the same time the Group increased investment
for development, expanded the quality land bank, and obtained
successively 8 quality residential and commercial property projects
located in Guangzhou, Chongging, Foshan, Jiangmen, Yangjiang and
Meizhou, aggregating approximately 2.13 million sq.m. of GFA in total,
laying a solid foundation for Aoyuan to enter into a new phase of rapid

development.

In 2013, the Group actively expanded the financing channel. In
January, the Group further issued USD100 million senior notes due
2017 at a premium, to support speeding-up the development and
rapid growth of the Group. As for commercial property, the Group
laid excellent basic layout with six Aoyuan commercial complexes
in Guangzhou, namely Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza, Guangzhou
Aoyuan Beyond Era, Guangzhou Aoyuan Kangwei Plaza, Guangzhou
Luogang Aoyuan Plaza, Guangzhou Aoyuan Plaza, Guangzhou Aoyuan
Health Plaza, representing a strong engine for the development of the
commercial property business of the Group. As for investor relation
management, the Group insisted on maintaining a highly effective
relationship. During the year, the Group made contact with over 1,000
local and international institutional investors and analysts, actively
arranged and participated in various investor relations activities, and
met with over 200 institutional representatives. We had a positive
and effective two-way communication with shareholders, investors
and the media through professional and continuous investor relations

activities.

In 2014, the economy of China will have continuous growth. Major
economic policies will remain stable while real estate sector will

keep on a stable development trend. For property market, the

E ()

TE=F AEBEBERS [REME - RE
HE | FEES BRETEREREMRRE
EEESG [(RHE 2R - BRE - 2EER
EMERF | OTIERRK - EREETHRS
AT ZE-=FAEEERTRENEGNHEE
B TRARBEEREENARKE 100381
T B _E-_F2FRBERNI% - M
TREBRRSL EHH— B - ARASENAKRE
RENE  BARE LG TRIGUNE
N BB R OTPY - BT RGN 8 EEE
BEEE - Kl L REN 213 B F I KRR
EE RAEEBAFNRRERMETTREL

it o

TECHEASERGREMARE  —ARE
E s R EN T - F RN BETEL
- AEENRER - RBEBARERM TR
fBo AEBEREFEGOER T BIFHERM
B EREREEMNASABEGAE—EMSR
B RN - EMNREERER - ENREREE
% BMEERERS BMNEEES - EMNE
BEEEES  AYRBAEEMEZEGRHEEDN
3|  fREEMEESEHE - AEBESLHR
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ERMERE  BRRLBHEE BEES
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

FR ()

government proposed to restrain demand for investment and
speculation purposes, increase the supply of small- and medium-sized
housing and affordable housing etc, establish a long-term regulatory
mechanism and foster sustainable and healthy development of the
property market. Amid the current complex and changing market
environment, the Group will continue to keep a keen market sense

and take initiative to master opportunities in the market.

2014 is a new start of rapid development cycle for Aoyuan. The Group
will continue with the development strategy of “rapid development,
rapid sales” as well as the product strategy of “Commercial and
Residential Properties in Parallel”, by a stricter control over the
efficiency of all business processes to ensure the realization of the
sales, property delivery and profit margin target for the year 2014.
The Group will continue to the deepen and actively implement
management standardization and product standardization, we
will continue to strengthen cost management, further refine cost
management, enhance the efficiency and effectiveness of the

operation management of the Group.

The Group will continue to actively expand and optimize land bank,
continue to closely monitor market developments and adhere to
our strategy of focusing on land acquisition in areas with existing
presence where there are strong end-user demand and affected by
the macro-economic control policies by the central government to
a lesser extent, pay more attention to tier one and tier two cities,
make more efforts on the Transformation of the Three Olds and urban
renewal projects and actively expand financing channels to support
the rapid development and rapid expansion of the Group. We will
continue to flourish and develop our commercial property projects to
support the rapid development of the property business of the Group;
and we will actively explore development models such as developing
tourist property, cultural property and health property etc, search for

new path and new models for the Group's long term development.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B8 [ 3 7 45 3] e 4 A B A 7]
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

The Group will continue professional, effective management of
investor relations, ensure a high degree of corporate transparency,
develop a mutually beneficial long term relationship with capital
markets and consolidate Aoyuan’'s shareholders base. At the
same time, we will stress aligning brand promotion with market
capitalization, work hard to raise market capitalization and brand
value. We will improve customer services and property management,
enhance the management on customer service for systematization,
build up reputation and win brand loyalty to increase the brand value
of the Group.

At last, on behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to express
my sincere gratitude to all our shareholders, investors, business
partners, property owners and attentive media and general public for
their unfailing trust and support. At the same time, | would like to take
this opportunity to express my heartfelt gratitude to our directors,
management and staff for their hard work.

Guo Zi Wen
Chairman

17 March 2014
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M. Management Discussion and Analysis

B B i B Ay A

MANAGEMENT REPORT

1.

PRC property market

In 2013 the economy in China maintained a steady and faster
growth; as far as the real estate sector was concerned, amid
continuous positive macro environment conditions of stable
policies and gradual surge of the economy, the real estate
market had an upward trend as a whole, with both prices
and quantities surging, the property prices and transaction
conditions of the tier one and tier two cities were significantly
better those in the other cities; the sales volume and the
relevant development resources in the market further

concentrated in the brand companies.

The governing mindset of the current government in the
economic domain is the orientation based on market
mechanism. In the CPC Third Plenary Session the government
clearly expressed that “To allow the market mechanism play
a decisive role in resource allocation, to drive urbanization
with people as its core”, in the government working report
of the latest 12th Session of the NPC the 2014 economic
growth objective was more or less the same as those in
the past, the major economic policies were stable, this will
foster sustainable growth of the Chinese economy, and in
the property domain, it proposed to restrain demand for
investment and speculation purposes, increase the supply
of small and medium housing etc, these policies will in the
future foster sustainable and healthy development of the
property market, as the overall social environment remains
stable, urbanization is still an important opportunity for the
development of the property sector, we predict that the overall
trend of the property sector in 2014 will develop steadily,
the specific situations of different tiers of cities vary, it is
worthwhile to take note that amid the current complex and
changing market environment, we must keep a sharp sense
of the market and take initiative to master opportunities in the

market.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Business review

In 2013, the Group continued to insist on the development
model of “rapid development and rapid sales”, adhered to
the product strategy of developing commercial and residential
properties in parallel, focused closely on the core targets of
“achieve sales targets, implement cost control and further
expansion, fully increase gross profit margin level”, the total
contracts sales amount exceeded RMB10 billion, all indicators
were achieved, turning a new chapter in the development
history of Aoyuan, meanwhile the Group increased investment
and development, continued to improve the management
mechanism, actively attracted talents, this laid a solid

foundation for Aoyuan to enter a period of rapid development.

Active exploration, innovative marketing

During the year the Group insisted on a market-based
orientation, created outstanding contracted sales results, and
achieved approximately 118% of the 2013 upwardly-adjusted
target contracted sales of RMB8.5 billion, total contracted sales
amounted to approximately RMB10.038 billion, or a substantial
growth of approximately 91% compared with that of year
2012. Contracted sale areas for the year were approximately
1,072,000 sqg. m., or a year-on-year increase of approximately
27%; the average sales price was RMB9,364 per sgq. m., or a
year-on-year increase of approximately 50%, of which the sales
of commercial properties for year were approximately 45% of
the total sales amount.

All the work in the day to day marketing in the Group and
all project companies focused closely on properties’ sales
and delivery, we coordinated the layout in a scientific and
reasonable manner, strengthened the positioning of the
projects, market positioning and product positioning with
first priority and precision, grasped closely the dealing of
businesses, planning and design, project progress, work of
the demonstration venue, actively implemented the marketing
and promotion measures, at the time we paid attention to
the changes in the macro polices of the state and the local
market conditions, searched for opportunities to enter into the

markets, seized the first opportunities in the market.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

B W S A (A

In 2013 our sales contribution mainly came from the following
projects: Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza, Guangzhou Aoyuan
Spring Garden, Guangzhou Aoyuan Health Plaza, Chongging
Aoyuan The Metropolis, Guangzhou Aoyuan Beyond Era,
Shenyang Aoyuan Convention Plaza and Zhuzhou Aoyuan
Shennong Health Plaza etc.

Details of contracted sales breakdown of the Group by major
projects are as follows:

Project

BH

Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza FE N B B T Kb
Guangzhou Aoyuan Spring Garden EINREEE
Guangzhou Aoyuan Health Plaza EMNBREELES
Chongaing Aoyuan The Metropolis BB E BRR K
Guangzhou Aoyuan Beyond Era BN B E A
Shenyang Aoyuan Convention Plaza EEREERES
Zhuzhou Aoyuan Shennong Health Plaza RN B[ 1o 2 2 AR
Jiangmen Aoyuan Yicheng International Plaza  JTPIREZRERES
Zhongshan Aoyuan LR E

Shenyang Aoyuan The Metropolis 2 5 B8 [ B R 4k
Others EHAh

Total &t
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Contracted Sales Area
BHHE [

(RMB million) (sgq.m.)
(AR¥BET) (FFHK)
1,387 43,800

1,273 93,600

839 62,900

758 66,000

742 35,000

688 95,600

544 63,400

456 63,200

428 84,700

419 66,000

2,504 397,800

10,038 1,072,000




Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Continuous enhancement of operation efficiency

In 2013 Aoyuan fully implemented the strategies of
management standardization and product standardization
to protect the development of over RMB10 billion and the
entering into a high speed development path. During the
year, we set up separate departments such as the product
experience centre, engineering management centre etc,
emphasized the creation of quality demonstration venues
and production of quality products in project construction;
at the same time, we launched the”Five Measures”to
further strengthen cost control, implemented all the work for
standardizing costs and standardization. For the operation
management of the Group, we improved the operation
management efficiency, standardized the management
of all business segments, improved and fine tuned the
approval work flow, intensified the performance appraisal
mechanism, the performance appraisal system of the Group
further developed in a vertical direction, at the same time we
gradually implemented regional management new models to
protect the rapid, balanced and sustainable development of
the Group. Taking Chongging Aoyuan The Metropolis as an
example, it was only six months since it was acquired through
land auction on 17 December 2012 to its phase 1 being sold
out on its launch on 22 June 2013, the highly efficiency work
results fully demonstrates a perfect combination of “Aoyuan
speed”and “Aoyuan quality”. It demonstrated a quality
development and management level of the Group in respect
of standardized management, refined management and
workflow. Also the Group attracted several excellent talents in
the investment, commercial sectors etc to better implement
the provision of talents and arrangement of protection for the
strategies of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

B iy B

S hT (7))

Strong power driven by business

During the year, the Group achieved a better basic layout
in the commercial area, we implemented a series of bold
movements during the year: in June the Group released the
Aoyuan business development strategy, started the excellent
merchant database “Aoyuan Alliance”; in September we
officially set up Aoyuan Commercial group, set up a team
and attracted business, the operational management model
was fully upgraded. Four major systems were built in Aoyuan
Commercial: namely, organization structure, performance
appraisal system, operation management approval system,
remuneration management system of Aoyuan Commercial
group, in order to attract excellent talents in a number of
ways, strength the building up of a team, set up a four-tier
planning control system, actively deploy business attraction
and operational tasks for supporting the real estate business of
the Group, safeguarding the basis to be a powerful and large
commercial property developer; in November and December
we commenced a large series of marketing activities of
“Aoyuan Commercial, setting its sail ready for navigation”,
announced six commercial complexes in Guangzhou Aoyuan
City Plaza, Guangzhou Aoyuan Beyond Era, Guangzhou
Aoyuan Kangwei Plaza, Guangzhou Luogang Aoyuan Plaza,
Guangzhou Aoyuan Plaza, Guangzhou Aoyuan Health Plaza,
and launched the “Aoyuan dual engine investment plan”.
In addition, as the current benchmark project of Aoyuan
Commercial, the operating conditions of Guangzhou Aoyuan
Plaza was very satisfactory since its launching of one year,
the client satisfactory rate reached over 85%, Aoyuan Group
is marching towards a more grandiose commercial property

deployment layout.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Solid finance, expand financing channels

In 2013, the Group continued to maintain prudent financial
principles, strengthened the cash flow management, further
increased the pace of cash collection from sales, and
continued to expand the financing channels, and obtained
loans for project development, fixed assets business loans,
bank entrusted loans, bank guarantees financing, trust loans
and foreign bonds issuance etc, which provided protection for
the Group’s sound management and project development.
At the same time, the Group and project companies
strengthened cash flow management awareness, working
from sales plan layout , sales strategy, discount management,
the use of banking and financial tools and vendor selection,
practically work well in every aspect, and active collection
of sales proceeds, and manage the efficient use of and
effectiveness of funding.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

B W S A (A

Active expansion of land bank

In 2013, Aoyuan started to enter a period of rapid
development. With sound financial position, the Group
continued to expand with the optimization of land bank.
In respect of investment and acquisitions the Group had
excellent performance. The Group performed well in
investment acquisition, successively acquired a total of eight
high quality residential and commercial projects in Guangzhou,
Chongging, Foshan, Jiangmen, Yangjiang and Meizhou, which
added new area for development of approximately 2.13 million
sg.m. of GFA. Among them, three of the projects have already
commenced presales during the year with excellent sales
contribution to the Group. It is expected that the new projects
will further enhance the sales growth of 2014, further fulfilled
the development strategy of “rapid development and rapid
sales” of Aoyuan.

The Group adopts a strategy of maintaining quality land bank
at reasonable cost. On 31 December 2013, the Group had
land bank with GFA of approximately 11,180,000 sg.m. at
average cost of approximately RMB1,090 per sq.m GFA.
The lands were mainly located in Guangdong, Shenyang,
Hunan, Chongging and Guangxi, of which 49% was located
in Guangdong. The management believes that the existing
abundant land bank can meet the needs of the Group's project

development in the coming five to seven years.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Gradual surfacing of brand value

While there was a breakthrough in the results of the Group for
the year, our brand also received several awards, the brand
value of the Group assessed by three research institutes,
namely Enterprise Research Institute of the Development
Research Centre of the State Council, Institute of Real Estate
Studies of Tsinghua University and China Index Research
Institute amounted to RMB2.369 billion, doubling the brand
value of 2011, and which was the largest growth among all
property companies. The growth of brand value reflected the
enhancement of operation level and management level of
Aoyuan Group and the success of the dual development of

commercial and residential properties.

During the year, Aoyuan also had remarkable results in the
implementation of regime and health industry: Guangzhou
Nansha Aoyuan Health Hotel was awarded “2013 China
Classic Health Hotel” thanks to its unique thematic concept
and complete ancillary facilities; and Guangdong Aoyuan
Health Technology Company Limited and Hexian Memorial
Affiliated Hospital of Southern Medical University entered
into a cooperation agreement to jointly set up a modern post-
natal health rehabilitation center at Guangzhou Aoyuan Health
Plaza; entered into a “Guangdong International Medical
Centre"” cooperation agreement with Guangdong No.2
Provincial People's Hospital, in collaboration to provide high
end medical services, such achievements were the results of
the active implementation of the brand concept of “building
a healthy lifestyle” of Aoyuan, providing the possibility of our
health management to enter into communities, and becoming

another useful tool for the Group to enhance the brand value.
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LOOKING AHEAD

2014 is the second year of a new round of rapid development
cycle of Aoyuan, Aoyuan will continue to insist on the
development strategy of “rapid development, rapid sales”
and the product strategy of “Commercial and Residential
Properties in Parallel”; enhance the control efficiency of
all phases, ensure the achievement of sales, delivery of
properties, profit margin target of 2014, and lay a solid
foundation for future development. In terms of management,

we will emphasize the following work:

Enhancement of the “work efficiency of execution”. Aoyuan
currently has built up work flow of standardization of project
development, which involves all business segments, such
as positioning, design, tendering and construction etc. While
all business units have to strictly execute, they also have to
pay attention to regions , authority limits, changes in division
of labour and make the relevant appropriate adjustment to
the varying prioritization of leading targets of the operation
of projects, and they need to enhance the “work efficiency
of execution”, and eventually reflect the results of execution
by means of the enhancement of result targets such as sales
results, profits, receipt of proceeds etc.

Active innovation, in a keener and keener and fast changing
era, to plant the “innovation” idea and seed into the
development work flow of each business segment (marketing
model, product design, positioning, tender management,
financing methods etc), to provide important assistance for the
continuous rapid development of the companies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Continuing to insist on the deepening and active
implementation of management standardization and product
standardization, continue to enhance and innovate the
capacities of all critical phases such as product positioning,
product design, marketing strategies, business operation etc,
enhance the efficiency and effectiveness of the operation of
the Group, stress on the formation of the best management

implementation of Aoyuan.

In the area of investment, we will continue to keep abreast
of market conditions, increase attention to first and second-
tier cities, striving for obtaining projects in the tier one cities
and their peripheral areas, developing new projects in the
peripheral areas of regions where there are existing projects,
strengthening the exploration of urban renewal projects, and
in particular emphasizing the improvement of investment
quality. At the same, we will actively explore the development
models such as commercial property, tourist property, cultural
property and health property etc, explore new methods to
obtain land, search for new path and seek new models for the

long term development of the Group.

Further improvement of the performance management
system and the related ancillary systems, correctly guiding
the Group and project companies to view from the strategic
direction of the Group, upholding the core functional
missions, specifying the completion milestone of critical
appraisal indicators, channeling and mobilizing the proactive
attitude, capacity to take action of leaders at all levels of the
Group, achieving the hierarchical building up talent nurturing,
satisfying the requirements of the gradually increasing rapid

development of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

B W S A (A

On top of cooperating with the development of commercial
business, Commercial group will further improve and system
of rules and regulations, strengthen the building up of team
and talent nurturing, cultivate a number of property developers
with win-win cooperation with Aoyuan, making Commercial

group larger and more influential.

Highly consolidating brand promotion and management,
solidifying the foundation of brand positioning in the areas
such as properties, design, products etc, at the same stressing
on integrating brand promotion, working hard to raise market
capitalization, enhancing brand value. We will strengthen
client services and property management, enhance the client
service management level, formation of standardized and
institutionalized service management system, cultivate the
reputation to loyalty of the Aoyuan brand, to lay foundation for
the enhancement of the brand value of the Group to facilitate

property sales and delivery of properties.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Operating Results

The revenue is primarily generated from two business segments:
property development and other revenue such as hotel operation.
In 2013, the Group's total revenue was RMB5,729.3 million,
representing an increase of RMB1,786.1 million or 45.3% over
RMB3,943.2 million in 2012. Property development revenue, other
revenue such as hotel operation and property investment revenue
accounted for 97.7%, 1.4% and 0.9% respectively.

In 2013, the Group's revenue generated from property development
amounted to RMB5,599.8 million, representing an increase of
RMB1,734.7 million or 44.9% over RMB3,865.1 million in 2012.
The GFA of delivered properties increased by 67.5% to 815,614
sg.m. from 486,931 sq.m. in 2012, while the average selling price
decreased by 13.5% to RMBG6,866 per square meter from RMB7,938
per square meter in 2012. This was mainly attributable to a lower
proportion of the revenue in 2013 of 5.7% was derived from a
relative high average selling price of low-density residential projects
against 13.9% in 2012. Overall, the revenue generated from property
development of Guangzhou Aoyuan Health Plaza (commercial
apartment and retail shops), Shenyang Aoyuan The Metropolis
(residential apartment, retail shops and low-density residential
integrated project), Zhongshan Aoyuan (residential apartment, retail
shops and low-density residential integrated project) and Chongging
Aoyuan Jinyu (residential apartment and retail shops project) were the
main source of property development revenue for the Group, with
sales revenue amounting to RMB3,083.1 million in total. The revenue
generated from property development attributable to Guangzhou,
Shenyang, Zhongshan, Chongging and other cities accounted for
31%, 24%, 17%, 11% and 17% respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

B W S A (A

Breakdown of property development revenue in 2013 by product

type:

Product
Em

Residential apartments FEELE

Commercial apartments EEIE/NC
Retail shops and others 72 8 Ko oA
Low-density residential BEEEFE
Total @5t

Gross Profit and Margin

In 2013, the gross profit of the Group was RMB1,758.6 million,
representing an increase of 48.2% over RMB1,186.5 million in 2012.
Though the average selling price for the revenue recognised from
property development decreased to RMB6,866 per square meter
from RMB7,938 per square meter in 2012, the gross margin slightly
increased to 30.7%. The gross margin of the Group which remained
stable and increased slightly was attributable to the success of
the Group's stringent cost control and increased efforts in central

procurement.

Other Income and Gains

In 2013, the other income and gains of the Group was RMB115.0
million, representing an increase of 12.6% over RMB102.1 million
in 2012. Other income mainly included exchange gain of RMB38.0
million, interest income of RMB38.4 million, government subsidy of
RMB25.0 million and other income of RMB13.6 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Gain on Disposal of a Joint Venture

In 2012, the Group recorded gain on disposal of a joint venture
amounted to RMB858.2 million, which was the gain from disposing
Century Profit Zone Investments Limited (Beijing Project). There was

no such gain and loss in 2013.

Selling and Administrative Expenses

In 2013, total selling and distribution expenses of the Group
were RMB319.2 million, representing an increase of 34.9% from
RMB236.7 million in 2012, which is attributable to the increase in
the corresponding staff cost owing to the significant increase in
total contracted sales and delivery of properties. Total administrative
expenses decreased by 5.1% from RMB369.8 million in 2012 to
RMB350.9 million, mainly due to the Group’s adoption of strict
control in respect of administrative expenses budget in 2013. At the
same time, the management focused on optimization of production
process, and enhanced the utilization of human resources and other

resources.

Taxation

Income tax expense comprised of PRC enterprise income tax, land
appreciation tax and deferred taxation. The effective tax rate of 40.5%
is higher than the standard PRC enterprise income tax rate of 25%,
primarily due to land appreciation tax of approximately RMB192.7

million.

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company

In 2013, profit attributable to owners of the Company was RMB735.8
million (2012: RMB930.3 million). Profit attributable to owners of the
Company decreased mainly due to disposal of a joint venture in 2012,
and recorded gain before tax amounted to RMB858.2 million, while in

2013 there was no such non-recurring income.

B ) S AT (7))

HE—BegtXzWE

SER-CF ARENHE-RMAELEINK
HRARKES2EET  HAKEEEEHY
RIHEREERAR(LFER) MRS - —F
—SFmILEE -

HERITHAX

ZE = AEEEERDIEKAEER
ARE3I92BE L BT ——F 2 ARKE
236.7BE T EF34.9%  #HE KoK AR
FAFZRENAEERFESRBEERURRZ
BIRARTEAE A - BEMATKAR LT -
THAXBREAARKEI0IEETL BT
—ZF 2 AR¥3698EHEITL TMH51% £
DRANAEBR T =ZFYUTKRAXESE
EARIES - B - EEEFENBLIIER
B IEEANERAREMEROFERE

BB

ST BERBECEMEH - LHISER
MEERTE - BB EA405% @ sRFED
ERERIZER K 25% » TERFA I THIEE
RAARBI192788T -

RARHEE ABGER

ZE-=F  ARREBAREENABARE
7B8BEEIT(ZT—=F : ARM303E8
TL) c NERRNBHEE AERE SR B TRE
EZRAN-ZT——FHET —HEELHE B
BHEATKFARKES82BET —T—=4
FI R IR B s o

Annual Report 2013 & —=4R4E)

29



30

Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

B W S A (A

Core net profit for the year 2013 was RMB672.9 million, representing
a significant increase of 344.0% compared with the same period of

2012. Details of core net profit are as follows.

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year

Adjustments

Less: Change in fair value of investment
properties, net of tax

Less: Gain on disposal of a joint venture,
net of tax

Less: Gain on disposal of a subsidiary,

net of tax

Core net profit

Financial Position

As at 31 December 2013, the Group’s total assets amounted to
RMB29,931.5 million (as at 31 December 2012: RMB20,813.0 million)
and total liabilities were RMB22,407.7 million (as at 31 December

2012: RMB13,709.4 million).

Current ratio was 1.8 as at 31 December 2013 (as at 31 December

2012: 1.7).

Financial Resources and Liquidity

In 2013, the Group's sources of fund primarily included income

generated from business operations, cash from bank borrowings

business operations and investment and development of projects.
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and issuance of senior notes in US dollar, which were used in our BTES
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

The Group expects that income generated from business operations
and borrowings will continue to be the main source of funds in
the coming year. Therefore, the Group will continue to strengthen
cash flow management, improve the efficiency of capital returns
of projects and strictly control the cost and various expenses.
In addition, the Group will continue to explore opportunities of
cooperation with foreign and domestic investors to provide another
source of funding for the expansion of projects and business
development.

Cash Position

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had cash and bank deposits
of approximately RMB2,812.3 million (as at 31 December 2012:
RMB2,381.0 million).

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had restricted bank deposits
of approximately RMB1,899.2 million (as at 31 December 2012:
RMB762.5 million). Among which, deposits of RMB240.5 million
were only for obtaining bank loans while other deposits were only for

payments to construction contractors.

As at 31 December 2013, cash, bank deposits and restricted bank
deposits of the Group mentioned above totaled RMB4,711.6 million,
of which 98.8% was denominated in Renminbi and 1.2% was

denominated in other currencies (mainly HK dollar).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

B W S A (A

Borrowings, Senior Notes and Net Gearing Ratio

Borrowings and Senior Notes

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had bank and other borrowings
of approximately RMB8,153.3 million (as at 31 December 2012:
RMB4,172.6 million) and senior notes of approximately RMB1,370.6
million (as at 31 December 2012: RMB750.4 million) as follows:

Repayment period BUREH

Within one year 1 AR

More than one year, but not exceeding two years 154 _HBRHBE2F
More than two years, but not exceeding five years 24 A H{BRFBIB5F
More than five years BB F

The majority of bank borrowings of the Group are floating-rate
borrowings, of which interest rates are subject to negotiation on
annual basis, thus exposing the Group to fair value interest rate risk.
The effective interest rate on bank and other borrowings in 2013 was
10.8% per annum, which was higher than 9.5% in 2012. The Group
has implemented certain interest rate management policies which
mainly included, among others, close monitoring of interest rate
movements and replacing and entering into new banking facilities

when good pricing opportunities arise.

In January 2013, the Group successfully issued additional offshore
US$100,000,000 5-year senior notes, which was for general
corporate purposes and to fund the Group's existing and new

projects.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

In January 2014, the Group successfully issued offshore
US$300,000,000 5-year senior notes, which was for refinancing

purposes and for the Group's general corporate purposes.

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had banking facilities of
approximately RMB14,294.8 million (as at 31 December 2012:
RMB7,408.0 million) for short-term and long-term bank loans, of
which approximately RMB2,750.0 million (as at 31 December 2012:
RMB503.0 million) were unutilized.

Net Gearing Ratio

Net gearing ratio is measured by the net borrowings (total amount of
borrowings and senior notes net of cash and cash equivalents and
restricted bank deposits) over the total equity. As at 31 December
2013, the Group’'s net gearing ratio was 64.0%. The Group has
implemented certain loan management policies, which mainly include
close monitoring of the gearing ratio and any changes in net gearing
ratio, and optimization of the bank credit structure when good pricing

opportunities arise.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had the following contingent
liabilities relating to guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities
provided by banks to purchasers amounting to approximately
RMB6,432.6 million (as at 31 December 2012: RMB3,676.5 million).

The contingent liabilities represented the guarantees in respect of
mortgage facilities granted by certain banks relating to the mortgage
loans arranged for certain purchasers of the Group's properties.
Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default in mortgage
payments by these purchasers, the Group is liable to the repayment
of outstanding mortgage principals together with accrued interest
and penalty owed to the banks by defaulted purchasers, and the
Group is entitled to take over the legal title and possession of the
related properties. The amounts as at 31 December 2013 were
to be discharged upon the earlier of: (i) issuance of the real estate
ownership certificate; and (ii) the satisfaction of mortgaged loan by

the purchasers of properties.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

B W S A (A

In 2007, a subsidiary of the Group (the “Subsidiary”) entered into
an agreement with two independent third parties (the “Vendors”)
for a potential acquisition of a company (the “Target”). However,
this acquisition agreement was subsequently terminated by the
Subsidiary because of the uncertainty about the validity of the
Vendors' shareholding in the Target. The Vendors then claimed
against the Subsidiary for compensation of RMB61,096,000. The
case is in legal proceeding. No provision has been provided for this
case, however, because in the opinion of the executive directors
of the Group and the Group’s legal counsel, the likelihood that the
subsidiary is required to pay the compensation is remote.

Commitments

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had construction cost and
land payments contracted but not provided for of approximately
RMB8,280.8 million (as at 31 December 2012: RMB5,722.5 million).
The Group expects to fund these commitments principally from sale

proceeds of the properties, bank borrowings and senior notes.

Foreign Currency Risks

Most of the Group’s revenues and operating costs were denominated
in Renminbi. Except for the bank deposits denominated in foreign
currencies, senior notes denominated in US dollar and bank loans
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, the Group's operating cash flow
or liquidity is not directly subject to any other material exchange
rate fluctuations. The Group did not enter into any foreign exchange

hedging arrangements as at 31 December 2013.

Pledge of Assets
As at 31 December 2013, the Group pledged its properties for

sales, property, plant and equipment, investment properties and
restricted bank deposit of approximately RMB3,395.8 million (as at
31 December 2012: RMB3,299.8 million) to various banks to secure
project loans and general banking facilities granted to the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Events After the Reporting Period

(a)

On 8 January 2014, the Company entered into an agreement
to acquire a parcel of land situated in Foshan, the PRC, at a
consideration of RMB344,500,000 through public auction. The
Company has paid half of the consideration and remaining
balance of RMB172,250,000 is required to pay by the end of
July 2014. The land in Foshan is designated for commercial and

residential properties for sale.

On 17 January 2014, the Company issued additional senior
notes (the “2014 Notes"”) in an aggregate principal amount
of US$300,000,000 (equivalent to RMB1,830,240,000) carry
interest of 11.25% per annum and due in 2019. The issue price
is 99.254% of the principal amount of the 2014 Notes. Details
of terms and conditions are set in at the announcement issued
by the Company on 10 January 2014. Up to the date of these
consolidated financial statements were authorised for issuance,
the net proceeds of approximately US$290,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB1,771,407,000) from the issuance of the 2014 Notes
have been fully received.

On 15 January 2014, the Company granted share options to 2
employees of the Company to subscribe for a total of 9,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the Company with exercise
price of HK$1.61 per share under the Scheme. Details of the
share options granted are set out at the announcement issued
by the Company on 15 January 2014. The management of
the Company is in the process for the assessment of fair
value of share options at the date grant up to the date these

consolidated financial statements were authorised for issuance.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

B W S A (A

Employees and Remuneration

As at 31 December 2013, the Group employed a total of 2,569
employees. In order to encourage and retain excellent staff, the
Group has adopted a performance based rewarding system since
September 2007 to motivate its staff and such system was reviewed
on a regular basis. As at 31 December 2013, share options in respect
of a total of 4,568,000 shares of the Company were granted to certain
directors. In addition to a basic salary, year-end bonuses will be
offered to those staff with outstanding performance. In accordance
with the relevant national and local labour laws and regulations,
the Group is required to pay employees social insurance and other
insurance benefits. The Group believes the salaries and benefits that
the employees receive are competitive in comparison with market

rates.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

H
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Back row from left: Mr. Tsui King Fai, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky, Mr. Hu Jiang
Front row from left: Ms. Xin Zhu, Mr. Guo Zi Ning, Mr. Guo Zi Wen, Mr. Yang Zhong
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»  Directors and Senior Management Profile (continued)
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EFLEREEANBR (5)

Executive Directors

HITES

Guo Zi Wen, Chairman

Guo Zi Wen, aged 49, is the founder of the Group, and holds a Master's degree
in Business Administration. He is an executive Director and the chairman. Mr.
Guo is mainly responsible for the formulation of development strategies of the
Company, as well as giving guidance to the Group’s project planning, financing
and investment.

In 2001, Mr. Guo was honored by national main stream media and China Real
Estate Association as one of the Top 10 Persons in Real Estate Industry. In
2004, Mr. Guo received the National Real Estate Special Contribution Award
and the China Real Estate Theory Research Contribution Award and was named
one of the Top 10 Outstanding Real Estate Entrepreneurs in the PRC in the
same year. In 2008, Mr. Guo was awarded as one of the Top 10 Outstanding
Entrepreneurs of the Past Three Decades in China Real Estate and was
recognized as one of the Top 30 Leaders in the Residential Construction of
Guangdong. In 2010, Mr. Guo was named “Outstanding Leader” in the event
“Leaders of Real Estate of Guangdong in Ten Golden Years” and in 2011, Mr.
Guo was named “CAPITAL Leader of Excellence 2011". Except for being a
Director of the Company, Mr. Guo has not held any directorship in other listed
public companies during the past three years. Mr. Guo is the brother of Mr. Guo
Zi Ning.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile (continued) =

HREMARAEHA B ()

Executive Directors (continued)

HITEE (F)

Guo Zi Ning, Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Guo Zi Ning, aged 52, is an executive Director, a vice chairman and the chief
executive officer. He is also a director of the subsidiaries of the Group, and
holds a Master’'s Degree in Business Administration. He joined the Group in
1998, now primarily responsible for administration and human resources, legal
affairs, investment and business expansion and leads the overall management
of the Group. Except for being a Director of the Company, Mr. Guo has not held
any directorship in other listed public companies during the past three years.
Mr. Guo is the brother of Mr. Guo Zi Wen.
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» | Directors and Senior Management Profile (continued)

EFLEREHABRY (5)

40

Executive Directors (continued)

WITES (&)

Yang Zhong, Chief Operating Officer

Yang Zhong, aged 45, is an executive Director and chief operating officer of
the Company. He joined our Group in September 2009, and was appointed
as executive Director on 20 January 2011. He has the qualification of a PRC
registered real estate appraiser and is a registered supervision engineer with
extensive, comprehensive and professional management experience in the
real estate industry in the PRC. Mr. Yang worked in two reputable property
developers prior to joining the Group in September 2009 and since then, he has
been primarily responsible for the overall management of the operations of the
Group. Except for being a director of the Company, Mr. Yang has not held any
directorship in any other listed public companies during the past three years.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile (continued)

EFLEREHABR (5)

Executive Directors (continued)

WITES (&)

Xin Zhu, Executive Vice President

Xin Zhu, aged 45, is an executive Director and an executive vice president.
She joined our Company in July 2008 and has been appointed as an executive
Director since 25 September 2009. Ms. Xin is primarily responsible for
overseeing the onshore financing, accounting and internal audit. She has
over 20 years of experience in accounting, auditing and corporate finance
management. She is a member of The Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and has become a member of CPA Australia in January 2010.
She also holds a Master’'s Degree in Business Administration in International
Management from The International College of Auckland Institute of Studies.
Except for being a Director of the Company, Ms. Xin has not held any
directorship in any other listed public companies during the past three years.
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»  Directors and Senior Management Profile (continued)

EFLEREHABRY (5)

42

Non-executive Directors

FHTES

Paul Steven Wolansky

Paul Steven Wolansky, aged 58, was appointed as a non-executive Director and
a vice chairman from 3 April 2007 to 20 January 2011. On 24 February 2011, Mr.
Wolansky was re-designated as the Group's non-executive Director. He holds a
Bachelor of Arts degree from Amherst College and a Juris Doctor degree from
Harvard Law School. Mr. Wolansky has over 20 years of experience in fund
management and direct investment. He is the chairman and the chief executive
officer of New China Investment Management Inc., the investment manager
of The Cathay Investment Fund, Ltd., and New China Capital Management
L.P., the investment manager of Cathay Capital Holdings, L.P. and Cathay
Capital Holdings Il L.P.. He is also the chairman and CEO of New China Capital
Management Corp., the investment manager of Cathay Capital holdings Ill,
L.P. The Cathay partnerships are private equity investment funds formed to
make direct investments in companies operating in China whereas Cathay Sino
Property Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company, is wholly owned
by Cathay Capital Holdings, L.P. Mr. Wolansky was until August 2012, a non-
executive director of Centron Telecom International Holding Limited which is
listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

R RMSE

REB e BEHHE A+ N\ AT EtFMNA=RE=Z——F—A=+H
BEEAENTEERE TR - BRHEEER T ——F-A-F+HHER
ATAEEMIENTES - FHEWRIMTSRBER 2 XELT B0 - WERH
ABERFZEHITEN - ERFTETAERNESEBREEREFBEA -1
F4&E + £ New China Capital Investment Management Inc. B X X E R &%
#77TE © AThe Cathay Investment Fund, Limited B)#% & 32 - #£ New China
Capital Management L.P. EEXFRE/FHNITE & Cathay Capital Holdings,
L.P. # Cathay Capital Holdings II, L.P. fy#% & 432 o LA K7 New China Capital
Management Corp. EET EE R EHE 1T E + A Cathay Capital Holdings 1l
L.P. 8% & 432 - The Cathay partnerships AFLEEE - EEREREHRBFIES
#JA 7] » 1 Cathay Sino Property Limited (AA &) —42 = BIEH ) B H Cathay
Capital Holdings, L.P.2&##H - AE2=-Z——F/)\A - EBMNELCEELES
BZAER LM AR EZ RBERERERERARNIENITES -

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited H [58 5 ] 3th 32 4 3 B 40 R A #]



Directors and Senior Management Profile (continued)
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Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

BMFHITES (&)

Tsui King Fai

Tsui King Fai, aged 64, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
on 13 September 2007. Mr. Tsui holds a Master of Science in Accountancy
degree and a Bachelor of Business Administration degree with first class
honours awarded by the University of Houston. He is a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a member of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in Australia and a member of the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. He has over 30 years of extensive experience
in accounting, finance and investment management, particularly in investments
in Mainland China. Mr. Tsui is a director and senior consultant of a registered
financial services company in Hong Kong. He had worked for two of the “Big
Four” audit firms in Hong Kong and the United States of America and served
in various public listed companies in Hong Kong in a senior capacity. Currently,

Mr. Tsui is an independent non-executive director of Lippo Limited, Lippo China
Resources Limited, Hongkong Chinese Limited, Vinda International Holdings
Limited and Newton Resources Limited, all listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.
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»  Directors and Senior Management Profile (continued)

EFLEREHABRY (5)

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

BMFHITES (&)

Cheung Kwok Keung

Mr. Cheung, aged 47, was appointed as an independent non-executive director
on 20 January 2011. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Cheung has over 20 years of experience
in auditing, accounting and financial management. Mr. Cheung is the chief
financial officer and company secretary of Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing
Limited and he is also an independent non-executive director of Sheng Yuan
Holdings Limited, both of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.
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Hu Jiang

Hu Jiang, aged 57, was appointed as an independent non-executive director
on 28 February 2014. He is the principal of Beijing Normal University (Zhuhai)
College of Real Estate since November 2010. Mr. Hu has over 20 years of
teaching and research experience in the fields of geography and real estate. He
is a senior economist and has the qualification of a PRC registered real estate
appraiser. He is also a member of China Real Estate Valuers Association. Mr. Hu
holds a degree in science from the Beijing Normal University. Mr. Hu had been a
vice president of the Company from July 2007 to May 2008. Except for being a
director of the Company, Mr. Hu has not held any directorship in any other listed
public companies during the past three years.

[2:pan

I Attt RZE—NF A+ \BEZEABUINTEST B
E-ZF+-ARAILEMBRER TSR IABEZR MK o tAEERIDIE
B EHEREE G 20 FOH LR - RA— B =R B & AAF M4 E
T BB - X ENMAPE LA BR SRS - SALERFFIL R
AREBORBHEELELG - G2+ F+HARE_ZZN\FH A ILHME - Hr4%
BERRAWEIEE - RTERRREEESIN HEERBE=ZFRNIRE
BEEM AR EEBA -

44 China Aoyuan Property Group Limited H [t 5 [ b 7 45 B R4 A PR A 7]



Directors and Senior Management Profile (continued)

Senior Management

Zhong Ping

Zhong Ping, aged 44, is the chief financial officer, director of Finance
Centre and director of personnel assessment centre. She obtained
a Master Degree of Accountancy from Jinan University and is a
certified tax advisor and certified accountant. She joined the Group in
August 2003 and in now mainly responsible for assisting executive
vice president Ms. Xin Zhu in the management duties of Finance
Centre, consolidation of Group financial statements, liaising with

external auditors and bond issuance in Hong Kong.

Chan Ka Yeung Jacky

Chan Ka Yeung Jacky, aged 34, is a vice president and the head
of corporate finance and investor relations of the Company. He
graduated from the University of lllinois at Urbana-Champaign in
the United States of America with Bachelor's degree in economics.
He has extensive experience in financial services and investor
relations. He had previously been the chief investment officer and
investor relations director of Zhong An Real Estate Limited and
the deputy head and responsible officer of the capital markets
department of Agile Property Holdings Limited. He first joined
the Group in October 2013 and is now mainly responsible for the
operation and management of Hong Kong office, corporate finance,
investor relations, as well as other capital markets and market value

management related affairs of the Group.

Wang Shu Yu

Wang Shu Yu, aged 40, a vice president and president of Guangzhou
district company. She graduated from the Hunan University,
possessing extensive experiences in marketing planning, operational
management and promotion. She had served as an assistant to
the general manager and a general manager in renowned property
companies such as Forte Land and Dalian \Wanda, etc. She joined the
Group in August 2010, and is now mainly responsible for assisting
chief executive officer Mr. Guo Zi Ning in managing the Hotel
Management Centre and Property Management company of the
Group. She is also responsible for assisting chief operating officer
Mr. Yang Zhong in the management duties of the Marketing Planning
Centre and Asset Management company of the Group.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile (continued)

HREMARAE A B ()

Senior Management (continued)

Xiao Yi

Xiao Yi, aged 42, a vice president and the president of the Xinan
district company. He graduated from the Chongging Institute of
Architecture and Civil Engineering, possessing extensive experiences
in engineering, cost and design management. He had served as a
deputy general manager, general manager of engineering in Winsan
(Shanghai) Industrial Corporation and Chongging Longfor Properties,
etc. He joined the Group in June 2009 and is now mainly responsible
for the operation and management of the Xinan district company and

the business development of the area.

Lu Zhen Qiu

Lu Zhen Qiu, aged 37, an assistant to president and director of
engineering management centre. He obtained a Master Degree
in Structural Engineering from the University of Manchester,
England and had served in well-known real estate companies such
as Shenzhen China Overseas Property Co., Ltd.. He joined the
Group in March 2010 and is now mainly responsible for assisting
chief operating officer Mr. Yang Zhong in the duties of design
management, cost control and engineering management of the

Group.

Gu Hai Tao

Gu Hai Tao, aged 38, an assistant to president and executive
president of Guangzhou district company. He obtained a Master
Degree in Business Administration from the Hong Kong Baptist
University, possessing extensive experiences in marketing planning
and promotion. He had served in the Heung Kong Group and Huayue
Real Estate of Poly Property. He joined the Group in February 2010
and is now mainly responsible for the operation and management of

the Han Luo sub-district company.

Li Yuan Fei

Li Yuan Fei, aged 44, an assistant to president and general manager
of the Shenyang sub-district company. He graduated from the
Southeast University and had served in well-known companies such
as China Railway Construction and Engineering Group. He joined
the Group in September 2007 and is now mainly responsible for the
operation and management of the Shenyang sub-district company
and the business development of the area.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile (continued)

Senior Management (continued)

Zhou Xian Jun

Zhou Xian Jun, aged 47, an assistant to president and director of
investment developing centre and legal department respectively. He
graduated from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law. He had
previously been worked in Guangdong Yonghua Law Firm, Global
Kingway Law Firm and Guangdong Baike Law Firm. He joined the
Group in December 2010, and is now mainly responsible for assisting
chief executive officer Mr Guo Zi Ning in managing the investment

developing centre and legal department.

Miao Si Hua

Miao Si Hua, aged 49, is an assistant to president and the president of
the Aoyuan Commercial group. He graduated from Tongji University
with a Bachelor’'s degree in heat ventilating and air conditioning
engineering (AR ELZEH TIEE %) of civil engineering. He has
extensive experience in engineering. He had previously worked
as the general manager of Zhongtian Urban Development Group
Commercial company and the responsible officer of Powerlong
Commercial group, Henan District and the general manager of

Zhengzhou Powerlong. He first joined the Group in September 2013.

Ho Kar Yan Joyce
Ho Kar Yan Joyce, aged 36, is the company secretary. She graduated
from McGill University in Canada with a Bachelor's Degree in
Commerce. She is a Chartered Financial Analyst and a member of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She first joined
the Group in July 2008.
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Land Bank
+ M fif A

Guangdong Province

1. Guangzhou Nanguo Aoyuan Panyu, Guangzhou Integrated residential community 149.5
2. Guangzhou Aoyuan Panyu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 222
8 Guangzhou Panyu Aoyuan Panyu, Guangzhou Integrated residential community 52.5
4. Guangzhou Guo Ao

Investment Development Centre Nansha, Guangzhou Hotel, commercial properties, office and high-rise apartments 51.5
3. Guangzhou Nansha Aoyuan Nansha, Guangzhou Integrated residential community 48.0
6. Guangzhou Aoyuan Hai Jing Cheng Nansha, Guangzhou Commercial properties, office and high-rise apartments 74.2
7. Guangzhou Aoyuan Plaza Panyu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 158.0
8. Guangzhou Aoyuan Health Plaza Panyu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 483
9. Guangzhou Aoyuan Beyond Era Panyu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 1338
10.  Guangzhou Aoyuan International Center Panyu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 248.1
11. Guangzhou Aoyuan Spring Garden Luogang, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 124.2
12. Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza Panyu, Guangzhou Hotel, office, commercial properties 251.8
13. Guangzhou Aoyuan Kangwei Plaza Zengcheng, Guangzhou  Hotel, high-rise apartments, office and commercial properties 3794
14.  Guangzhou Luogang Aoyuan Plaza Luogang, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 300.0
15. Fogang Aoyuan Qingyuan, Guangdong Low-density residential, commercial properties 1,272.4
16. Qingyuan Aoyuan Qingyuan, Guangdong Low-density residential, commercial properties 149.8
17. Jiangmen Aoyuan Jiangmen, Guangdong Integrated residential community 1.8
18. Jiangmen Aoyuan Waitan Jiangmen, Guangdong High-rise apartments, commercial properties 181.5
19.  Jiangmen Aoyuan Yicheng International ~ Jiangmen, Guangdong High-rise apartments, commercial properties 207.3

Plaza
20.  Zhongshan Aoyuan Zhongshan, Guangdong  Integrated residential community 402.0
21. Zhongshan Aoyuan Jinyu Zhongshan, Guangdong  High-rise apartments, commercial properties 162.8
22. Nanhai Aoyuan Foshan, Guangdong High-rise apartments, commercial properties 182.4
23. Foshan Aoyuan Central Parkview Foshan, Guangdong High-rise apartments, commercial properties 285.6
24, Yangjiang Aoyuan Cental Parkview Yangjiang, Guangdong Integrated residential community 362.1
25, Meizhou Aoyuan Peninsula View Meizhou, Guangdong Integrated residential community 2595
26.  Jiangxi Aoyuan Ganzhou, Jiangxi Integrated residential community 513.5
27. Yulin Aoyuan Yulin, Guangxi Integrated residential community 3984
28. Yulin Aoyuan City of Health Yulin, Guangxi Integrated residential community 867.1
29.  Chongging Aoyuan City of Health Chongaing High-rise apartments, commercial properties 711
30. Chongging Aoyuan Jinyu Chongging High-rise apartments, commercial properties 275
31.  Chongging Aoyuan The Metropolis Chongaing High-rise apartments, commercial properties 2711
32.  Chongging Aoyuan Shuiyunjian Chongaing High-rise apartments, commercial properties 125.1

High-rise apartments, commercial properties 313.5

Chongging Aoyuan City Plaza Chongging

Shenyang

Shenyang, Liaoning Integrated residential community 1,207.6

776.8

34, Shenyang Aoyuan The Metropolis
36. Shenyang Aoyuan Convention Plaza Shenyang, Liaoning

Jiangsu Province

Integrated residential community

36. Kunshan Aoyuan Suzhou, Jiangsu High-rise apartments, commercial properties 185.0

Hunan Province

37. Zhuzhou Aoyuan Edinburgh Zhuzhou, Hunan Integrated residential community 84.2
38.  Zhuzhou Aoyuan Shennong Health City ~ Zhuzhou, Hunan Commercial, integrated residential community 393.3
39. Zhuzhou Aoyuan Plaza Zhuzhou, Hunan Commercial, integrated residential community 429.7
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Land Bank (continued
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EM R E BN mERRE FAttE 149.5

1.
2. BEMNEE BMNmESRE SEAE BmE 22.2
3. BINBEBRE BMNmESE RAEE 52.5
4.  BEMNBER

REZERERFR BN E BIE - ¥ ETEREEAS 51.5

5. EMEARE BT E et 48.0
6. BEMEBREEFSHK BN E A¥ BFEREELE 74.2
7. BNRERES BMNmESRE BEAE - mE 158.0
8. RBMNEEELES BNmESE BEAS - ¥ 48.3
9.  BEMEEBRR BNmESE BEAS - mE 133.8
10.  BEMEREBEEAHL BMNmESBRE BEAE  mE 2481
11, BMNREEE BNmzEmEE BEAE - mE 124.2
12, BEMNEEHE AL BNmESRE BIE - BTHE - BE 251.8
13. BEBNEBEREES BN T 4k T BIE ¥ SFTEREEAS 379.4
14. ENZEEREES BMNmEmRE SEAE  mE 300.0
15.  {HEARE BREERT EREFE - B 1,272.4
16. BERBEE BREERT BZREEE - B 149.8
17. IFRE EREIF™ REftE 11.8
18. JIPIREINE BERAIM™ SBEAE - mE 181.5
19. IPIREZRERES BERAIF™ SEAE - mE 207.3
20. HILEER BERAHR LT REtE 402.0
21, HILEESSE BRER LT REAR - mE 162.8
22. mMBEBEE BRE LT REAR - 182.4
23. HILBEAE5R BERE I SEAE - mE 285.6
24, IBREAE—E ERAEGIT fRAFEER 362.1
. WMQI#%—ﬁ BRAMNT REE 259.5

26. JIARE IR EM T fREE 513.5
27. EFEMEE EFEE E Ak REttE 398.4
28. IM@I%W A T ERAEEE 867.1
29. E%i@ﬁﬁ BEM SN E S 71.1
30. EERR& EEM SEAE - mE 275
31. EEREBERK EEM BEASE - M 271.1
32. EEREKER EEM REAE - ¥ 125.1
REAE - mE 313.5

33. EEBRBERmXH EEM

34. ESBEEBERN EEE RS RELE 1,207.6
35. FEREERES EEE RS RAEE 776.8

36. EM@I TLERE BN T =E 185.0
37. ﬁM@.ﬁTﬁ i E=R=E ki) RAEE 84.2
38.  HRMEESEE AR EA M [EEE =g 393.3
39. HMNREES =gy V)i ) % fmetE 429.7

Annual Report 2013 & —=4R4E)

49



Major Projects
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Major Projects:

Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza
J& N B8 358 T K 3t
Guangzhou Aoyuan Beyond Era
J& )M BB B A
Guangzhou Aoyuan Kangwei Plaza
&) R B FR 3%
Guangzhou Aoyuan Spring Garden
ERIESEES:
Guangzhou Aoyuan Health Plaza
BN REEEES
Zhongshan Aoyuan
HILEE
Jiangmen Aoyuan Yicheng
International Plaza
L PTER B 5 R B R 55
Chongging Aoyuan The Metropolis
5 B [E BRI
Zhuzhou Aoyuan Plaza
MR E E%
. Zhuzhou Aoyuan
>, Shennong Health City
' RN R E 1% R 8 A
Shenyang Aoyuan
! _ Convention Plaza
- ) EERESRES
&3 Shenyang Aoyuan The Metropolis
e 5 B [ B R 0K

{ hogqing

AE
Qingyuan

4]
Guangxi
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Project Summary
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Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza EJ‘I‘IB‘@#JJZTE%%
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GUANGZHOU AOYUAN CITY PLAZA

Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza is located at the central axis of
Guangzhou, it has prime location with Zhujiang New City on its north,
Shigiao centre on the south, the commercial circle of the South
Station on the west and Wanbo commercial circle on the east. It is
at the intersection point of metro line #3, line #7 (under construction)
and Dongguan-Foshan line, besides it is at the convergence of the
five express railway, eight expressways and the main station of public
transport, and it has become a major transport nodal of southern
China, the Pearl River Delta region can be reached in 15 minutes, and
the Guangzhou South Station can be reached in 5 minutes. Opposite
to it is the only national 5A rated resort in Guangzhou, Changlong
Tourist Resort, which entertains over 10 million tourists annually,
there are several mega high-end communities around the project.
The three-dimensional transportation network and location advantage
bring in a huge number of people, so the project has tremendous
commercial value.

Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza has a site area of approximately
60,000 sg.m. with total GFA of approximately 250,000 sg.m, it is the
largest commercial property project on the central axis of Guangzhou
in terms of volume, on 30 May 2013 it was approved as a major

g =

4

_ % L7
[ 4 ' qﬂﬂl

= ||1 ’Ilu “l",,
¥

Mozt T

0 ; '
wmﬁressrons for reference

& M R B T K ith

&N B Bk T R MR A N AR 8 - b B BT R
W mEmEPL - AREWEE - RESE
P - HEREEE o MBS BSRAR  7TIRAR - RS
& [ =i | XME EE - WANAKREE - AKR
" - ““@ﬁxE WﬁiﬁXLKE% 3
NRFIRFEIR = A ERETHW b0
BIEMFEuh o JHE %’\TEEW%%J‘H ME—BIZ 5A &K
EEKEERE  FEXEBTE BERE
BEREZEBAMNSm NG o LEBRZBMLE -
BAEZEROEEA  STEEGAGEE
(ER

MR B T R (53K 6 8 F oK - BEEME
BR25&FIK - RRAEMNPHR LBESR
AEOEEMWEERR  —T—=FAA=1HE
HEMMEAGER) BB - HE RS HIREE

Annual Report 2013 & —=4F4E#

51



52

Project Summary (continued)

JE H B2 ()

Artists impressions for reference

(construction) project in Guangzhou, the project is a large urban
entertainment complex integrating urban tourist experience theme,
thematic hotel, high end office buildings, a dream theatre, boutique
apartments and LOFT apartments. The project focuses on 3 key
business themes, namely the lifestyle zone, kids' zone and the leisure
and entertainment zone, it intends to bring in a world class dream
theatre to create a mega commercial engine, and devotes to become
the top urban entertainment flagship of southern China.

Phase | shops of Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza was launched for sale
in July 2013, it created miracles of a huge sales upon launching with
subscription sales amount of approximately RMB600 million, a sold-
out of the shops in Phase Il within one hour, a huge sales of the LOFT
apartments recorded subscription sales amount of approximately
RMBB800 million of Phase | within two hours upon launching and
continuous hot sales. In 2014 Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza will
continue to launch popular shops facing the streets and LOFT
apartment products of Phase II.

In June 2013 the project was awarded as “China Experience
Commercial Model Project” by the Industry Information Centre
of China Shopping Centre and Development Committee of China
Shopping Centre.
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Project Summary (continued)

JH H B2 ()

Guangzhou Aoyuan Beyond Era BFHBRBURHT

GUANGZHOU AOYUAN BEYOND ERA

Guangzhou Aoyuan Beyond Era, as the first property sale on the core
district of central axis of the Guangzhou South Station, this project
is located in the commercial circle of the core of the Guangzhou
South Station, it occupies both sides of the central axis plaza, and
is approximately 500 metres from the South Exit of the Guangzhou
South Station, it creates a nodal property in the core of the express
railway of China with its irreplaceable district location and transport
advantages, presenting great appreciation potential.

The project has a total GFA of approximately 134,000 sq.m., it is mainly
composed of 38-100 sg.m. multi-purpose smart innovative versatile
“LOFT apartment + flat floor apartment” and 37-205 sg.m. two-story
linked street shops, and it is developed in two phases. Phase | of
Guangzhou Aoyuan Beyond Era Building is located on the north of the
central axis of the core of the Guangzhou South Station, and is next to
Shizhou Zhong Road metro line # 2, 7 Shibi Station. Phase | was launched
for sale in October 2013, more than 700 units were sold out in 2 hours,
with subscription sales amount of approximately RMB800 million, being
the first commercial project sold out within one day upon launching in the
Guangzhou South Station’s commerecial circle in the year.
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Project Summary (continued)
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Phase Il of Guangzhou Aoyuan Beyond Era Plaza is located on the
south of the central axis of the core of the Guangzhou South Station,
it is a compulsory passage of the Guangzhou South Station — the
southern convergence of Hanxi Road and Shixing Road, it consists
two towers (east and west towers) and its ancillary business centre,
its main function is business-office-apartment, of which the east
tower was launched in December 2013, it continued the hot sales
legend with subscription sales of approximately RMB600 million
within 2 hours upon launching.

With the Guangzhou South Station as a new door of southern
China and the consequential huge demand for business offices
of companies, brand showcasing and high-end rental for business
purposes for the Pearl River Delta and even the entire country,
Guangzhou Aoyuan Beyond Era creates a diversified functional
demand for business office spaces, satisfies personal commercial
clubs, brand experience exhibition centres, creative industry business
spaces, personal vacation properties, high-end business rental assets
with a brand new model.

In December 2013, with the “e-commerce with popular properties”,
Guangzhou Aoyuan Beyond Era was awarded the 2013 Influential
Network Award being the most important prizes in the 2013
Guangdong Influential Network ceremony organized by Nanfang
Media Group, Tencent Network, and became the only property
project winning the prize with its marketing innovation in the
ceremony.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B8 [ 3 7 45 3] e 4 A B A 7]
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GUANGZHOU AOYUAN KANGWEI PLAZA

Guangzhou Aoyuan Kangwei Plaza is situated at the eastern
Guangzhou (Xintang) transport nodal, forming the four major
transport nodal with Baiyun airport, Nansha port and the Guangzhou
South Station, the project is near to the new main passenger station
of Xintang, and linking the metro line #13, 16 and the three lanes of
Guangzhou-Dongguan-Shenzhen city track, Guangzhou-Shenzhen
railway, Guangzhou-Shantou railway in a seamless manner. It is 16
minutes from Tianhe, 20 minutes from Dongguan, 30 minutes from
Shenzhen by car from the project, forming a thirty-minute economic
circle in the River Pearl Delta region.

Given the eastern Guangzhou nodal as the eastern portal of
Guangzhou, an immense patronage of people and development
opportunities are thus formed, at the same time Xintang, an
economic powerful town specialized in jive product in the world
generates huge brand showcasing and trading, high end business
rental demand and demand for brand experience exhibition halls,
creative business spaces. The overall positioning of Guangzhou
Aoyuan Kangwei Plaza is an integration of large shopping centres,
SHOPPING MALL, themed shopping streets, LOFT apartments,
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quasi A grade offices, corporate image headquarters base, star grade
themed hotels, global e-commerce procurement centres and SME
financial innovative service centres, it intends to create six themed
street zones, namely the trendy street zone, bar zone, famous brand
street, romantic trendy street zone, fair tale small towns, corporate
image headquarters base and one super engine — scenario experience
themed SHOPPING MALL. After the project is completed, it will
bring rich consumption and sensual enjoyment to the consumers
in Guangzhou east, bringing a great experience of combining
seven elements of “Eat, Drink, Play, Fun, Shopping, Lodging and
Exhibition”, creating a dynamic city in the eastern Guangzhou with a
new model.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B8 [ 3 7 45 3] e 4 A B A 7]
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GUANGZHOU AOYUAN SPRING GARDEN

Guangzhou Aoyuan Spring Garden is another master piece created
by China Aoyuan Property Group with its ecological and health
concepts for more than a decade. The project is located at the
habitable core segment of Luogang — the core area of Changlingju
International Ecological Living District, that area is the segment of
high end ecological human habitat of Luogang as well as an important
development zone of the strategic eastern entrance into Guangzhou.

Guangzhou Aoyuan Spring Garden is near to the metro line #21
Changping Station, access to the center of Tianhe in 20 minutes, at
the same time the metro line #6 Xiangxue Station can be reached
in 5 minutes by shuttle bus, there are also several road and public
transportation, fast system, electric train, long haul passenger
stations, it forms a three-dimensional transportation network by
“Three Vertical and Three Horizontal”, it can access the entire city
rapidly, and have offers faster journeys than others.
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Artists impressions for reference
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Guangzhou Aoyuan Spring Garden occupies a site area of
approximately 60,000 sg.m, with a GFA of approximately 124,000
sqg.m, the project positions itself as a “Ecological city near Tianhe
East Station”, it is divided into three phases for development, the
products cover two types, namely two to four bedroom high rise
ecological apartments of 75-140 sq.m. and riverside commercial
streets. The project is beside the hill and rivers, it enjoys unbeatable
quadruple scenic views of the hill, wood, river and garden, there are
totally natural streams of 3 Km, woodland of 100,000 Mu, together
with the communal gardens made with huge capital, it presents
an in-depth interpretation of a model of high end ecological healthy
human habitat in the city amid woodland and rivers, bringing excellent
healthy accommodation experience. The community facilities of
the project are rich and diverse, with supermarkets for groceries,
riverside commercial streets, recreational facilities, elderly activity
centres to fully meet the demand of the community, besides, there
are eight major health facilities such as elderly recreational centres,
tennis courts, basketball playgrounds, riverside rest zones, jogging
tracks, children fun zones etc, creating an energetic community.

During the year Guangzhou Aoyuan Spring Garden had three launches
and had robust sales for three times, awarded twice champion of
stage sales of properties in Guangzhou, the hot sales of this project
fully demonstrates the accuracy of product positioning and strong
marketing capability of Aoyuan, the project was selected as “2013
Leadership Brand of Top 10 Guangdong Properties”.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B8 [ 3 7 45 3] e 4 A B A 7]
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GUANGZHOU AOYUAN HEALTH PLAZA

Guangzhou Aoyuan Health Plaza is another mega commercial
complex of the China Aoyuan Property Group in Panyu other than
Aoyuan Plaza. It is located at Qiaonan Street of Panyu, on the central
axis between old Guangzhou and Nansha, occupying a site area
of approximately 48,000 sgq.m with a total GFA of approximately
125,000 sgq.m. The project is positioned as the “benchmark health
and commercial complex in South China”, encompassing Chinese
urban health centre, pedestrian commercial streets and international
apartments in one.
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The project was approved by Panyu district government as a Panyu
Major (Construction) Project, it is the first demonstration project for
establishment of Panyu as a “high-end health and regimen services
base” and “Pearl River Delta regimen base”. Guangzhou Aoyuan
Health Plaza will play a leadership function in the development
process of the health and regimen industry in the Greater Southern
China, in the future its completion will make up for the missing area
of the high end health and regimen consumption domain. Also as one
of the rare commercial projects in Panyu-Qiaonan commercial circle,
Aoyuan Health Plaza will be influential in promoting the development
of trade and commercial activities within the whole Qiaonan area.

At present the post-maternity centre, health club of Guangzhou

Aoyuan Health Plaza are under rapid construction, it is expected that
they will be open for business in 2015.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited F [ S [ i &5 45 [ A A PR 23 7]
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Zhongshan Aoyuan

ZHONGSHAN AOYUAN

Zhongshan Aoyuan is the first master piece of China Aoyuan Property
Group in Zhongshan, it strives for creating the “top choice for
healthy living in Zhongshan”, with its advanced development ideas
and excellent planning design, it devotes to integrate advanced
health and regime living concepts into the life of a community, it has
successively received the awards of “China International Garden
Community Award"”, “Healthy Residence Pilot Project”, “Southern
China Region Benchmark Quality Property”.

The project is located at an advantageous geographical location in
Guangfeng Community in the West District of Zhongshan City, near
to Guangfeng Gongye Road, just 10 minutes’ by car to the urban area,
and is 1.5km away from the North Station of the light rail, Guangzhou-
Zhuhai Expressway, west bound, Beijing-Zhuhai Expressway, with a
well developed transportation network, it is the future core residential
zone of the key development district in Zhongshan.

Project Summary (continued)
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Zhongshan Aoyuan occupies in total a site area of approximately
350,000 sg.m, with a GFA of approximately 703,000 sg.m, the
products cover varying types of product ranging from low-density
residential, flats, commercial properties and serviced apartments, it
plans a layout of one-stop shopping and daily ancillary facilities based
on a large city of 6,000 households.

At present the ancillary facilities of Zhongshan Aoyuan have been
constructed in a systematic manner: a 400-metre long commercial
street is in full operation, businesses are being introduced to the
commercial clubs, serviced apartments, several famous brand
companies have signed contracts to move in, the scenario swimming
pool, the 1,500-metre long rivershore rest ancillary facilities have
been in use, showing the life of a large community.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B [5] 3 2 45 5] e 4 A B A 7]
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JIANGMEN AOYUAN YICHENG
INTERNATIONAL PLAZA

Jiangmen Aoyuan Yicheng International Plaza is located at the
intersection of Fazhan Road and Fengle Road, a new commercial
complex with it as the representative will from the most commercial
circle in Jiangmen CBD and even the whole western Guangdong
region, it is the only high end complex at the convergence of the
north-south and east-west arteries of Beixin district, its excellent
geographical position is remarkable.

The project is situated at the city centre, it has a well accessible
transportation network. Starting from the project as the central point,
any places in the urban district can be reached in 10 minutes by car,
the project is surrounded by complete community ancillary facilities
and educational ancillary facilities.

Artists impressions for reference
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The commercial part of the project has a GFA of approximately
160,000 sg.m, including three underground stories, 4-stories
commercial cluster and one 12-story A grade office building,
integrating office, shopping, dining, entertainment and leisure
together, it devotes to make a zero-distant life circle from the core
CBD of Jiangmen. Besides, the project has also six 32-story high end
high rise apartments, the products include two bedrooms, one dining
room, one living room of 91 sq.m, three bedrooms, one dining room,
one living room of 97 sq.m and four bedrooms, one dining room,
one living room of 140 sq.m, the products meet the accommodation
demand in terms of surface area and improved conditions.

In 2013 the project received awards including the “Jiangmen Best

Investment Commercial Property Project” and “Jiangmen Area
Urban Upgrading Contribution Prize”.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B8 [ 3 7 45 3] e 4 A B A 7]
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CHONGQING AOYUAN THE METROPOLIS

Chongging Aoyuan The Metropolis is located at the central district
of Huayan New City, the bridgehead of western extension of
Chongging, it is closely near to the light rail line # 5 station under
planning, and close to the indigenous parks of 200 mu in the city and
the 1,609 mu scenic attraction of Huayan tourist district. It is superior
location with beautiful ecological environment. It is only 3,000 metres
from Longmenzhen Theme Park, the largest in Xicheng. It takes
about 20 minutes to drive to Yangjiaping pedestrian shopping district
and Dadukou shopping district. Yangjiaping, Dadukou, Shapingba
and Jiangjin are connected through light rails and tens of bus lines
and highways surrounding the project, the road infrastructure is
highly developed. Its location is the major contributor to Chongging’s
livability development in the coming 5 years.

The project has a GFA of approximately 288,000 sg.m, it plans to
construct 23 high quality Spanish-style garden apartments, 6 garden
blocks of flats, 10 low-density high-rises, a large-scale shopping
mall and a stylish commercial street etc, its residential area will be

It Ty AT
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built with educational and sports facilities such as kindergartens,
swimming pools, badminton courts and children’s play centers. The
project, combining high quality residences with large commercial
facilities, will be built into a high-end commercial center of Huayan
New City for living, leisure experience and style shopping.

Not only the project has huge variety of products, but also flexible
design. The residential products are mainly 97-133 sg.m. garden
apartments, 53-77 sgq.m. apartments, they have high quality price
ratios and many free gifts, the apartment products have garden
balconies, front and back yards, basements and skylights designs,
so that the residents can get sunshine and breezes to the largest
extent, its commercial part “Spanish-stylish commercial street” is 5.1
metres in height per level, the spaces are flexible for expansion, and
convenient to use, it fully shows the excellent planning and product
design capability of Aoyuan.

Chongging Aoyuan The Metropolis is the perfect combination of
“Aoyuan speed”and “Aoyuan quality”, it was only 6 months’ time
since the project was acquired through land auction on 17 December
2012 to the sold out of phase | of the property on 22 June 2013,
the highly efficient work results show the excellent development
management level of operation standardization, management
refinement, work flow of Aoyuan Group.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B8 [ 3 7 45 3] e 4 A B A 7]
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ZHUZHOU AOYUAN PLAZA

Zhuzhou Aoyuan Plaza is located at the convergence of Zhujiang
South Road and Taishan Road in the centre of Shennong City (i.e. the
previous location of Zhuzhou Model College), it is just 50 metres from
Yandi Square, it is really a community at zero distant from Shennong
City. As a living residential district at zero distant from Shennong City,
Zhuzhou Aoyuan Plaza enjoys the benefits of the 4A grade tourist
scenic district of Shennong City. The project has Zhujiang North
Road on its north, Zhujiang South Road on its west, Xiangyi Road on
its east, two major roads and one secondary road surround it, the
transport system is well developed, it is 10 minutes away from the
city centre, residents can commune at ease by expressway or city
railway.

It 7Y T

Artists impressions for reference

e )

MO R B B35 (L BE 48 R IR BV AT B BR 2R 1L
B2 B (BIARINEM R R 4L ) - dEEER T EIHE
500K - REEEMERTERNTE - ERHE
HENTIERNERER  KNREESSS
B AA GRS @A - TR B ALEEOTIER
BRI EE - REHKE - ME—R=HFX
BEEG  BOAN\E EmHLOEFI0D
i SR WEERLT -

Annual Report 2013 & —=4R4E)

-

67



638

Project Summary (continued)

JE H B2 (4)

"

i

The project plans to have a variety of products of a one-stop leisure,
entertainment and commercial flagship, low-density residential, high
rise residences, office buildings and apartments, creating an urban
complex of approximately 430,000 sg.m of GFA, not only it shows
a world class excellent living environment, but also upholds the
concept of “building a healthy lifestyle” of the Group, it creates the
first sport garden community in Zhuzhou.

The project has complete ancillary facilities, not only it has high
class cultural, leisure and entertainment facilities such as Shennong
Art Centre, Shennong Theatre around it, but also a number of elite
schools, inside the community it plans to have 170,000 sq.m of
high end commercials, all daily necessities will be here. It is worth
mentioning that the health and sport ancillary facilities of the project
are very complete, the sport stadium will be named after the Olympic
champion Gong Zhi Chao, the “Zhi Chao"” consists multiple sport
functions of badminton courts, tennis courts, gym, yoga rooms,
ping pong stadiums etc, outside the stadium there are also golf
practicing court etc, it really realizes the living dream of “exercise
starts from home" for residents. Besides, special design of garden
under the theme of sports of the project corresponds to the sport
themed zone, this forms a healthy and sportive perfect life for
residents in all aspects, after the project is completed, it will become
a demonstration project of a local integrated landmark.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited F [ 2 [ i &5 45 B A A PR 23 7]
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ZHUZHOU AOYUAN SHENNONG HEALTH CITY

Zhuzhou Aoyuan Shennong Health City is located the transport
intersection point of Shennong Road and Zhujiang North Road (the
west bank of Shennong Lake), the core of Shennong City in Tianyuan
District in Zhuzhou, it is the CBD of the city integrating the eight
political, financial, commercial, tourist, educational, business, leisure,
entertainment and health centers of Zhuzhou city. The project is the
only large-scale residential site directly facing Shennong Lake, and the
only complex under the theme of regime in Shennong City district, at
the same time it is also the first health city in Zhuzhou that the Group
is striving to create.

The project occupies 235 mu, with a GFA of approximately 400,000
sg.m under planning, the plan follows the idea of regime, possessing
rich residential products with the rich hill and lake resources, it plans
to build low density healthy living low-density residential clusters, sky
apartment high rise clusters and boutique apartments etc, and they
come with BA office buildings, large health club, commercial streets
etc, combining comfort, luxury and quality together.
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The project maintains the concept of “building a healthy lifestyle”,
it is designed for comfortable living as well as natural, healthy and
human-oriented lifestyle, and the local awareness of Zhuzhou, district
culture, living customs. The 600-metre greenway surrounds the
entire community, themed water scenic decoration will be found in
the southeastern entrance of the project, different types of low rise
residences will be constructed in the original ecological wood along
the centre area; on the north there will be several clusters of high
rise residences, and a large commercial plaza will be set up on the
northeastern side. The project builds regime facilities such as the top
class water scenic health club — a unigue club in the city, treatment
health centres, regime medication and food shop etc, it is the first
real estate project in Zhuzhou to integrate the rare natural scenery,
famous culture, city center location and healthy lifestyle concepts.
In 2013 it was granted several awards such as the “Zhuzhou Human
Habitat Value Model".

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B8 [ 3 7 45 3] e 4 A B A 7]
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Project Summary (continued)
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Shenyang Aoyuan Convention Plaza %% L& €& 55

SHENYANG AOYUAN CONVENTION PLAZA

Shenyang Aoyuan Convention Plaza is located at the core area of
the proposed exhibition and convention center in Dahunnan and
the district, having rosy development prospects, the district is the
largest transport hub in Northeastern China which includes airport,
high-speed railway, metropolitan railway, subway, public transport,
rental and Changke. The proposed new Shenyang South Railway
Station 2.2 km east to the project will form a 2-hour economic circle
that encompasses northeastern China and pan-Northern China,
leading to Harbin to the north, Dalian to the south and Beijing to
the west. The new South Railway Station under planning 2.2.
km from the eastern side of the project will connect with Harbin-
Dalian, Shenyang-Dandong and Beijing-Shenyang railway lines for
passenger as well as Shenyang-Dalian and Shenyang-Fushun intercity
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railways, developing a “1-hour economic circle” between Shenyang
and its surrounding cities. Meanwhile, this project is located at the
intersection of metro Line # 4 and 10, and the metro Line # 10 is
right at the doorstep, making “travel with zero transfer” possible for
passengers using Xinnan Station and public transportation. At 13 km
to the southwestern side of the project rests the Taoxian Airport, the
largest aviation hub in Northeastern China, which is 10 minutes’ drive
from the project, which heads to many places in the nation and even
the world.

The project occupies a site area of approximately 220,000 sg.m.
with total GFA of 900,000 sg.m., the product lines are rich, covering
diversified products of 30-80 sg.m. Mall Shops, 3-30 sgq.m. Outlet
stores, 77-109 sg.m. in Phase Il of Huanleli, 33-92 sg.m. apartments.
As an international integrated exhibition complex, the project
encompasses a variety of businesses such as leisure and catering,
video and music and entertainment, fitness, star grade hotels etc, it
will meet the demand for comprehensive and diversified commercial
facilities and services of the urban people to the largest extent. The
completion of the project in the future will represent the standard
the of high end consumption and accommodation model in southern
part of Shenyang city, and will become a new landmark of the whole
district.

In 2013 this project was ranked the third in the number of units

sold for the year and the fifth in terms of area sold in Shenyang city
together with Shenyang Aoyuan The Metropolis.
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Shenyang Aoyuan The Metropolis 1% LI [ B3
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SHENYANG AOYUAN THE METROPOLIS

Shenyang Aoyuan The Metropolis is situated in the new town core
area of Hun River (the area connecting the north of Sujiatun District to
Shenyang City District), near to Shenyang Exhibition Center and close
to Xinnan Station — the largest transport hub in the Northeast as well
as the sport stadium. To its north is the Chinese Medical University
which is under planning, south is the new Shenyang Exhibition
Centre and south-eastern side is the Sport University. With the overall
development of Shenyang shifting south and the southern-relocation
of Shenyang Government, it will significantly enhance the advantages
and appreciation of the project. Its transportation is convenient, many
public transport lines pass by this project, the metro line #4 and 10
under planning are very close to the project.
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The project occupies a site area of approximately 370,000 sg.m, with
a GFA of approximately 1,500,000 sg.m, the product series includes
92-129 sg.m. nicely decorated units readily available, 192-198 sg.m.
high rise deluxe apartments, 45-100 sg.m. bA grade offices, 35-
1,500 sg.m. shops, they can meet the property purchases at different
levels.

The ancillary facilities of the project are complete, with full ancillary
facilities in transportation, entertainment, education and businesses
etc: hotels for business travelers, international cinemas, fitness
centres to create an entertainment world for clients; the experimental
schools, experimental kindergartens provide one-stop trouble-free
educational resources for children; the joining of companies such as
food courts, famous supermarkets will bring one-stop prosperous city
life to clients.

Since the project was launched, Shenyang Aoyuan The Metropolis
has been supported and appreciated by the local clients, In 2013 it
was ranked the third in the number of units sold for the year and the
fifth in the surface area in Shenyang city together with Shenyang
Aoyuan Convention Plaza.
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Corporate Governance Report

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is pleased to
present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s Annual
Report for the year ended 31 December 2013.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the

Company are summarized as follows:

Corporate Governance Practices
The Group strives to maintain high standards of corporate

governance to enhance shareholder value and safeguard shareholder
interests. The Group’s corporate governance principles emphasize
the importance of a quality Board, effective internal controls and

accountability to shareholders.

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “"CG Code"”) contained in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) as

its own code of corporate governance.

The Company has complied with most of the code provisions as set
out in the CG Code.

The Company will, from time to time, review and enhance its
corporate governance practices to ensure that these continue to
meet the requirements of the CG Code.

Model Code for Securities Transactions
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding directors’ dealings in the Company’s securities.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the directors and the directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2013.
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The Company has also established written guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code (the “"Employees Written
Guidelines”) for securities transactions by employees who are likely
to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of the
Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written

Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company.

Board of Directors

Board Composition
Membership of the Board is currently made up of eight members in
total, with four executive directors, one non-executive director and

three independent non-executive directors.

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing
Rules from time to time.

The relationships among the members of the Board are disclosed
under “Directors and Senior Management Profile” on page 38. Mr.
Guo Zi Wen is the brother of Mr. Guo Zi Ning. Save as disclosed,

members of the Board are unrelated to one another.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
The roles and duties of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company are carried out by different individuals and have been

clearly defined in writing.

The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Guo Zi Wen, and the Chief
Executive Officer is Mr. Guo Zi Ning. With the support of the
company secretary and the senior management, the Chairman
is responsible for ensuring that the directors receive adequate,
complete and reliable information in a timely manner and appropriate
briefing on issues arising at Board meetings, and that all key and
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. The
Chief Executive Officer focuses on implementing objectives, policies
and strategies approved and delegated by the Board. He is in charge
of the Company's day-to-day management and operations. The Chief
Executive Officer is also responsible for developing strategic plans
and formulating the organizational structure, control systems and

internal procedures and processes for the Board's approval.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive directors with at least
one independent non-executive director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial

management expertise.

All directors, including non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board
for its efficient and effective functioning. Independent non-executive
directors are invited to serve on the Audit, Remuneration and

Nomination Committees of the Company.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all

independent non-executive directors are independent.

Non-executive Directors and Directors’ Re-election

Each of the executive directors, non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors of the Company has entered into a service
contract or a letter of appointment with the Company for a specific term.
Such term is subject to his re-election by the Company at an annual
general meeting (“AGM") upon retirement. The articles of association
(the "Avrticles of Association”) of the Company provides that any director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in the Board shall hold
office only until the first general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election at such meeting. Besides, any director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold
office only until the next following AGM of the Company and shall then

be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, one-third of all
directors of the Company are subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. A retiring director is eligible for re-election
and continues to act as a director throughout the meeting at which
he retires. Any director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board shall not be taken into account for

retirement by rotation.
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The members of the Company may, at any general meeting convened
and held in accordance with the Articles of Association to remove
a director at any time before the expiration of his period of office
notwithstanding anything contrary in the Articles of Association or in

any agreement between the Company and such director.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions
of the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company
and oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs.
Directors of the Board take decisions objectively in the interests of
the Company. The Board has delegated to the senior management
the authority and responsibility for the day-to-day management and
operation of the Group. In addition, the Board has established Board
committees and has delegated to these Board committees various

responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of

directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.

All directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests

of the Company and its shareholders at all times.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors
Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and development of
the Company.

Every newly appointed director will receive formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure proper understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory

requirements.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. All directors are encouraged to attend relevant training

courses at the Company's expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the directors participated

in the following trainings:
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Directors = Topic
£

Executive Directors BITES

Guo Zi Wen 2P A B

Guo Zi Ning Ellyeges A B

Yang Zhong HR A B

Xin Zhu FIR A B

Non-Executive Directors FHTES

Paul Steven Wolansky RED o ERHHTE A B

Wu Jie Si (resigned on 20 May 2013) RER(R=ZZF—=FAA=F+HFT)

Independent Non-Executive Directors BIUFHITES

Song Xian Zhong (resigned on 28 February 2014) KRR (R=F—HF = A=+ HAFHT) A B

Tsui King Fai rEE A,

Cheung Kwok Keung R B o A,

Ma Kwai Yuen (resigned on 8 July 2013) BSER(R=F—=F+A/HEF)

A:  attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

B: reading newspapers, journals, company newsletters and
updates relating to the economy, general business, real estate

or Director’s duties and responsibilities, etc.
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Board Committees

The Board undertakes responsibility for decision making in major
Company matters, including: approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those that
may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment

of directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the Company Secretary, with
a view to ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable laws
and regulations are followed. Each director is normally able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the

Company’s expense, upon making request to the Board.

The Board has delegated a schedule of responsibilities to the
Chief Executive Officer and senior management of the Company.
These responsibilities include implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and coordinating day-to-day operation and management
of the Company in accordance with the management strategies
and plans approved by the Board, formulating and monitoring the
operating and production plans and budgets, and supervising and

monitoring the control systems.

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with defined written terms of reference which are posted on the
Company's website and the Stock Exchange's website and are

available to shareholders upon request.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Audit Committee

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2013, the Audit Committee
comprises three independent non-executive directors, namely, Mr.
Cheung Kwok Keung (chairman of the Committee), Mr. Song Xian
Zhong and Mr. Tsui King Fai. Mr. Song Xian Zhong resigned as an
independent non-executive director and ceased to be a member
of the Audit Committee on 28 February 2014. Mr. Hu Jiang was
appointed as an independent non-executive director and a member
of the Audit Committee to fill the vacancy on 28 February 2014. None
of the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the

Company’s existing external auditors.
The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

° To review the financial statements and reports and consider
any significant or unusual items raised by the internal auditor or
external auditors before submission to the Board.

° To review the relationship with the external auditors by
reference to the work performed by the auditors, their fees
and terms of engagement, and make recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of

external auditors.

° To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk

management system and associated procedures.

The Audit Committee oversees the internal control system of the
Group, reports to the Board on any material issues, and makes

recommendations to the Board.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee reviewed the
Group's annual results and annual report for the year ended 31
December 2013, the financial reporting and compliance procedures,
the report of the internal auditor on the Company’s internal
control and risk management systems and processes, and the re-

appointment of the external auditors.

The Audit Committee held 2 meetings during the year ended 31
December 2013 and all the members attended the meetings.
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Remuneration Committee

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2013, the Remuneration
Committee comprises three members, namely, Mr. Tsui King Fai
(chairman of the Committee), Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Song
Xian Zhong, all of which are independent non-executive directors. Mr.
Song Xian Zhong resigned as an independent non-executive director
and ceased to be a member of the Remuneration Committee on 28
February 2014. Mr. Hu Jiang was appointed as an independent non-
executive director and a member of the Remuneration Committee to

fill the vacancy on 28 February 2014.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
making recommendations to the Board on and approving the
remuneration policy and structure and remuneration packages of the
executive directors and the senior management. The Remuneration
Committee is also responsible for establishing transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and structure
to ensure that no director or any of his/her associates will participate
in deciding his/her own remuneration, which remuneration will be
determined by reference to the performance of the individual and the
Company as well as market practice and conditions.

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the remuneration policy
and structure of the Company, and the remuneration packages of the
executive directors and the senior management for the year under

review.

The Remuneration Committee held 2 meetings during the year ended
31 December 2013 and all the members attended the meetings.

Nomination Committee
Throughout the year ended 31 December 2013, the Nomination

Committee comprises four members, namely Mr. Guo Zi Wen
(chairman of the Committee), Mr. Song Xian Zhong, Mr. Tsui King Fai
and Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, the majority of them are independent
non-executive directors. Mr. Song Xian Zhong resigned as an
independent non-executive director and ceased to be a member of
the Nomination Committee on 28 February 2014. Mr. Hu Jiang was
appointed as an independent non-executive director and a member of

the Nomination Committee to fill the vacancy on 28 February 2014.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment of directors, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession
planning of directors, and assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive directors.

The Nomination Committee has adopted a set of nomination
procedures for selection of candidates for directorship of the
Company by making reference to the skills, experience, professional
knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments of such
individuals, the Company’s needs and other relevant statutory

requirements and regulations.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects set out in the Board
diversity policy, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and industry and regional experience. The Nomination Committee
would discuss and agree on the measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to
the Board for adoption.

The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting during the year ended 31
December 2013 and all the members attended the meetings.

The Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise,
skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the
business of the Company. The Nomination Committee considered
an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is
maintained.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Mr. Guo Zi Wen, Mr.
Guo Zi Ning, Ms. Xin Zhu and Mr. Hu Jiang shall retire by rotation
and being eligible, offer himself/herself for re-election at the next

forthcoming annual general meeting.
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The Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment of
the directors standing for re-election at the next forthcoming annual

general meeting of the Company.

The Company's circular dated 3 April 2014 contains detailed

information of the directors standing for re-election.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, training and continuous professional development
of directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance of the Model Code and Written Employee Guidelines, and
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this

Corporate Governance Report.

Board Meetings

Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings
Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are

normally made available to directors in advance.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors at least 3 days before each
Board meeting or committee meeting to keep directors apprised of
the latest developments and financial position of the Company and
to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and each
director also have separate and independent access to the senior

management where necessa ry.

The senior management attend all regular Board meetings and
where necessary, other Board and committee meetings, to advise on
business developments, financial and accounting matters, statutory
and regulatory compliance, corporate governance and other major

aspects of the Company.

REAZEGEZAENZIMENERAEER
RAFAS IEBEEZES -

ARAFAHA-_E-NFMNA=BZRHEE
REBEEEZERNFAAER

TEERBAE
EEGAEETLLEA
Bt -

SFRIZED.3. 1 IEFT#H <

EXRHARRZEEEARELER &
ELEREEBNEIIRHERERR - AR
AR TARRE ﬁﬁmﬁ@Zﬁﬁ&%ﬁ
ETIRETRIMEREEESINERLAR
%?ﬁ%am#%Z%ﬁ%&%$ﬁ%amﬁ
EAZKE -

EEEER

BTEEESSENRERER
RAFgRAERE R ERBERE —MITEL
RETEFESE -

EESVHERMEEE  TEK %z ﬂ
BREEFESRNEELER
mza%%%%ﬁ§$*%§$ﬁﬁﬁgﬂz
BNERRVBRR - WIELEERE - EF
EREESFNVERTASEREBZEBSR
EEAE

BREEABLEMBEEHESZEZ  HAS
2 JHEFEHEMEZEERZESSE UK
RAEBER YHEREHAEE ERRE

B CEEANEMTIEEEREHER

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited H [58 B ] 3h 78 55 5 B 40 B R A #]



Corporate Governance Report (continued)

The company secretary assists the chairman in preparing the agenda
for meetings and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations
are followed. Draft minutes are normally circulated to directors for
comment within a reasonable time after each meeting and final

versions are open for directors’ inspection.

The Articles of Association contain provisions requiring directors to
abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings
for approving transactions in which such directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.

Code provision A.1.3 stipulates that at least 14 days’ notice should be

given for a regular Board meeting.

Certain Board meetings held during the year ended 31 December
2013 were convened with less than 14 days’ notice. The Company
adopted a flexible approach in convening Board meetings and
ensuring that sufficient time and adequate information were given to

directors for making informed decisions.
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Attendance Record of Directors and Committee

Members

The attendance record of each director at the Board and Board

Committee meetings and the general meetings of the Company

held during the year ended 31 December 2013 is set out in the table

below:
Name of
Director
Bzpg
Executive Directors BiTES
Mr. Guo Zi Wen Liley ¢t
Mr. Guo Zi Ning PEELE
Mr. Yang Zhong BARLE
Ms. Xin Zhu FHut
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky RE  ERHTELE
Mr. Wu Jie Si REREE
[resigned on 20 May 2013) (RZB-=FRA-THET)
Independent Non- BUFHTES
executive Directors
Mr. Tsui King Fai hRERE
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung REB LA
Mr. Ma Kwai Yuen SHELE
[resigned on 8 July 2013) (A=B-=F+A\BEL)
Mr. Song Xian Zhong REIREE

(resigned on 28 February 2014)  (R=E—NF= A=+ \BEF{)
Mr. Hu Jiang (appointed on il
28 February 2014) (A-Z-ME-A-+/\BEZE)

Board

44

4/4

44

4/4

3/4

2/4

44

4/4

3/4

4/4

NA

EERZEEHENSHRHFERLE

TRENBZEFHFEBE_T—=F1+_-A
S+ HLEFERTCEFREEERLAR
AR KRG HYRDER -

Attendance/Number of Meetings

LEEHENY SRETRY

Audit Remuneration Nomination Annual General Other General

Committee

ENZEE

22
22

22

NA

Committee Committee Meeting Meetings (if any)
HtRRAS
FHZEE  REZEE  RREFAL (%)

1 1

7

1

2/2 1 1M

202 7n n

202 "n n

7n
NA NA NA
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held meetings
with the non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) without the presence of executive directors

during the year.

Directors’ Responsibility in respect of the
Financial Statements

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2013.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the

Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 108 to 109.

The directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of
financial statements of the Company with a view to ensuring that
such financial statements give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group and that relevant statutory and regulatory

requirements and applicable accounting standards are complied with.

The Board has received from the senior management the
management accounts and such accompanying explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to make an

informed assessment for approving the financial statements.
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Auditor’s Remuneration

The remuneration paid to the Company’s external auditors of the
Company in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the
year ended 31 December 2013 amounted to RMB3,580,000 and
RMB1,406,000 respectively.

An analysis of the remuneration paid to the external auditors of the
Company, Messrs Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, in respect of audit
services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 December
2013 is set out below:

Service Category Fees Paid/Payable

Audit Services RMB3,580,000

Non-audit Services

— Interim review RMB938,000
— Issue of senior notes RMB448,000
— Others RMB20,000

Internal controls
The Board conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal

control system of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2013. The review covered the financial, operational, compliance
and risk management aspects of the Group including the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group's
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training

programmes and budget.

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate internal control
system to safeguard shareholder investments and Company assets

and reviewing the effectiveness of such system on an annual basis.

An internal audit department has been established to perform
regular financial and operational reviews and conduct audits of the
Company and its subsidiaries. The work carried out by the internal
audit department will ensure the internal controls are in place and

functioning as intended.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

During the course of audit performed by the external auditors,
they reported on the weakness in the Group's internal control and
accounting procedures which had come to their attention. The
internal audit department reviewed, evaluated and monitored the
follow-up actions in response to their recommendations and reported
to the Audit Committee.

Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at shareholder
meetings, including the election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each

shareholder meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

The Board may whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general
meetings. Any one or more shareholders holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be

reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings
There are no provisions allowing shareholders to move new

resolutions at general meetings under the Cayman Islands
Companies Law or the Articles of Association of the Company.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting following the procedures set

out in the preceding paragraph.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board
For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,

shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company.
Note: The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: Units 1901 — 02, 19th Floor

One Peking

No.1 Peking Road

Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon

Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Company Secretary)
Fax: (852) 2180 6189

Email: aoyuan.hk@aoyuangroup.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address, apart from the
registered office of the Company, and provide their full name, contact
details and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’

information may be disclosed as required by law.

* Shareholders may call the Company at (852) 3622 2122 for any assistance.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Communication with Shareholders and Investor
Relations

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
The Company also recognizes the importance of transparency
and timely disclosure of corporate information, which will enable
shareholders and investors to make the best investment decisions.
To achieve this, the Company maintains a website at http://www.
aoyuan.com.cn, where up-to-date information and updates on
the Company’s business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information

are posted.

The general meetings of the Company also provide good opportunity
for exchange of views between the Board and the shareholders.
The Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee or, in
their absence, other members of the respective committees and,
where applicable, the chairman of the independent Board committee,
are available to answer questions at shareholder meetings.

The 2014 Annual General Meeting (“2014 AGM") will be held on 8
May 2014. The notice of 2014 AGM wiill be sent to shareholders at
least 20 clear business days before the 2014 AGM.

The Board believes effective investor relations can contribute
towards lowering cost of capital, improving market liquidity for the
Company's stock and building a more stable shareholder base.
Therefore, the Company is committed to maintaining a high level of
corporate transparency and following a policy of disclosing relevant
information to shareholders, investors, analysts and bankers. Keeping
the shareholders aware of our corporate strategies and business

operations is one of the key missions of our investor relations team.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its Articles of Association. An up to date version of the
Company’s Articles of Association is also available on the Company's
website and the Stock Exchange's website.
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R

The Directors are pleased to present the annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the

year ended 31 December 2013.

The Company was incorporated and registered as an exempted
company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law (2004 Second Revision) of the Cayman Islands on 6
March 2007.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Stock Exchange on 9
October 2007.

Principal Activities
The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in property development and property

investment.

An analysis of the Group’s turnover and operating profit for the year
ended 31 December 2013 by principal activities is set out in note 5

to the consolidated financial statements.

Results and Appropriations
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013 and
the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2013 are set out

in the consolidated financial statements on pages 110 to 256.

The Directors recommended the payment of a final dividend
of RMB8.0 cents per ordinary share to the shareholders on the
register of members on 16 May 2014, amounting to approximately
RMB222,628,000 (2012: final dividend of RMB5.2 cents per share),
subject to the shareholders’ approval of the final dividend at the

forthcoming annual general meeting.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B8 [ 3 7 45 3] e 4 A B A 7]

EEMAREAEEHBE_T—=F1+-A
=t RLFREZEFERELEELFREYT
W

ARFR-ZZLF=ARNARERASEER
AVE(ZZETMFEE _RIER]) ER SRS M
AL B RAERRARAT o

RRBZBEOR_EZTLF+ANBERBA
e

FEEK
ARRBREERAR  ENBARIZERE
BROFZERMMERE -

KEBREZE-E—=F+-_A=+—HILHF
ERTEEREEZEXEBEREERFINDN
BN ERA B SRR MIFED o

RERERDIK
AEERE-T-—Ft A=+ BILFE
ZEBERAEEN - T-=F+-A=+—H
ZEFIRRBINE 1 10E E 256 E 244 FITSHR
&P -

EEFFMN _T-NFAATRBRIIER
A BERIRE RS ST B ARES.0
D KENRE SR/ AR 222,628,000
T(CE——F  RERESRARKES29)
HEAGFRRREBERRBFAS D4R

B o
o



Report of the Directors (continued)

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Share Capital
Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
memorandum and articles of association, or the laws of Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a

pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders.

Major Customers and Suppliers
Sales to the Group's five largest customers accounted for less than

30% of the total sales for the year and purchases from the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the total

purchases for the year.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s
Listed Securities

For the year ended 31 December 2013, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s

listed securities.
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Senior Notes
On 23 November 2012, the Company issued senior notes in an

aggregate principal amount of US$125,000,000 at the rate of
13.875% per annum due 2017. On 29 January 2013, the Company
further issued senior notes in an aggregate principal amount of
US$100,000,000 at the rate of 13.875% per annum due 2017 which
have been consolidated and form a single series with the notes
issued in November 2012.

Details of which are set out in the announcements dated 8 November
2012, 15 November 2012, 23 November 2012, 21 January 2013, 22
January 2013 and 29 January 2013 respectively and in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

On 10 January 2014, the Company issued senior notes in an
aggregate principal amount of US$300,000,000 at the rate of 11.25%
per annum due 2019.

Details of which are set out in the announcements dated 10 January
2014 and 17 January 2014 respectively.

Closure of Register of Members
The register of members of the Company will be closed during the

following periods:

(i) from 5 May 2014 to 8 May 2014, both days inclusive, for the
purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to attend
and vote at the 2014 AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed. In order to be eligible to attend and
vote at the 2014 AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops
1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on
2 May 2014; and
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(ii)

Report of the Directors (continued)

from 14 May 2014 to 16 May 2014, both days inclusive, for
the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to
the proposed final dividend, the register of members of the
Company will be closed. In order to establish entitlements
to the proposed final dividend, all transfer documents

= ()

(i) AEETRRERERERBREZE
Mo-B-Z-OFAA+OAERERE_-T
—MFERATAALHR(BEEE®
R)EEERMDBEP - REAEIREHR
EARHIBE - PTA B8P & R R I

accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged EER_Z-—NERA+=ATFINE
= THRRTARARBEE ZRND B
Bunk EBPREHFETLERA
A MU AEABEFERKER 1835HE
FAFRL17H81712 21716574 -

for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no
later than 4:30 p.m. on 13 May 2014.

RS ()~ () DB RER A - EEh
ERBEERL

During the periods mentioned in sub-paragraphs (i) and (i) above, no
transfers of shares will be registered.

Eic]
REENRB 2 EBFBFEN GV B RE
[GREEREHR | —fH RZT—=F+=
A=+—H  ARRA#HIIRTRR ZEHEAR
AR®4,167,878,000 L(ZF—=F : ARK
4,726,256,000 7T) °

Reserves

Details of the movement in reserves during the year are set out in
the section “Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity” of the
consolidated financial statements. The Company’s reserves available
for distribution to shareholders as at 31 December 2013 were
RMB4,167,878,000 (2012: RMB4,726,256,000).

BHE
REE AFIHBHMERNE 257 H -

Financial Summary
A five-year financial summary of the Group is set out on page 257.

Directors
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of

BE
REEREAREDHUAATESIT :

this report, were as follows:

Executive Directors HITESE

Mr. Guo Zi Wen (chairman) RS (F/E)

Mr. Guo Zi Ning (vice chairman and chief executive officer) SRS (B EE R TTIHAREE)
Mr. Yang Zhong mREE

Ms. Xin Zhu ¥Rt

Non-executive Directors FHITES

Mr. Wu Jie Si (vice chairman) REREAE (FIEE)

(resigned on 20 May 2013)
Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky

(RZT—=FAA - +HEE)
RED o ERIATESEE
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Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ma Kwai Yuen (resigned on 8 July 2013)

Mr. Song Xian Zhong (resigned on 28 February 2014)
Mr. Tsui King Fai

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

Mr. Hu Jiang (appointed on 28 February 2014)

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Mr. Guo Zi Wen, Mr.
Guo Zi Ning, Ms. Xin Zhu and Mr. Hu Jiang will retire from office
by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election as
Directors at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all

of the independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Directors’ Service Contracts
Each of Mr. Guo Zi Wen and Mr. Guo Zi Ning has entered into

a service contract with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 3 April 2007, and which will continue thereafter
until terminated by either party thereto giving to the other party
not less than three months’ prior notice in writing. Ms. Xin Zhu has
entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of three
years with effect from 25 September 2009, and which will continue
thereafter until terminated by either party thereto giving to the other
party not less than three months’ prior notice in writing. Mr. Yang
Zhong has entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of three years with effect from 20 January 2011, and which will
continue thereafter until terminated by either party thereto giving to

the other party not less than three months’ prior notice in writing.

Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky was appointed as non-executive director
under a letter of appointment for a term of one year with effect from
24 February 2011, and which may be extended thereafter for such

period as the Company and Mr. Wolansky may agree in writing.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

Mr. Tsui King Fai has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company and is appointed for a specific term commencing from
13 September 2007 which may be extended for such period as the
Company and he may agree in writing. Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung
has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of one year with effect from 20 January 2011, and which may
be extended thereafter for such period as the Company and Mr.
Cheung may agree in writing. Mr. Hu Jiang has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of one year with effect
from 28 February 2014, and which may be extended thereafter for
such period as the Company and he may agree in writing.

All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at AGM of the Company pursuant to its Articles of Association. Apart
from the foregoing, none of the Directors has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts
Other than as disclosed in note 11 to the consolidated financial

statements, no contract of significance to which the Company, its
holding company or subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business
In order to eliminate competing business with the Group, on 20

September 2007, Mr. Guo Zi Wen, Mr. Guo Zi Ning and Ms. Jiang
Miner, spouse of Mr. Guo Zi Wen, entered into a deed of non-
competition with the Company.

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors are considered
to have any interest, either direct or indirect, in businesses which
compete or are likely to compete with the businesses of the Group
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

In compliance with the deed of non-competition signed on 20
September 2007, Mr. Guo Zi Wen, Mr. Guo Zi Ning and Ms. Jiang
Miner hereby make an annual declaration on his/her compliance with
the non-competition undertaking.
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Disclosure pursuant to Rules 13.18 and 13.21 of
the Listing Rules

The following information is disclosed pursuant to rules 13.18 and
13.21 of Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules.

On 8 August 2011, the Company as borrower, and Nanyang
Commercial Bank, Limited and Bank of China Limited, Macau branch
("Lenders"”) as lenders entered into a supplemental agreement to a
loan agreement dated 25 June 2010 in relation to a term loan facility
of HK$500,000,000 pursuant to which the Lenders agreed to grant
an additional term loan facility of HK$490,000,000 (“New Loan") and
as long as any part of the loan under the loan agreement and the
supplemental agreement remains outstanding, the Company shall

procure that:

(@) Mr. Guo Zi Wen and his spouse (“Guo Family"”) will beneficially
own the Company as single majority shareholder and the
Company shall remain at all times under the control of Guo

Family;

(b)  Mr. Guo Zi Wen will continue to act as the chairman of the board

of directors of the Company; and

(c) Ace Rise Profits Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands, will not charge or mortgage any of its
shareholdings in the Company in favour of any person, firm or
company (except for charges or mortgages in existence over

the shareholdings prior to the date of the loan agreement).

The maturity date of all outstanding amounts and interest accrued
under the supplemental agreement will be the date falling three and
a half years from the first drawdown date under the New Loan and in
no event later than 28th June 2015.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

A breach of any of the above specific performance obligations will
constitute an event of default under the loan agreement. As such, the
Lenders will declare the commitments under the abovementioned
agreements to be cancelled and/or declare all outstanding amounts
together with interest accrued and all other sums payable by the
Company to be forthwith due and payable.

Group’s Emolument Policy

The Company’s policy on determining the emolument payable to
Directors are based on the skill, knowledge, involvement in the
Company's affairs and the performance of each Director, together
with reference to the profitability of the Company, remuneration
benchmarks in the industry, and prevailing market conditions. To
enable the Remuneration Committee to give better advice on the
Group’s future remuneration policy and related strategies, the
Remuneration Committee has been advised of the Group’s existing
remuneration policy and succession plan, such as guidelines on
designing employees’ remuneration packages and related market
trends and information.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in
Securities

As at 31 December 2013, the interests of Directors and chief
executives of the Company and their associates in the equity or debt
securities of the Company or any associated corporation (within the
meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQO")) which (a)
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to the Model Code to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:
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Long position in Shares and Underlying Shares under Equity RAR B R ADT AT AERBERGN < 4f
Derivatives of the Company: B
Number of shares
RIFEE
Ordinary shares Underlying
LER shares Approximate
interests  interests held (under equity percentage
Name of Director/ held under by controlled  derivatives of Aggregate of the issued
Chief Executive personal name corporations  the Company) interest share capital
HERH
(RATRA BITRG
EX IETBAERA BAZ TR STEEEER f1£ T8) BER Bk
Director 2=
Mr. Guo Zi Wen BEXEHE - 1,280,843,563 16,432,000  1,297,275,563 46.62%
(Note 1)(fifiz1)  (Note 1)(H1z% 1)
Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky ~ (RE o BEETASL 4 - 293,175,563 - 293,175,563 10.54%
(Note 2)(Hi#2)
Mr. Yang Zhong BREE 650,000 - 4,249,429 4,899,429 0.18%
(Note 3)(#17#3)
Ms. Xin Zhu FhHat 4,249,429 - - 4,249,429 0.15%
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung RElSE A - - 318,707 318,707 0.01%
(Note 3)(#17#3)
Mr. Guo ZiNing (Note 4)  SBRFE%R4 (Hit4)
Notes: Hiat -
(1) These 1,280,843,563 ordinary shares are registered in the name of Ace Rise (1) 1,280,843,563/)k Z Sk L{Ace Rise Profits Limited

Profits Limited. Ace Rise Profits Limited is owned as to 90% by Joy Pacific
Group Limited (which in turn is wholly-owned by Sturgeon Limited) and as to
10% by Hopka Investments Limited. Sturgeon Limited is owned as to 50% by
Seletar Limited and 50% by Serangoon Limited, as nominees and trustees for
Credit Suisse Trust Limited as the trustee holding such interests on trust for
the beneficiaries of The Golden Jade Trust as at 31 Dec 2013. The Golden Jade
Trust is a discretionary family trust established under the laws and regulations of
Singapore. As at the date of this report, the beneficiaries of The Golden Jade Trust
are Mr. Guo Zi Wen and Ms. Jiang Miner.

Joy Pacific Group Limited has acquired options relating to 16,432,000 ordinary
shares of the Company in July 2013 which have right to purchase 16,432,000
ordinary shares in a specified future period from a third party.

(2) These 293,175,663 ordinary shares are registered in the name of Cathay Sino
Property Ltd., which is wholly-owned by Cathay Capital Holdings, L.P. Cathay
Capital Holdings, L.P. is managed by its general partner, Cathay Master GP, Ltd.
which in turn is owned as to 45% by Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky as trustee.
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Cathay Master GP, Ltd. E#2 - ifiCathay Master GP,
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Report of the Directors (continued)

3) Details of share options held by the Directors are shown in the section of “Share
Options”.

(4) Since April 2013, upon completion of a share transfer, Ace Rise Profits Limited
is owned as to 90% by Joy Pacific Group Limited (which in turn is wholly-owned
by Sturgeon Limited) and as to 10% by Hopka Investments Limited, a company
wholly-owned by Ms. Su Chaomei who is the wife of Mr. Guo Zi Ning, a director
of the Company. As a result, Mr. Guo Zi Ning has a deemed effective interest of
about 4.60% of the Company. Since Ace Rise Profits Limited is not a controlled
corporation of Mr. Guo Zi Ning or Ms. Su Chaomei under the SFO, no notice has
been be filed under the SFO by Mr. Guo Zi Ning in respect his deemed interest in
Ace Rise Profits Limited.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives
of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests or
short positions in the shares of the Company, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation
as recorded in the register which were required to be kept by the
Company under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
None of the Directors of the Company or their spouses or children
under the age of 18, had been granted any right to subscribe for the
equity or debt securities of the Company or any of its associated
corporations, or had exercised any such right for the year ended 31
December 2013.

Share Options
On 13 September 2007, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the "Scheme”). Details of the options outstanding for the

year ended 31 December 2013 were as follows:

= ()

B) EFFEBRIEZFIEER [FERE —F -

(4) B = E—=F/ [ REEZETHKE - Ace Rise Profits
Limitedd1 5 F£EEFR 2 7] (H£1Sturgeon Limited
PEEH) REFREBRAG] (AARGEFZ
FEIL A 2 FIBRHEE L T 2 BB A A]) 75
HI0%R10% ¥z o Bt - BHESLLERERET
KR E]H74.60 % 6 B #a o BIRRAce Rise Profits
Limited #R1% 85 R B B 15 A0 FF 281 2 5F 4 3 itE
EL AT FHEE - UL IR IEE S R R RO 2
SEAL WK FR R Ace Rise Profits Limited ik BHEH
CHRERIER L -

br Fai I FEE SN - RARIRESHEZITHA
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Report of the Directors (continued)

R ()
Number of share options
BREHE
Additional
options gained As at
Asat  Granted dueto Exercised  Lapsed 3
1 January during adjustments during during December Date of
2013 the year (Note1)  theyear the year 2013 grant
HREREN R=%-=
R=B-=% B BRE 1258
-A-B ERRH (WE1)  FriTE  Fh%¥ =t-8 RitiBH
Director
B3
Mr. Yang Zhong 2,000,000 - 124,714 - - 2124714 47412011
BREE Bk
mAmA
2,000,000 - 124,715 - - 2,124,715 41412011
_2——F
MmAMA
Ms. Xin Zhu 2,000,000 - 124,714 2,124,714 - - 18/1/2010
Tt (Note 2) —T-TF
(Hit2) -At/R
2,000,000 - 124,715 2,124,715 - - 18/1/2010
(Note 2) “T-ZF
(Hzt2) —A+NA
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Exercise
price

Exercise period  per share

s

1/4/2012-31112/2014
—E-C-F
MA-BZ

e i3
T-A=t+-H
1/4/2013-31/12/2014
—T-=F
mA—-BZ
—T-IF
T-A=t+-H
2010AR-31/12/2013

—E—FE

B8R
eE
HKS
BT

1.40

1.40

1.38

1.38

Adjusted
exercise
price per
share
(Note 1)
BRIEAE
e
(MHE1)
HK$

BT

1.299

1.299
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Number of share options
BREXA

Additional Adjusted
options gained As at exercise
Asat  Granted dueto Exercised  Lapsed Exercise  price per
1 January during adjustments during during December Date of price share
2013 the year (Note1)  theyear the year 2013 grant Exercise period per share  (Note 1)
HREREN R=%-= BRiER
RZB-Zf B BRE £+ BR  ARE
-A-B  EaRH (WE1)  FrRiTE  FRXR =t RHAH ke AEE (WE1
HK$ HK$
BT &

Director

2

Mr. Cheung Kwok 300,000 - 18,707 - - 318707 4142011 4/4/2011-3/4/2014 1.40 1.318

Keung Tk —F——%

RE®TE MAMA MAMBEE

“F-mF
MA=H
8,300,000 - 517,565 4,249,429 - 4568136

Notes: it -

(1) Upon completion of the distribution of special dividend in the form of scrip (1) REZF—=F+LAMAEURRERGHFETHK S
dividend shares on 4 July 2013, the exercise price of the share options granted JRIFRIRR B 17 - IRIFFZETENIR M B T B R
under the Scheme and the number of shares to be allotted and issued upon full PEITTIERTTIERE AR BN 5 6953 1 12 T 5 T 0 B0 [
exercise of the subscription right attaching to the outstanding share options were FITHRGE H ER = F— =F+ AAREZTE
adjusted on 4 July 2013 in accordance with the terms of the Scheme and the BNEF RS TR — E R AT A G ERER
supplementary guidance attached to the letter from the Stock Exchange dated 5 BEZE BRI BT B A i 75 75 5| T (B 75 ©
September 2005 relating to adjustments to share options.

2) The weighted average closing price of the shares immediately before the date on (2)  EREBREEIETT(E ARG 8 I F Y T 1E A

which the options were exercised was HK$1.60.

1.60;7T °
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Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares

Save as disclosed in the section “Share Options” above, at no time
during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to
any director or their respective spouses or minor children, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of
its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such rights in any

other body corporate.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests
So far as the Directors or the chief executives of the Company are

aware of, as at 31 December 2013, the shareholders, other than
the Directors or the chief executives of the Company, who had
interests or short positions in the shares or the underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company in
accordance with the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 in Part XV of the
SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein, were as follows:

Name Capacity
RREHE 54
Ace Rise Profits Limited™ Beneficial owner
BEnBEEA

Joy Pacific Group Limited™ Controlled corporation
EREEARQAD SAEHIA A
Credit Suisse Trust Limited™ Trustee
ZFEA

Mr. Guo Zi Wen!" Settlor/Beneficiary of
SRR AE The Golden Jade Trust
The Golden Jade Trust

ZHERTA/Z@®mA

Ms. Jiang Miner” Settlor/Beneficiary of
TR R 2 A0 The Golden Jade Trust
The Golden Jade Trust

ZHERTA/Z@mA
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FERRER
RARBEEHEIBTHRABMAE  R=F
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Number of shares Voting power
Underlying shares (%)
(approximate)

BROBE, RRE
HER 5 (%)
(BHEDL)

1,280,843,563 46.03%
1,297,275,563 46.62%
1,297,275,563 46.62%
1,297,275,563 46.62%
1,297,275,563 46.62%



Name

REREM

Seletar Limited™

Serangoon Limited™

Sturgeon Limited™"

Mr. Selwyn Donald Sussman®@ and@

Capital Asset Management, Inc.®

Trust Asset Management LLP®@and®

Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky?

R REEATRE L E®

Cathay Capital Holdings, L.P.@

Cathay Master GP, Ltd.?

Cathay Sino Property Ltd.?

Hopka Investments Limited

BRNERRATY

Report of the Directors (continued) l
=R (F)

Capacity Number of shares Voting power

Underlying shares (%)

(approximate)

=37} BREE, RORE

HER G (%)

(BHOBEDLL)

Controlled corporation 1,297,275,563 46.62%
ok NC]

Controlled corporation 1,297,275,563 46.62%
gz NC]

Controlled corporation 1,297,275,563 46.62%
Sl VNG

Controlled corporation/ 343,175,563 12.33%

Beneficial owner
ZEHATS
EmfaA
Controlled corporation 293,175,563 10.54%
ek NC]
Controlled corporation 293,175,563 10.54%
Stk NC]
Trustee 293,175,563 10.54%
A
Controlled corporation 293,175,563 10.54%
Sl NG
Controlled corporation 293,175,563 10.54%
ok NC]

Beneficial owner 293,175,563 10.54%
BEnEEA
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Report of the Directors (continued)

= ()

Notes:

(1)

2)

3)

The 1,280,843,563 shares are registered in the name of Ace Rise Profits Limited.
Ace Rise Profits Limited is owned as to 90% by Joy Pacific Group Limited
(which in turn is wholly-owned by Sturgeon Limited) and as to 10% by Hopka
Investments Limited. Sturgeon Limited is owned as to 50% by Seletar Limited
and 50% by Serangoon Limited, as nominees and trustees for Credit Suisse Trust
Limited as the trustee holding such interests on trust for the beneficiaries of The
Golden Jade Trust, as at 31 Dec 2013. The Golden Jade Trust is a discretionary
family trust established under the laws and regulations of Singapore. As at the
date of this report, the beneficiaries of The Golden Jade Trust are Mr. Guo Zi Wen
and Ms. Jiang Miner.

Joy Pacific Group Limited has acquired options relating to 16,432,000 ordinary
shares of the Company in July 2013 which have right to purchase 16,432,000
ordinary shares in a specified future period from a third party.

Since April 2013, upon completion of a share transfer, Ace Rise Profits Limited
is owned as to 90% by Joy Pacific Group Limited (which in turn is wholly-owned
by Sturgeon Limited) and as to 10% by Hopka Investments Limited, a company
wholly-owned by Ms. Su Chaomei who is the wife of Mr. Guo Zi Ning, a director
of the Company. As a result, Mr. Guo Zi Ning has a deemed effective interest of
about 4.60% of the Company. Since Ace Rise Profits Limited is not a controlled
corporation of Mr. Guo Zi Ning or Ms. Su Chaomei under the SFO, no notice has
been be filed under the SFO by Mr. Guo Zi Ning in respect his deemed interest in
Ace Rise Profits Limited.

The 293,175,563 shares are registered in the name of Cathay Sino Property Ltd.
which is wholly-owned by Cathay Capital Holdings, L.P. Cathay Capital Holdings,
L.P. is managed by its general partner, Cathay Master GP, Ltd. which in turn is
owned as to 45% by Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky as trustee, 45% by Trust Asset
Management LLP. Cathay Capital Holdings, L.P., Cathay Master GP Ltd., Mr. Paul
Steven Wolansky, Trust Asset Management LLP are all deemed to be interested
in the 293,175,663 shares under the SFO.

Capital Asset Management, Inc is the general partner of Trust Asset Management
LLP, which has 45% interest in Cathay Master GP, Ltd., the general partner of
Cathay Capital Holdings, L.P. As Mr. Selwyn Donald Sussman (“Mr. Sussman”)
is holding 100% interest in Capital Asset Management, Inc, Mr. Sussman, Capital
Asset Management, Inc. and Trust Asset Management LLP are all deemed to
be interested in the 293,175,563 shares held by Cathay Sino Property Ltd. The
remaining 50,000,000 shares are held by Mr. Sussman as his personal interests.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B8 [ 3 7 45 3] e 4 A B A 7]
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(1)

2)

3)

1,280,843,663 % % 17 LA Ace Rise Profits Limited.Z
F & Bad e R2013F 12 31 H, Ace Rise Profits
Limited A1 Z 3 £ [ B R 2 7] (Sturgeon Limited £
BB REZEREBRIADFIFFH90% K 10%
# 75 7 i Sturgeon Limited 8l /7 Seletar Limited %
Serangoon Limited 5I#5 550 % #z 1% J5Credit
Suisse Trust LimitedZ ({ ZA K ZFEA + AZFTA S
19 A The Golden Jade TrustB)Zas A #Z B 1571z °

The Golden Jade Trust BIRIZAT IIE 2 K ) ZAE8 T
ZE2RREEFT - RAHEHE - The Golden Jade
Trust,Z Za A BEFHF X EERTHTEL T ©

EFEFHERAGIR-FE—ZF+ AREEFBHA LA
16,432,000 % % B8 2 54E - E HERFTE A5
BRI 5 % = T7#% 8 16,432,000 I B /% ©

B =F— =10 ARIEEFETHE - Ace Rise Profits
Limited 1 Z F 5[ B R 2 7 (# Sturgeon Limited £
BHE)REZEREERA A (AR GJEFEIDFES
EZIBHREEL L2 EHREZ 2R D FFH90%
R10% #ms o Bt - SBFFESL WL RBHEET AL A]
#74.60 % BB o B17 Ace Rise Profits Limited
IRBFEH RAE RO I E S R E L2
ZHEEE - IR IR R E KO ZFE B A AR
BLE R Ace Rise Profits Limited #6158 A1 5.2 #2518

293,175,663 /1% % 17 IX Cathay Sino Property Ltd. .2
% & & i+ [l Cathay Sino Property Ltd. #1 Cathay
Capital Holdings, L.P. & & ## & ° Cathay Capital
Holdings, L.P. /B & i# & # A Cathay Master GP,
Ltd. EF% -+ [fjCathay Master GP, Ltd. Bl 1R » JER
BRI E ((EAFTA) K Trust Asset Management
LLP. 5 R HE B 45% R 45% 1E 25 - IR IF B 5 R 5
B (£ #I - Cathay Capital Holdings, L.P. - Cathay
Master GP, Ltd. - {REH o JERTATE 7 4 K Trust Asset
Management LLP #1877 293, 175,563 R 17 F

Capital Asset Management, Inc & Trust Asset
Management LLP.Z & i# & # A - i Trust Asset
Management LLP#¥ & Cathay Capital Holdings,
L.P.ZEFEEEA Cathay Master GP, Ltd. 45% Z 1
25 o #1R8Selwyn Donald Sussmant4E ([ Sussmanst
4 |)##55 Capital Asset Management, Inc 100% 2 #
in  SussmanZt4E - Capital Asset Management, Inc
J Trust Asset Management LLP#5#:78 A1 Cathay
Sino Property Ltd. #5752 293,175,663 R 17+ B
HEas © H 450,000,000 8 % 17/ Sussman 5t £ H
BIEN 7 o



Report of the Directors (continued)

Corporate Governance
Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report contained in this

annual report.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirm that the
Company has maintained the public float as required by the Listing
Rules as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual

report.

Auditors

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013 have
been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. A resolution for the re-
appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the Company’s auditors

for the ensuring year will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

There has been no change of the auditors of the Company since its

listing on the Stock Exchange.

On behalf of the Board
GUO Zi Wen

Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 March 2014
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Independent Auditor’s Report
%IV%&E@&*

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#F1+_-H=+—HI FF

Deloitte.
BE)

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA AOYUAN PROPERTY GROUP
LIMITED
Fh I [ i 5 DB A R 8 )

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Aoyuan Property Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 110 to 256,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2013, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 H e A B A 7]
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Independent Auditor’s Report

For the year ended 31 December 2013

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal
control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’'s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2013,
and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

17 March 2014
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Aok 1H i S At 2 T W R AR

For the year ended 31 December 2013

E=F—=F A1 —ALFE

+=—=

2013 2012
—E—=F —E——F
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB'000
Hiat ARMT T ARETT
Revenue EEE 5 5,729,267 3,943,205
Cost of sales SHERA (3,970,717) (2,756,665)
Gross profit E7 1,758,550 1,186,540
Other income and gains H AU A ez 7 115,034 102,138
Impairment loss on property, ME - BEREBREEE
plant and equipment 14 - (125,000)
Change in fair value of investment ~ REYEATEES
properties 16 84,991 183,310
Gain on disposal of a joint venture HE—FE &bz W - 858,179
Share of result of a joint venture it —FEEeEEER 17 (75) (7,404)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & — B A Bl W 36 20,682 =
Selling and distribution expenses SHE RN HRY (319,168) (236,736)
Administrative expenses THRX (350,885) (369,840)
Finance costs BERA 8 (44,048) (66,006)
Profit before tax BRAE AR A 9 1,265,081 1,525,181
Income tax expense FTisBiFX 10 (512,945) (692,537)
Profit and total comprehensive FEENREEBALE
income for the year 752,136 932,644
Profit and total comprehensive T ATEIEEE R
income for the year attributable to: ~ ZEUR AL :
— Owners of the Company —AREHEA 735,824 930,272
- Non-controlling interests — IR 16,312 2,372
752,136 932,644
Earnings per share BRE
Basic (RMB cents) AR (ARED) 13 27.42 35.57
Diluted (RMB cents) 8 (ANRED) 13 27.40 .57

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 H e A B A 7]




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

i T M BIR DL AR

At 31 December 2013 R-ZE—=4#+1+_—_H=+—H

2013 2012
—g—= —T——4F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
HiaF ARET T ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EMBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y%~ BB K& 14 415,336 375,826
Prepaid lease payments T ERIE 15 167,527 3,046
Investment properties wEMZE 16 2,419,399 1,949,434
Interest in a joint venture R—H& & EENER 17 4,925 -
Available-for-sale investment Al SRS 18 25,000 25,000
Deposits paid for acquisition Ui £ Hb 5 AR A
of land use rights BffiEe 19 - 1,705,435
Deferred tax assets RIETIRE EE 30 118,214 70,549
3,150,401 4,129,290
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Properties for sale AIESHEYSE 20 19,437,238 11,547,814
Deposits paid for acquisition Ui - b 55 P4
of land use rights 2fitze 19 1,063,890 1,116,940
Trade and other receivables B 5 R H M EWGR 21 1,063,515 735,421
Amounts due from non- FEUS BT N 7] 2 FEHER%
controlling shareholders AR FRIE
of subsidiaries 22 193,506 32,904
Amounts due from related parties JE U8 E N 75708 23 164,113 -
Tax recoverable Al B & 146,863 107,139
Prepaid lease payments A HERE 15 415 69
Restricted bank deposits PR HIERITER 24 1,899,230 762,481
Bank balances and cash RITHER LR ® 24 2,812,335 2,380,983
26,781,105 16,683,751
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEaE
Trade and other payables B 5 K& H M FER R 25 2,952,522 2,298,530
Deposits received for sale BhEHE W E ER
of properties 2EE 6,463,074 4,244,228
Amounts due to non-controlling  FEfIFE A T Z FEHEME
shareholders of subsidiaries fRER I 26 185,552 156,174
Amount due to a related party FE —MEEE R BIFRIE 27 68,002 =
Tax liabilities HEaE 1,488,462 1,205,957
Bank and other borrowings RITRE MK 28 2,411,281 1,674,685
Provisions e 29 1,394,404 525,032
14,963,297 10,104,606
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)

o BB R DL A% (A)

At 31 December 2013 R-ZE—=4#1+_—-H=+—H

2013 2012
—g—= —T——4F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
HiaF ARET T ARET T
NET CURRENT ASSETS mEEEFE 11,817,808 6,579,145
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEERMBAE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 14,968,209 10,708,435
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EMBEE
Amounts due to non-controlling  FEfIFE A T Z FEHEME
shareholders of subsidiaries fR R IR 26 - 45,000
Bank and other borrowings RITRE MK 28 5,741,996 2,497,952
Deferred tax liabilities BIETIEEE 30 331,790 311,472
Senior notes BERRE 31 1,370,567 750,326
7,444,353 3,604,750
7,523,856 7,103,685
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR RS
Share capital &N 32 26,347 25,015
Reserves G 7,192,699 6,926,320
Equity attributable to owners NAREB A
of the Company FE(LHER 7,219,046 6,951,335
Non-controlling interests PRI A 304,810 152,350
7,523,856 7,103,685
The consolidated financial statements on pages 110 to 256 were HNEIN0EEFE 266 B 2irA W mMEKRER

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
17 March 2014 and are signed on its behalf by:

Guo Zi Wen
B
DIRECTOR
EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE—=%#1+_-H=+—HI-FEF

Attributable to owners of the Company

RATERARL
Property Share Non-
Share Share  Statutory Special Other  revaluation opion~ Retaingd controling
captdl ~ premium leSGVe  TESEVE  feSenveS fesene  fesenve profits Total  interests Total
S ik

e RhRE  ZERE  BABE  EbRE  BREE BREEE  REWH s fEq )
RMB0O0  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB0O0  RMB'OO0  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMBOO0  RMB'O00  RMB'000
ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
(Notea ~ otebl  (Notec)  (Noted)
W) (hy) (W) ()

At 1 January 2012

Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year

Recognition of equity-settled
share-based payments

Transfer of share option reserve
upon forfeiture of share options

Contrbution from non-controlling
sharefolders of subsiciaries

Acquisttion of subsidiaries
(note 35(0)

Partial disposal of & subsidiary
[note 36}

Transfer out from other reserve
[note

Dividend recognised as
distribution note 12

W-F-—F-f-A

EnENREENALE

EBAER ARG
BERIHT
PR 2R
LERERR
KERE 2R
Rl

WA (HzE350b)

A mE—FNELA
(Kzt3s)
mEREEEL (Hic)

EDEDTZRE
(Biik12)

He 4123191 8,188 37341 4500  317% 820 1516962 6199182 695% 6228777

%02 w0 2317 9364

= = = = = = 1,079 = 1079 = 1079

_ - = - - = (5,161) 5,161 = - -

- . - - = - - - - 40000 40,000

- . - = = - - - - 36,000 36,000

- - - - - = = = = 4383 4383
- - - - (4500 - - - (4500 - (4500
- - - - - - - (13469 (13469 - [1346%)
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)

Ao £ A S ) o (A)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 #HZE—F—=F+_HA=+—HIFFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KAAFEARE
Property Share Non-
Share Share  Statutory  Special Other  revaluation option  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reseves  reseve reserve profits Total  interests Total
I FER

B&  ROEE  RBR  RARE  HERE  EHER BRERE REM 8 & it
RMB'O00  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'0O0  RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB000
ARETR  ARETn ARETn ARMIR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARMTn ARMTR AREfR

Notea) — (Note) ~ (Notee)  (Noted)
hda) () (hZe)  (BEd)

At 31 December 2012 H-E-TEt-f=1-H 5015 413191 86,188 357341 - 31713 4148 237717 6951335 152350 7,103,685
Profitand totel comprehensive  EAEARZERALE

income for the year - - - - - - - I%84  13%8U 16,312 152,136
Appropriation to statutory reserve AR - - 6,536 - - - - (6,536) - - -
Recognition of equity-setiled INREEENRD

share-based payments BERNR - - - - - - 118 - 118 - 118
Exeroise of share options fIiEnE B 6,653 - - - - 2.319) 4,367 - 4,367
Contributon from noncontrolling ~ MEBAHZEERRRES

sharefolders of subsiciaries - - - - - - - - - 31942 31942
Acquistion of subsidaries YL

(note 35(a)) (FiEE30(a) - - - - - - - - - 123500 123,500
Disposél of a subsidiary (note 36) ~ HE—FHBAA (i 36) - - - - - - - - - (19294 (19.294)
Dividend recognised as EREARZRE

distibution (nofe 12) (K1) 1209 212109 - - - - - (686008 (472598) - (47259)
At 31 December 2013 H-E-=Ft-f=1-H 26347 4,341,953 9724 3134 - 31713 1947 2360999 7219046 304810 7523856
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Notes:

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)

Aok T W 2 ) A (A)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE—=%#1+_-H=+—HI-FEF

The statutory reserve represents the amount transferred from net profit for the
year of the subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
(based on the subsidiaries’ PRC statutory financial statements) in accordance with
the relevant PRC laws until the statutory reserve reaches 50% of the registered
capital of the subsidiaries. The statutory reserve cannot be reduced except either
in setting off the accumulated losses or increasing capital.

Special reserve includes (i) revaluation difference of RMB21,210,000 arising
from the acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary during the year ended
31 December 2004 and (ii) the difference of RMB378,551,000 between the
aggregate of the nominal value of share capital and share premium of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group reorganisation and the nominal value
of the share capital issued by the Company as consideration for the acquisition
during the year ended 31 December 2007.

Other reserves represented the discount arising from acquisition of additional
interest in a subsidiary, &I REHESFR AR Guangzhou Nansha Aoyuan
Property Company Limited (“Guangzhou Nansha Aoyuan”) in 2006 from a then
related company in which Mr. Guo Zi Ning was a director of this then related
company in 2006 and this subsidiary became a wholly-owned subsidiary after this
acquisition.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group disposed of its 15% and
30% equity interests in Guangzhou Nansha Aoyuan to independent third parties
respectively and the discount arose from acquisition of additional interest from the
then related company has transferred out.

During the year ended 31 December 2007, revaluation surplus arising from
transfer of owner-occupied properties to investment properties at the date of
change in use amounted to RMB50,313,000 net of related deferred tax liability of
RMB12,578,000 was credited to property revaluation reserve.

B3 -

EE FERIEREREARAE ([ E ) ERER -
HER AR BIRCSZ RO BT B8 A BB B F AL A (RIBFE 2
RIZPBRAEMBHRR) BHER  ERATHRE
B AREMEARZ50% « EERBEB TFRD -
HEFAR R 8 RETHET IR E A INRRD o

HREERENBE_TTHNFEF+_A=+—HIF
B WE-—RMBAREIMEEMEEZEHEEA
K¥21,210,000 RNV BE=—TTLFF+_A=1+—
BIEFE - BIREESHEATIKEE B R B IR A AR D
w (B 2 BEERARA REAKEREMEIT ZRANH
Bz =5 AR # 378,551,000 7T °

Hi@EHIER 2T FRA—RERABERR (5
HESER-_ETFAZERMAERRES) I
BB REMEY REMESR AR ([EMNELE
B ) SRIME R FTE IR - WEB1R - ZHB AR
REEMBARR -

H’\E!zifgf_ﬁ-ﬁ—_ﬂ*ﬂ-*ﬁiiﬁé F AKE

E‘Jﬁh*wfﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ* R RE A 15% K
30% At - B E R AVRIE A R FEIME S E £ R
EEHE -

HE_TTHHE+_A=1+—HILFE  REHAR
AR ANESRENEMEENSHERBAA
K% 50,313,000 ¢ (FEMBRAABEEHRIEABARKE
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

A Blaeiiik

For the year ended 31 December 2013 &2 —

E—=F 1A=+ —HILFE

2013 2012
—E-=F —E——fF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
HaF ARETR ARET T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES R
Profit before tax BRAEATE R 1,265,081 1,625,181
Adjustments for: BTG
Change in fair value of investment properties REMENTEE (84,991) (183,310)
Finance costs RERKA 44,048 66,006
Share of result of a joint venture ElE—Ha8tEEE 75 7,404
Gain on disposal of a joint venture, HE—FHaE bR ke
net of expenses (f0RRF%) - (858,179)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RRBAR 2 K (20,682) -
Share-based payments MARR (D BEREZ (3 118 1,079
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 0E - BERSENE 33,901 30,503
Impairment loss on property, mE - BEREERERE
plant and equipment - 125,000
Write-down of properties for sale A E MR 24,645 29,236
Release of prepaid lease payments BREERERD 69 2,987
Reversal of accruals FESTEREE - (20,515)
Bank interest income RITFI BUA (21,748) (75,622)
Other interest income HeF SUA (16,663) -
Loss on disposal of property, HENE - BERRESE
plant and equipment 3,385 1,870
Unrealised foreign exchange (gain) loss REBINE () B8 (37,999) 14,686
Operating cash flows before movements in EEESHER KERETE
working capital 1,189,239 666,326
Increase in properties for sale AL E YN (6,210,857) (1,632,846)
Decrease (increase) in deposits paid for Wi T AR RRER D ()
acquisition of land use rights 1,606,455 (2,822,375)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 RE A UL (293,724) (63,186)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 REEMNFEM 443,453 946,930
Increase in deposits received for sale of properties &M D WELZ RS 21 2,632,695 654,099
Cash used in operations REfARe (632,739) (2,251,052)
Income taxes paid ERFEED (302,165) (300,791)
Interest paid BAFIE (834,985) (469,125)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES EEEE AR 58 (1,769,889) (3,020,968)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KBRS
Payments for investment properties REMENR (439,178) (393,681)
Advance to a jointly venture BNT-HEERE - (128,248)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (net of cash WEEHB AR (R FER &
and cash equivalents acquired) RESEEY) 35 (37,523) (93,499)
Advance to a partner of a project company B TF-RAER AR —RAES - (75,471)
Capital injection to a joint venture m—HEEEEETE (5,000) =
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEMZE  BER&E (36,625) (25,136)
Investment in available-for-sale investment RAREERE 215 E - (2,630)
Advance to non-controlling shareholders B FHB AR 2 IEERRER
of subsidiaries (192,426) (1,100)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

AR Bl iR AR (A1)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE—=%#1+_-H=+—HI-FEF

2013 2012
—E—=F —T——F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
HaF AR%ETR ARET T
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (continued) REEE(E)
Advance to related parties BN TEENF (77,014) -
(Increase) decrease in restricted bank deposits R RITER (L) HD (1,136,749) 2,183,465
Disposal of a subsidiary (net of cash and HE—RMB AR (MRALEZ
cash equivalent disposal of) ReRREEED) 36 (26,360) -
Proceeds from disposal of a joint venture HE—REEEMEHE - 1,422,001
Repayment from a joint venture —RaEbEZEN - 1,193,163
Repayment from a venturer on behalf —EREERT—HEERE
of a joint venture ioje - 286,679
Interest received BFIE 32,411 108,314
Proceeds on disposal of investment properties HEREYERMETE 1,152 10,258
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM INVESTING BBES (TR s e s
ACTIVITIES (1,917,312) 4,483,115
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEEE
New bank and other borrowings raised FERITREMER 6,344,473 3,955,596
Repayment of bank and other borrowings RERRITREMBER (2,269,898) (4,544,038)
Proceeds received from senior notes, BEZRAEHE (MR ETRX)
net of issue expenses 665,750 739,177
(Repayment to) advance from non-controlling (BR) B ARz R
shareholders of subsidiaries (228,597) 98,200
Advance from a related party —FRIEEA RN 68,002 -
Contributions from non-controlling shareholders FEIERRAR R AR 31,942 40,000
Proceeds from partial disposal of subsidiaries B HERBARPTEHE - 4,383
Dividends paid to owners of the Company ERAREEEARE (472,598) (134,698)
Proceeds from the issue of shares upon TR R TR PSR
exercise of share options 4,367 -
Repayment to the former shareholder BE—EHBARNIRRER
of a subsidiary - (105,845)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BREEDMERSFE 4,143,441 52,775
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH Re kA e SEMFEEM
EQUIVALENTS 456,150 1,514,922
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE Exgaz e
CHANGES (24,798) (11,167)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE RENMRE RREEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 2,380,983 877,228
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE REKRRERRESED -
END OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED BY BMRITER KRS
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 2,812,335 2,380,983
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General

The Company is a limited company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK"). The addresses of the
registered office and the principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information section to
the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Details
of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
43.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

Adoption of New And Revised International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)

The Group has applied the following new and revised IFRSs
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the
“IASB") for the first time in the current year.

Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2009-2012 Cycle, except for the

amendments |AS 1

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income
Amendments to IFRS 7 Disclosures-Offsetting Financial

Assets and Financial Liabilities

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 H e A B A 7]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013

Adoption of New And Revised International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10,
IFRS 11 and IFRS 12

Consolidated Financial Statements,
Joint Arrangements and
Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities: Transition Guidance

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

IAS 19 (as revised in 2011) Employee Benefits

IAS 27 (as revised in 2011) Separate Financial Statements

IAS 28 (as revised in 2011) Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures
IFRIC - Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production

Phase of a Surface Mine

Except as described below, the application of the new and
revised IFRSs in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

2.
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Adoption of New And Revised International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(continued)

IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements”

IFRS 10 replaces the parts of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements that deal with consolidated financial
statements and SIC Int-12 Consolidation-Special Purpose
Entities. IFRS10 changes the definition of control such that
an investor has control over an investee when a) it has power
over the investee, b) it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and c) has the
ability to use its power to affect its returns. All three of these
criteria must be met for an investor to have control over an
investee. Previously, control was defined as the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities. Additional guidance has been
included in IFRS 10 to explain when an investor has control over
an investee.

As a result of the adoption of IFRS 10, the Group has changed
its accounting policy in determining whether it has control over
the investee. The adoption does not change any of the control
mechanisms reached by the Group in respect of its involvement
of investees as at 1 January 2013.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013

Adoption of New And Revised International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(continued)

IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements”

IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures, and the
guidance contained in a related interpretation, SIC-13 Jointly
Controlled Entities-Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers,
has been incorporated in IAS 28 (as revised in 2011). IFRS 11
deals with how a joint arrangement of which two or more
parties have joint control should be classified and accounted for.
Under IFRS 11, there are only two types of joint arrangements-
joint operations and joint ventures. The classification of joint
arrangements under IFRS 11 is determined based on the
rights and obligations of parties to the joint arrangements by
considering the structure, the legal form of the arrangements,
the contractual terms agreed by the parties to the arrangement,
and, when relevant, other facts and circumstances. A joint
operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement (i.e. joint operators) have
rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating
to the arrangement. A joint venture is a joint arrangement
whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
(i.e. joint venturers) have rights to the net assets of the
arrangement. Previously, IAS 31 contemplated three types of
joint arrangements — jointly controlled entities, jointly controlled
operations and jointly controlled assets. The classification of
joint arrangements under |IAS 31 was primarily determined
based on the legal form of the arrangement (e.g. a joint
arrangement that was established through a separate entity
was accounted for as a jointly controlled entity).

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#F1+_-H=+—HI FF

Adoption of New And Revised International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(continued)

IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements” (continued)

The initial and subsequent accounting of joint ventures and
joint operations is different. Investments in joint ventures
are accounted for using the equity method (proportionate
consolidation is no longer allowed). Investments in joint
operations are accounted for such that each joint operator
recognises its assets (including its share of any assets jointly
held), its liabilities (including its share of any liabilities incurred
jointly), its revenue (including its share of revenue from the sale
of the output by the joint operation) and its expenses (including
its share of any expenses incurred jointly). Each joint operator
accounts for the assets and liabilities, as well as revenues
and expenses, relating to its interest in the joint operation in
accordance with the applicable Standards.

As a result of the adoption of IFRS 11, the Group has changed
its accounting policy with respect to its interests in joint venture
and re-evaluated its involvement in its joint arrangements.
The Group has reclassified the interest in a a jointly controlled
entity to interest in a joint venture. The investment continues
to be accounted for using the equity method and therefore
this reclassification does not have any material impact on the
financial position and the financial result of the Group.

IFRS 12 “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities”

IFRS 12 is a new disclosure standard and is applicable to the
entities that have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements,
associates and/or unconsolidated structured entities. In general,
the application of IFRS 12 has resulted in more extensive
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements (please see
notes 17 and 43 for details).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013

Adoption of New And Revised International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(continued)

IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement”

The Group has applied IFRS 13 for the first time in the current
year. IFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance for
fair value measurement and disclosures about fair value
measurements. The scope of IFRS 13 is broad: the fair value
measurement requirements applies to both financial instrument
items and non-financial instrument items for which other IFRSs
require or permit fair value measurements and disclosures
about fair value measurements, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-
based Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of IAS17 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value (e.g. net reliable value for the
purpose of measuring inventories or value in use for impairment
assessment purpose).

IFRS 13 defines the fair value of an asset as the price that would
be received to sell an asset (or paid to transfer a liability, in the
case of determining the fair value of a liability) in an orderly
transaction in the principal (or most advantageous) market at
the measurement date under current market conditions. Fair
value under IFRS 13 is an exit price regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. Also, IFRS 13 includes extensive disclosure
requirements.

IFRS 13 requires prospective application. In accordance with the
transitional provisions of IFRS 13, the Group has not made any
new disclosures required by IFRS 13 for the 2012 comparative
period (please see note 16 for the 2013 disclosures). Other
than the additional disclosures, the application of IFRS 13 has
not had any material impact on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

AR

S 5 R ek (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#F1+_-H=+—HI FF

Adoption of New And Revised International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income”

The Group has applied the amendments to IAS 1 Presentation
of Items of Other Comprehensive Income. The amendments
introduce new terminology for the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income and income statement. Under
the amendments to IAS 1, a “statement of comprehensive
income” is renamed as a “statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income” and an “income statement” is
renamed as a “statement of profit or loss" The amendments
to IAS 1 retain the option to present profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in either a single statement or in
two separate but consecutive statements. However, the
amendments to IAS 1 require additional disclosures to be
made in the other comprehensive income are grouped into two
categories: (a) items that will not be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss; and (b) items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions are
met. Income tax on items of other comprehensive income is
required to be allocated on the same basis-the amendments do
not change the option to present items of other comprehensive
income either before tax or net of tax. The amendments have
been applied retrospectively, and hence the presentation of
items of other comprehensive income has been modified to

reflect the changes.

Other than the above mentioned presentation changes, the
application of the amendments to IAS 1 does not result in any
impact on profit or loss, other comprehensive income and total
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) I

For the year ended 31 December 2013

Adoption of New And Revised International

Financial Repo
(continued)

rting Standards (“IFRSs”)

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised

IFRSs that have been

Amendments to IFRS 10,

IFRS 12 and IAS 27

Amendments to IAS 19
Amendments to IFRS 9

and IFRS 7

IFRS 9

IFRS 14

Amendments to IAS 32
Amendments to IAS 36

Amendments to IAS 39

Amendments to IFRSs

Amendments to IFRSs

IFRIC-Int 21

issued but are not yet effective.

Investment Entities’

Defined Benefit Plans: Employee
Contributions?

Mandatory Effective Date of IFRS 9
and Transition Disclosures®

Financial Instruments®

Regulatory Deferred Accounting®

Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities'

Recoverable Amount Disclosures for
Non-Financial Assets'

Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge Accounting’

Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2010-2012 Cycle?

Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2011-2013 Cycle?

Levies'

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014

8 Available for application - the mandatory effective date will be determined
when the outstanding phases of IFRS 9 are finalised

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, with limited
exceptions
8 Effective for first annual IFRS financial statements beginning on or after 1

January 2016
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h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#F1+_-H=+—HI FF

Adoption of New And Revised International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(continued)

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle

The Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle include
a number of amendments to various IFRSs, which are
summarised below.

The amendments to IFRS 2 (i) change the definitions of ‘vesting
condition” and ‘market condition’; and (ii) add definitions for
‘performance condition’ and ‘service condition” which were
previously included within the definition of ‘vesting condition’.
The amendments to IFRS 2 are effective for share-based
payment transactions for which the grant date is on or after 1
July 2014.

The amendments to IFRS 3 clarify that contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability should be measured
at fair value at each reporting date, irrespective of whether
the contingent consideration is a financial instrument within
the scope of IFRS 9 or IAS 39 or a non-financial asset or
liability. Changes in fair value (other than measurement period
adjustments) should be recognised in profit and loss. The
amendments to IFRS 3 are effective for business combinations
for which the acquisition date is on or after 1 July 2014.

The amendments to IFRS 8 (i) require an entity to disclose the
judgements made by management in applying the aggregation
criteria to operating segments, including a description of the
operating segments aggregated and the economic indicators
assessed in determining whether the operating segments
have ‘similar economic characteristics’; and (ii) clarify that a
reconciliation of the total of the reportable segments’ assets
to the entity's assets should only be provided if the segment
assets are regularly provided to the chief operating decision-
maker.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B R (A)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE—=%#1+_-H=+—HI-FEF

Adoption of New And Revised International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(continued)

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle
(continued)

The amendments to the basis for conclusions of IFRS 13 clarify
that the issue of IFRS 13 and consequential amendments to IAS
39 and IFRS 9 did not remove the ability to measure short-term
receivables and payables with no stated interest rate at their
invoice amounts without discounting, if the effect of discounting
is immaterial.

The amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 remove perceived
inconsistencies in the accounting for accumulated depreciation/
amortisation when an item of property, plant and equipment
or an intangible asset is revalued. The amended standards
clarify that the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner
consistent with the revaluation of the carrying amount of the
asset and that accumulated depreciation/amortisation is the
difference between the gross carrying amount and the carrying
amount after taking into account accumulated impairment
losses.

The amendments to IAS 24 clarify that a management entity
providing key management personnel services to a reporting
entity is a related party of the reporting entity. Consequently,
the reporting entity should disclose as related party transactions
the amounts incurred for the service paid or payable to the
management entity for the provision of key management
personnel services. However, disclosure of the components of
such compensation is not required.

The application of the amendments included in the Annual
Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle has not material effect
on the Group'’s consolidated financial statements.

2.

PRANFTR] B AR FT B PR Bt 75
FE)EJJ (I BB F R S5 2R 1)
&

—E-EEE_F-_FHHZERY

BHEERFENE (F)
BRI 5w E R E 135 2 EmA%E (&

RIAN) MRF - AR EUPR BA TS R S 2ERISE 13
SR A K B BR & 51 81| 55 39 5% K BB B 75
#&ﬁt&ﬁu 95)72@%2*1 ;.szﬂ %JE

(1@E£iﬁw = ITEK) ZLHHKJ%USUE
IR ZEEN -

Rt ERF 165 M EER &5 ERI
%387Ji(fzﬂ$)ﬂﬁﬂ%~?%¥* B B5 Ko 2%
wWHEBRENEERENGHER R
E /et RETZEAT ML -
RIETERMARTAEINNESEHRE
EREERAT —BRZTATARE - M
ZRFITE BT REAEREH K
Rt EBEREREEMER CEH

=

fl *24%5({%% A)EER - [
)\EHEF{ZEE

45

3

of HHo =
0 &8 & ¥

g\l\(l\'t

I

HE

N
H
e
it

\;
!

Sﬂkmﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁ%

¥
E|
3
=

%EAE PERIRBE
B2 NBEEALXZELEE -
A - BREHER D IIBARE -

R ZFFE_FT—_FHEHAZH
3%557}7}%#& SR FENE T BIEZERT

AW EBARE L GEWBHRRELSE
REE -

Annual Report 2013 =& —=4R4E$)

127



h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#F1+_-H=+—HI FF

Adoption of New And Revised International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(continued)

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle

The Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle include
a number of amendments to various IFRSs, which are
summarised below.

The amendments to IFRS 3 clarify that the standard does
not apply to the accounting for the formation of all types
of joint arrangement in the financial statements of the joint
arrangement itself.

The amendments to IFRS 13 clarify that the scope of the
portfolio exception for measuring the fair value of a group of
financial assets and financial liabilities on a net basis includes
all contracts that are within the scope of, and accounted for in
accordance with, IAS 39 or IFRS 9, even if those contracts do
not meet the definitions of financial assets or financial liabilities
within IAS 32.

The amendments to IAS 40 clarify that IAS 40 and IFRS 3 are
not mutually exclusive and application of both standards may be
required. Consequently, an entity acquiring investment property
must determine whether:

(@) the property meets the definition of investment property
in terms of IAS 40; and

(b) the transaction meets the definition of a business
combination under IFRS 3.

The application of the amendments included in the Annual
Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle will have a material
effect on the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE—=%#1+_-H=+—HI-FEF

Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
SEHK and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain properties that are
measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
IFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of IAS 17,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 or value in
use in IAS 36.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#F1+_-H=+—HI FF

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset

or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below:
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial

statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the

3.
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Company:
e has power over the investee; o  HAREEfIHKRER
o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its o E%ﬁi%}i&éﬁ%ﬁkﬁﬁ%ﬁTﬁ“ﬁ@

involvement with the investee; and
o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date of the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

3.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’'s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group's interests and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group losses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
has directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specific/permitted by applicable
IFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
IAS 39, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes
and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangement of the acquire or share-based
payment arrangement of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-
based Payment at the acquisition date (see the accounting
policy below); and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that Standard.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#F1+_-H=+—HI FF

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net
of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially
measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is
made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at their fair value or, when
applicable, on the basis specified in another IFRS.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination.

Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that
qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments made
against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained
during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one
year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances

that existed at the acquisition date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Investment in a joint venture

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of joint venture are
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
joint venture used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, investment in a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost (including acquisition related-cost) and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the joint venture. When the Group’s
share of losses of a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest
in that joint venture (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment
in the joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of that joint venture.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in a joint venture,
any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Investment in a joint venture (continued)

The requirements of IAS 39 are applied to determine whether it
IS necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group's investment in a joint venture. VWhen necessary, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 /mpairment of
Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with
its carrying amount, any impairment loss recognised forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from
the date when the investment ceases to be a joint venture, or
when the investment (or a portion thereof) is classified as held
for sale. When the Group retains an interest in the former joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in
accordance with IAS 39. The difference between the carrying
amount of the joint venture at the date the equity method
was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the joint
venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that joint venture on the same basis as
would be required if that associate or joint venture had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain
or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by
that joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies
the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Investment in a joint venture (continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in a joint
venture but the Group continues to use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the
gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with a jointly controlled entity,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the jointly
controlled entity are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the jointly
controlled entity that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods
are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the
following conditions are satisfied:
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

o the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the goods;

° the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

o the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

° it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the transaction will flow to the Group; and

o the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Specifically, revenue from sale of properties in the ordinary
course of business is recognised when the respective
properties have been completed and delivered to the buyers.
Deposits and instalments received from purchasers prior to
meeting the above criteria for revenue recognition are included
in the consolidated statement of financial position under current
liabilities.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it
is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest
income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

The Group's accounting policy for recognition of revenue from
operating leases is described in the accounting policy for leasing
below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land
(classified as finance lease) and buildings held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than properties under construction as described
below) are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional
fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group's accounting policy. Such properties
are classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
(other than properties under construction) less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an
investment property because its use has changed as evidenced
by end of owner-occupation, any difference between the
carrying amount and the fair value of that item at the date
of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in property revaluation reserve. On the
subsequent sale or retirement of the asset, the relevant
revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to retained
profits.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in the profit or loss.

Buildings under development for future owner occupied
purpose

When buildings are in the course of development for
production, or for administrative purposes, the amortisation of
prepaid lease payments provided during the construction period
is included as part of costs of buildings under construction.
Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less any
identified impairment losses. Depreciation of buildings
commences when they are available for use (i.e. when they are
in the location and condition necessary for them to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management).

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 5] 4 A B A 7]

3.

FESEEA)
Y3 - BB Rk ()

FEDRERIEEE (ERMERIN)
Z B R AT {58 PR 4 H P9 8 L AR AR AL
SREERER - GErAERFH - RIER
BERFESZARBFERR - AL
EAEET 28 2 E A IRTAEEDR -

W% BERREEEEEEATE
HRMBRERGELENE - BEKA
KREWE - ZHB WA FERKREEN
ETReEERRNEREANEBEEK
ARERENMEERFHET Rt - R
HENWEZEEIREERER 6§ H
EftFHESERBRARERN -

ME- BEAREREFHERIEL
BRARKENGZEHEEEZHEER
PELRRIER KRIBRIREEEL
ZAEI B R E N EM SRR EE L
BERME MHZRW SRR o

RRELG RN R EF

ERTFELEXMETRENZFAEB
B EERYRBENENEEREA
BHMAZRTEBTRAN—FRMD o
R P TIRK AR S BRI EEE
5B o 1B Rl RS (B2 PR a8
MIAEIEBHRE N AL LB EN M
B M AGRIEES ) RIABTINE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in
which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of
the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised
over the lease term on a straight-line basis except for those
that are classified and accounted for as investment properties
under the fair value model. When the lease payments cannot
be allocated reliably between the land and building elements,
the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease and
accounted for as property, plant and equipment.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties and/or land held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including properties under
construction for such purpose).

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at their fair values. Gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair value of investment property are
included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
the profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.

Impairment of tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss, if any.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Impairment of tangible assets (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, such that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.

Properties for sale

Completed properties and properties under development for
sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
includes the cost of land, development expenditure, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's accounting
policy, and other attributable expenses.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
properties for sale less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale.

The Group transfers a property from properties for sale to
investment property when there is a change of intention to
hold the property to earn rentals or/and for capital appreciation
rather than for sale in the ordinary course of business, which
is evidenced by the commencement of an operating lease to
another party. Any difference between the fair value of the
property at the date of transfer and its previous carrying amount
is recognised in profit or loss.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into (i) available-for
sale ("AFS") financial assets and (i) loans and receivables. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial
assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated or not classified as (a) loans and receivables, (b)
held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss.

Equity and debt securities held by the Group that are classified
as AFS financial assets and are traded in an active market are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Changes in the carrying amount of AFS monetary financial
assets relating to interest income calculated using the effective
interest method and dividends on AFS equity investments
are recognised in profit or loss. Other changes in the carrying
amount of AFS financial assets are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading
of investments revaluation reserve. When the investment is
disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain
or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss (see the accounting policy
in respect of impairment loss on financial assets below).

Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in profit
or loss when the Group's right to receive the dividends is
established.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price
in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled
by delivery of such unquoted equity investments, they are
measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the
end of the reporting period (see the accounting policy in respect
of impairment of financial assets below).
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade and other receivables, amounts due from non-
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, amounts due from
related parties, restricted bank deposits and bank balances
and cash) are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment (see the accounting policy
in respect of impairment of financial assets below).

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt
instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of the reporting period. Financial assets are considered to
be impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial assets, the estimated future cash flows of the
investment have been affected.

For AFS equity investment, a significant or prolonged decline in
the fair value of that investment below its cost is considered to
be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest and principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For certain of financial assets, such as trade receivables, that
are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in addition,
assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could
include the Group's past experience of collecting payments,
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio
past the average credit period of 60 days, as well as observable
changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate
with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of
the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return
for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be
reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited against the allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 72 —FE—=%#1+_-H=+—HI-FEF

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired,
cumulative gains and losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the
period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements entered
into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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‘ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3. FESTBEGE)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including bank and other borrowings,
trade and other payables and amounts due to non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries and amount due to a related
party) are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
Senior notes

Senior notes issued by the Company that contain both liability
and early redemption option (which is not closely related to the
host contract) are classified separately into respective items on
initial recognition. At the date of issue, both the liability and early
redemption option components are recognised at fair value.

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the senior
notes is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The early redemption option is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 72 —FE—=%#1+_-H=+—HI-FEF

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Senior notes (continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the senior
notes are allocated to the liability and early redemption
option components in proportion to their relative fair values.
Transaction costs relating to the early redemption option are
charged to profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs relating
to the liability component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability portion and amortised over the period of the senior
notes using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a
debt instrument.

A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group and not
designated at fair value through profit or loss is recognised
initially at fair value less transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issue of the financial guarantee contract.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contract at the higher of:

(i) the amount of the obligation under the contract, as
determined in accordance with |AS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and

(i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with
the revenue recognition policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset
to the extent of its continuing involvement and recognises an
associated liability. If the Group retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of
interest is treated as a government grant, measured as the
difference between proceeds received and the fair value of the
loan based on prevailing market interest rates.
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h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation. Provisions are
measured at the best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is
the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the
time value of money is material).

Provisions for land acquired are based on estimates of required
expenditure on the properties. The Group estimates its liabilities
for land acquired based upon detailed calculations of the
amount and timing of the future cash expenditure to perform
the required work, escalated for inflation, then discounted at a
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the liability such
that the amount of provision reflects the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
Provisions for land acquired are added to the cost of properties
for sale in the period in which the obligation is identified.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE— =%+ _-H=+—HI-FEF

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

o exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings
relating to assets under construction for future productive
use, which are included in the cost of those assets when
they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on
those foreign currency borrowings;

o exchange differences on transactions entered into in
order to hedge certain foreign currency risks (see the
accounting policies below); and

o exchange differences on monetary items receivable from
or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part
of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of
the monetary items.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e.
partial disposals of joint arrangements that do not result in
the Group losing significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.
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‘ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before tax” as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
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goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business BEMBE-

combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and interest
in a joint venture, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred taxation assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred
tax assets for investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when
the investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale. If the presumption
is rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for
such investment properties are measured in accordance with
the above general principles set out in IAS 12 (i.e. based on the
expected manner as to how the properties will be recovered).

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans and
state-managed retirement benefit schemes are recognised as
an expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Share-based payment arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

For grants of share options that are conditional upon satisfying
specified vesting conditions, the fair value of services received
is determined by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the date of grant and is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share option reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share
option reserve.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred
to retained profits.

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE— =%+ _-H=+—HI-FEF

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Determination of net realisable value of properties under
development for sale and completed properties for sale

Properties under development for sale and completed
properties for sale are stated at the lower of the cost and net
realisable value. Cost of each unit in each phase of development
is determined using the weighted average cost method. The
net realisable value is the estimated selling price less estimated
selling expenses and estimated cost of completion (if any),
which are estimated based on best available information. \Where
there is any decrease in the estimated selling price arising from
any changes to the property market conditions in the PRC, there
may be written down on the properties under development
for sale and completed properties for sale. As at 31 December
2013, the carrying amount of properties under development
and completed properties for sale amounted to approximately
RMB19,437,238,000 (net of write-down of RMB58,596,000)
(2012: carrying amount of RMB11,547.814,000, net of write-
down of RMB33,951,000).

CEIROLEECSE 3:0E -2

(&)

BHEMAFEEERREFER - HE
bt 2 BRI ER BRI &b M
B BB RS EZ FEER Wi
RIHER RARRBAEBAATE - BIEE
HIE TR MR K ER R AR o

fhEr NABE RN ERRIR

AT ERREHREBARENEERR
RAFTTRBEAENEMBERRIE &
ARz MERAEEHEERAGBNR
EER T — B BRFEERELRERED
EARR

BETHHEEERZYRR TRHEC R
THFH o BT FE

A HECEMERAIHEEERTY
ETRERAR TR FEUBREKEA
E)AR - REBERBERNSELK
AT ERMETLGKAEETE - Al #3H
SFETAGEFTEBREF HER R
STRIKA(MEB)TE - WRERD]
FERERHEDBET o WP BENMETS
R0 B AE (R B BB AT S B T R&
SERAIHBEECEMERATHRHED
BTYEERMR - R_T—=F+=
A=+—R At EEEWERA
HEEERIVENEREERNAR
#519,437,238,000 7t ( #0 B #B A R #
58,596,0007C) (—ZF— —4 : BREEA
R#11,5647,814,000 7t (FOBRHURA R B
33,951,0007T)) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of hotel assets included in property, plant and
equipment

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment
are reviewed annually and adjusted for impairment in
accordance with IAS 36 whenever certain events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amount of the assets is the higher
of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing fair
value less costs to sell, a combination of the market approach
and depreciated replacement cost approach was adopted in
assessing the land portion and the buildings structures of the
hotel, respectively, taking into account of discount for vacancy
and cost to sell the hotel property. Details of the recoverable
amount calculation for property, plant and equipment are
disclosed in note 14.

Land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. However, the
implementation and settlement of the tax varies amongst
different tax jurisdictions in various cities of the PRC and certain
projects of the Group have not finalised their land appreciation
tax calculations and payments with any local tax authorities
in the PRC. Accordingly, significant judgment is required in
determining the amount of Land appreciation and its related
income tax provisions. The Group recognised the LAT tax based
on management’s best estimates. The final tax outcome could
be different from the amounts that were initially recorded, and
these differences will impact the income tax expense and the
related income tax provisions in the periods in which such tax is
finalised with local tax authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE— =%+ _-H=+—HI-FEF

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Income taxes

As at 31 December 2013, a deferred tax asset of RMB81,187000
(2012: RMB35,892,000) in relation to unused tax losses has
been recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
on the tax losses of RMB363,190,000 (2012: RMB423,234,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The
realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases where
the actual future profits generated are less than expected, a
material reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which would
be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such a
reversal takes place.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

The investment properties of the Group are measured at fair
value for financial reporting purposes. The board of directors
of the Company has set up a property valuation team, which
is headed up by the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for
fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an investment property, the
Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
third party qualified property valuers to perform the valuation.
The property valuation team works closely with the qualified
external property valuers to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model. The Chief Financial Officer
reports the property valuation team'’s findings to the board of
directors of the Company half a year to explain the cause of
fluctuations in the fair value of the assets.

CEIROLEECSE 3:0E -2

(%)
A THAEENEZRIR ()
g

N-ZZE—=F+-_A=+—H ' B@X
gARIEEIB AR 81,187,000 T (=&
——% : AR# 35,892,000 7T) HIELER
BEEERAEBRE BB IK AR AR
TR o B A AR 2R g I 2ROR /9 TS BT TEORI M
37 4% B 7 18 &5 18 A K 6 363,190,000 7T
—E——F : AR¥423,234,0007T) f#
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=#1+_—H=+—HI FZF

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes
(continued)

The Group uses valuation technigues that include inputs that are
not based on observable market data to estimate the fair value
of investment properties. Note 16 provide detailed information
about the valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions
used in the determination of the fair value of investment
properties.

Provision for land acquired

The provision for land acquired have been determined by the
directors based on their best estimates. The directors of the
Company estimated this liability for land acquired based upon
detailed calculations of the amount and timing of future cash
flows spending on the properties development, escalated
for inflation, then discounted at a discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the liability, such that the provision reflects
the present value of the costs expected to be required to settle
the obligation. However, in so far as the effect on the land and
properties development becomes apparent in future periods,
the estimate of the associated costs may be subject to change
in the near future. The provision is reviewed regularly such that it
properly reflects the present value of the obligation arising from
the current and past properties development. The movement of
provisions for land acquired during the year is set out in note 29.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 72 —FE—=%#1+_-H=+—HI-FEF

Revenue

The Group is principally engaged in the property development
and property investment in the PRC. An analysis of the Group's
revenue for the year is as follows:

E -

AEEEZNTEREHEEREDE
RERD - AEERFRANEXREOMN
LN

2013 2012
—E—=F —E——F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARETIT

Sales of properties SHEWZ
Rental Income AW A
Hotel, consulting and BE - BERERKA

management income

Segment Information

Information regularly reported to the Group's chief executive
officer (the chief operating decision maker) for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of performance focuses
on the type of operation. The Group’s reportable and operating
segments under IFRS 8 are as follows:

Property development - development and sale of properties
Property investment - lease of investment properties

Others - hotel operation, provision of consulting and
management services

5,599,797 3,865,079
48,706 31,211
80,764 46,915

5,729,267 3,943,205

DEER
ROBERIEEENE MAERETT
BB (FEEERERE) EHBENE
BB R EBAT - ANE B R IE R A
IR ELERE 8 FRA Al s R EEH E
T

MEBR -BRIEEYE
MERE - HEREYE

Hith— &85 - SRR MBI R
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A. Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
BE e A B R M R (48

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=#1+_—H=+—HI FZF

6. Segment Information (continued) 6. DIER(E)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results YT EREBIRAHRERLED LS

by reportable and operating segments: ) A s T s AT

Year ended 31 December 2013
BE-ZE-—Z=H+=-A=+—HLFE
Property Property

development investment Others Total
MERR MERE Hith a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%T R ARETR ARETR ARET R
External segment revenue INEDBEXE 5,599,797 48,706 80,764 5,729,267
Segment profit (l0ss) e (FE) 1,186,494 105,346 (32,071) 1,259,769
Other income and gains H e A R g 115,034
Unallocated corporate expenses ROBLERT (65,599)
Finance costs BEMA (44,048)
Share of result of a joint venture EE—HaEtEEE (75)

Profit before tax BREE AR A 1,265,081

Year ended 31 December 2012
HE—ET——F+-A=+—HItFE

Property Property
development investment Others Total
B MERE Ht Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFTT
(restated) (restated)
(Z51) (&%)

External segment revenue IMED = 3,865,079 31,211 46,915 3,943,205

Segment profit (l0ss) A EbRF (BE) 717,445 190,363 (188,405) 719,403

Other income and gains Hi A R 102,138

Unallocated corporate expenses ROBEERT (81,129)

Finance costs BERA (66,006)

Share of result of a joint venture [ElE—fRASREEE (7404)

Gain on disposal of a joint venture HE-—HAELE 2 K 858,179

Profit before tax BRAATR A 1,625,181

Notes: it -

(@) There is no intersegment revenue in both years. (a) MEE R B NEN D BN & KA -

(b) The segment measurement of the unallocated corporate expenses has (b) @2?&72—:$+ A=+—HIL&E K
been changed during the year ended 31 December 2013. Therefore, the AECERIZHMBAECEEEH -
comparative figure of unallocated corporate expenses and segment profit I HE=FT—=F+=-A=1+—BLFE
under property development segment for the year ended 31 December ZYEBRRSIE T RS EELERT K5 EL
2012 has been restated so as to conform to current year's presentation. w2 BB FEREIINFEAFEZ2W
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 #HZ _—F—=F+_A=+—HIFFZE

Segment Information (continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating
segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in note 3. Segment results represent the profit
generated or loss incurred by each segment without allocation
of central administration costs including directors’ salaries, head
office operating expenses, bank interest and other income,
finance costs, share of result of a joint venture and gain on
disposal of a joint venture. This is the measure reported to
Group’s chief executive officer for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
by reportable and operating segments:

Segment assets

2 ERE R ()

AlHREREED AR AT BRI TS
PRt ) AR B A & 5T R ARR] » D H
FEREVBMEERNENIELENE
B YARPRITEEA(BREESRH
T EERER  RITHEREMIK
A BERK - B — F'ﬁ/\%ﬁ%%ii
REE—HaEbE W) EHD

BT RETERD EE&%FEﬂEﬁﬁI‘VK
SETRAERBENTTX

AT RASEEIZ A HE MEED & D
MEERBED :

THEE
2013 2012
—E—=F T
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETIT

Property development LI

Property investment M E

Others HAth

Total segment assets DESEELREE

Unallocated assets: ROEE :
Available-for-sale investment AR ERE

Interest in a joint venture

Deferred tax assets RIENIBE B
Tax recoverable A E e
Restricted bank deposits SR FIRITER
Bank balances and cash RITEBR LIRS
Others A
Consolidated assets mEEE

R—RAEERNER

21,930,148 15,142,817
2,461,676 1,994,928
191,241 147639
24,583,065 17,285,384
25,000 25,000
4,925 =
118,214 70,549
146,863 107,139
1,899,230 762,481
2,812,335 2,380,983
341,874 181,505
29,931,506 20,813,041
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- Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

6. Segment Information (continued) 6. DIER(E)
Segment liabilities PHEE
2013 2012
—E—= —E—_F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARBTT

Property development L 10,977,354 7.165,673
Property investment MFERE 47,659 34,665
Others E A 36,268 27230
Total segment liabilities SEBEREARE 11,061,281 7227568
Unallocated liabilities: AROLEIE
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EA AR 8,153,277 4,172,637
Senior notes BAEZEE 1,370,567 750,326
Tax liabilities JESTAR IR 1,488,462 1,205,957
Deferred tax liabilities RIETIE B E 331,790 311,472
Others EAth 2,273 41,396
Consolidated liabilities e atE 22,407,650 13,709,356
For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and MERDIAEE RED S ED B EIRMm

allocating resources among segments:

il

MBRERENRERRENREE

o all assets are allocated to reportable and operating

segments other than interest in a joint venture, AFS DED - MEWIEB R D BB —
investment, deferred tax assets, tax recoverable, MegErtFEmEzR  AfHEER
restricted bank deposits, bank balances and cash and & RERIEEE  JREFHE
other assets not attributable to respective segment. ZREERITER  RITEBR LIRS
VA R EoAth & EE BRI ©
e all liabilities are allocated to reportable and operating o FEaEBESKER HRE REE
segments other than tax liabilities, bank and other DE - EIWIEBF D BRI EN
borrowings, senior notes, deferred tax liabilities and other BIE - RO LREMED BEE
liabilities not attributable to respective segment. B ECHEaGELREME &R
A o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013

I E— A= —HILFE

6. Segment Information (continued) 6. DEHER(E)
Other information HiER
Year ended 31 December 2013
BE-ZR-ZE1t-A=+-HLEE
Property Property
development investment Others Unallocated Total
NEBR  NERE Hit RO &3
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TRE ARMTR AR®Tr ARETR AR%Tx
Amounts included in the measure of ERGEAT BT EEL
segment profit or loss or segment assets: PHEERGTARE
Addition of property, plant and equipment % - BEREEAE 9,257 - 3,669 23,699 36,625
Addition of investment properties REMERE - 439,178 - - 439,178
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment % - BEREENE 4,838 - 14,131 14,932 33,901
Release of prepaid lease payments BNREFNERE 69 - - - 69
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment &Y  FiE Lk EEE 380 - 3,005 - 3,385
Change of fair value of investment properties RENFATEES - 84,991 - - 84,991
Wiite-down on properties for sale AT SHEME MR 24,645 - - - 24,645
Year ended 31 December 2012
HE-E——£+-A=f-AI5E
Property Property
development  investment Others  Unallocated Total
NEERE  DERE At AHE Al
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETE
Amounts included in the measure of ERGEAT BT EEL
segment profit or loss or segment assets: PHEERGTARE
Addition of property, plant and equipment W% BERRERE 2421 - 16,604 6,111 25,136
Addition of investment properties REMERE - 393,681 - - 393,681
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment % - BEREENE 3,468 - 13,677 13,458 30,503
Release of prepaid lease payments BNREFHERE 2,987 - - - 2,987
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment  #1% - BERRERESE - - 125,000 - 125,000
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  £E¥E « BE LRRESE 110 - 1,655 105 1,870
Change of fair value of investment properties REMFATES - 183,310 - - 183,310
Write-down on properties for sale AT E R 29,236 = - - 29,236
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

6. Segment Information (continued)

Geographical information

The Group’s operation and location of non-current assets are in

the PRC only.

Information about major customers

There is no individual customer who contributed over 10%

of the total revenue of the Group during the years ended 31

December 2013 and 2012.

2 ERE R ()

AEEEEWHRIFERBDEEMIHER

R -

FRTEFFNER

REE-—_ =K -_ZFT——F+_A
=+—HLEFE BEFENZSER

SEMNBLEREBRER10% °

7. Other Income and Gains Halg A R Uk EF
2013 2012
—E—=fF —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREETTT
Other income and gains comprises of: HALRA Rz 8 1E
Exchange gain b 5 Wz 37,999 -
Bank interest income HITHEHA 21,748 75,622
Dividend income from available- A EREREIA
forsale investments 2,800 -
Reversal of accruals (note a) e BRI (MisEa) - 20,515
Other interest income HAbFLEHA 16,663 =
Others (note b) H b (fizED) 35,824 6,001
115,034 102,138
Notes: iz :
(@  The accrual of construction costs outstanding over 3 years were not (@) HBBA=FEAXNATERRIEK AN ERECE

required to pay and reversed as other income accordingly.

(b) Others mainly represent the government subsidy received at
RMB25,000,000 (2012: nil) during the year ended 31 December 2013.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE— =%+ _-H=+—HI-FEF

Finance Costs 8. BEMRA
2013 2012
—E-=fF —ET——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARBFT
Interest on: AT EIERFE -
Bank and other borrowings RIT R E M fE X
— wholly repayable within five years —ARBFANZREE 625,618 440,667
- not wholly repayable within five years —HERTFANZHERE 15,741 28,458
Senior notes (note 31) BEZRE (MFE31) 189,979 11,756
Amounts due to non-controlling RGeS S S
shareholders of subsidiaries (note 26) (P35 26) 16,998 3,234
Total borrowing costs EEEREHE 848,336 484,115
Less: amounts capitalised to properties B BT IHE TR
under development for sale MEENMN SR (804,288) (418,109)
44,048 66,006

Interest capitalised arose on the general borrowing pool of

the Group was calculated by applying a capitalisation rate of

approximately 10.80% (2012: 8.26%) per annum to expenditure

on the qualifying assets.

BRMEF BT EAREBH —RIERLE
MEL RAREENRAIMNENE
RFGEI080%(—BE——F: B85
8.26%)5tE °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 &2 —

E—=F 1 A=F—HILFE

9. Profit Before Tax 9. BRBIAIGEF
2013 2012
=F_=4F 2
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARETTT
Profit before tax has been arrived BRBL AR TR IBR (GEA)
at after charging (crediting): LA TR&IBBEME :
Auditors’ remuneration ZERI < 3,580 3,000
Directors’ emoluments EEGn 13,306 15,657
Staff salaries ET%)® 226,448 221,193
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R A 2R 10,342 10,224
Total staff costs BETRA 250,096 246,974
Less: amounts capitalised to properties R BRI EEERYE
under development for sales ER RS (40,069) (22,118)
210,027 224,856
Release of prepaid lease payments A ERERE 69 2,987
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% - = KR ETE 33,901 30,503
Loss on disposal of property, HEYE « BE KB EBE
plant and equipment 3,385 1,870
Rental expenses in respect of rented BRELEHED HHETF
premises under operating leases MEFRZ 20,604 12,087
Gross rental income in respect of BB EBBANAHESIA
investment properties (48,706) (31,211)
Less: direct operating expenses from B RREREERSWARNKE
investment properties that generated MENERLERT
rental income during the year 16,583 10,374
(32,123) (20,837)
Impairment loss of property, M - BE REEREEE
plant and equipment - 125,000
Write-down on properties for sale A EH & ) S M0R 24,645 29,236
Exchange (gain) loss fE 5 (Meas) 518 (37,999) 14,686

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 H e A B A 7]




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) I
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE— =%+ _-H=+—HI-FEF

10. FREHBX

10. Income Tax Expense

2013 2012
=T _=F —E——fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETT

Income tax expense recognised comprises of: B ERZFTSHAS 2IE :

Current tax: BIHAREIE -

Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") EMER ([EEMER]) 340,249 292,243
Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT") TR ER ([ 3B ER 1) 192,701 143,398
532,950 435,641
Deferred tax (note 30) EIERIE (727 30) (20,005) 156,896
Income tax expense for the year FRAEHRX 512,945 592,637

Under the Law of the People’'s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law"”) and Implementation Regulation of
the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1
January 2008 onwards.

Under the Provisional Regulations of the People’s Republic
of China on Land Appreciation Tax (the “LAT Provisional
Regulations”) and Implementation Regulation of the LAT
Provisional Regulations, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries
is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales of
properties less deductible expenditures including cost of land
use rights and all property development expenditures.

Under the EIT Law, withholding income tax is imposed on
dividends relating to profits earned in year ended 31 December
2008 onwards to foreign investors for the companies established
in the PRC. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in
the consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary
difference attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC
subsidiaries amounting to approximately RMB2,296,117000
(2012: RMB1,487796,000) as the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. The Group has provided deferred tax
charge amounting to approximately RMB30,000,000 (2012:
RMB15,000,000) related to the undistributed profit of PRC
subsidiaries based on the Group's dividend plan.

BiEREAREKMBECEMRERE(D
ERERED REEMEREB K
Bl RFENBARMNMEE =TT N\F
—H—B®BAE25% °

REBEHEARLMBE LR ERETTHPI
([ LHIBERE TP ) R+ IR ERE
TTIERPIEEARR) - PEIFBARABRETD
%+ M EEIRE (BIEE YRS SRR
HRFA (BRI ERERARAEY
EHRFAX)RERE30% E£60% T F5

B o
Ea

RIBBEMSEHE - INEEZRE BN
B ARBEZ —_ZEZNFE+ A
=+ —HIEFERERA A - EAHE
EBSHBWENMAEH - AAE
EREAIEHPENE QR Z 2505 F
EEMERERENELORER MAR
ARERZEER=Z2EE T2 &O
WMEEH BT RRZEREHHOAR
#2,296,117,000c( = & — = F : A
R #%1,487,796,000 7T ) IR 4R & 81 75 3R
RANFTREE ASEBEEREBERER
SEREFESLEZFEMB ARG RD
s MR EER B HBEOAR
#30,000,000 (=T ——F: AR
15,000,000 7T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

10. Income Tax Expense (continued)

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in
the consolidated financial statements as the Group’s income
neither arises in, nor is derived from, Hong Kong.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before tax per consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

10. FRERiRx (&)

HRAEERALFERBEELLE
£ BT BERGEEVBERRAELEE
PSR -

FANAEHAXEGA R MBS
et R AV BR T AR AE BR AT

2013 2012
—E-=F —T——fF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARETTT
Profit before tax BRA AT & A 1,265,081 1,525,181
Tax charge at domestic tax rate of 25% RT3 25% 7T E 2 B 316,270 381,295
Tax effect of share of result of a joint venture  [EIF—HA L DEEE 2B E 19 1,851
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TAMBRZ M2
for tax purpose 54,292 71,079
Tax effect of income that are not BARMRANT SR 2
taxable for tax purpose (6,860) (10,549)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERTIEE BN B2 17588 568}, 83
Tax effect of reversal of tax losses SERTHER T IR 1E 2 Bl &Y
previously recognised B - 54,064
Utilisation of tax losses previously B S BIARRER < T IB B 18
not recognised (33,414) (4,851)
LAT provision THIEER R 192,701 143,398
Tax effect of LAT THIEERNH B E (48,175) (35,849)
Deferred tax effect of LAT on revaluation REMES G T HIEETH
of investment properties EER B2 5,524 49,248
Effect of different tax rate of gain on HE—HEELFE 2 HER
disposal of a joint venture (note) TR EZE () - (122,100)
Deferred tax on undistributed earnings BB A RIA D RER 2 EEFH B
of PRC subsidiaries 15,000 5,000
Income tax expense for the year FABERS 512,945 592,637

Note: It represents the effect of different tax rate on the taxable amount of gain
on disposal of a joint venture which was subject to EIT rate of 10%.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 H e A B A 7]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2013 B2 —FE—=4#1+_H=+—HI-FF

-

11. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and Employees’ 11. 2 FETHAERESHH

Remuneration €
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors and the ENSENSEERETETHRAENT
chief executive were as follows: Ban T :
Salaries and Incentive  Share-bhased
Fees allowances bonus payments Total
(note)
MR A
re HeREH REEA AL i
(MizE)

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTR  ARWTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARETR

Year ended 31 December 2013 HE-Z-=£+Cf

St-HLEFE
Executive director: BITES
Guo Zi Wen DX - 2,316 800 - 3,116
Guo Zi Ning Lifea - 2,156 800 - 2,956
Xin Zhu I - 1,996 800 - 2,796
Yang Zhong A - 1,996 800 118 2,914
Non-executive director: FTES:
Wu Jie Si RER
(resigned on 20 May 2013) (R=E-=FRA-THE{) - 333 - - 333
Paul S. Wolansky RE « ERHE - 48 - - 48
Independent non-executive director: B FFH{TES :
Song Xian Zhong FRoL 184 - 96 - 280
Ma Kwai Yuen SEE
(resigned on 8 July 2013) (RZE-=FtAN\REE) 13 - 96 - 209
Tsui King Fai #5E 233 - 9% - 329
Cheung Kwok Keung SRl 229 - 9% - 325
759 8,845 3,584 18 13,306
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

11. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and Employees’

11. EE - FETHAERESMH

Remuneration (continued) £ (88)
Salaries and Incentive Share-based
Fees allowances bonus payments Total
(note) IRIDR
e TekEl KB b PANES fit
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT AEBTT ARBTT ARETT
Year ended 31 December 2012 BE-E--#12f
St-BLEE
Executive director: HES:
Guo ZiWen RN - 2,351 668 - 3,019
Guo ZiNing Pz - 2,189 636 - 2,825
Hu DaWei HAA
(resigned on 14 August 2012) (R=B——F\A+EHAEE) - 422 - 129 551
Lam Kam Tong HRE
(resigned on 22 May 2012} (R=E-—£FA-+-ABM) - 1,143 - 129 1,272
Xin Zhu F - 2,027 590 129 2,746
Yang Zhong Ba = 2,027 7 693 3,491
Non-executive director: FHTES
Wu Jig Si RER - 811 - - 811
Paul S. Wolansky 1RA 0 BRETE - 49 - - 49
Independent non-executive director:  BUIFHTES
Song Xian Zhong REH 162 - - - 162
Ma Kwai Yuen SEE 222 - - - 222
Tsui King Fai #5E 206 - - - 206
Cheung Kwok Keung SRl 203 - - - 203
793 11,019 2,665 1,080 16,557

Note: The incentive bonus is determined as a percentage of the contract sales of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012.

Mr. Guo Zi Ning is also the Chief Executive of the Company and

his remuneration disclosed above includes those for services

rendered by him as the Chief Executive.

No directors waive any emolument in the current year or the

prior year.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited H [ 5 [ 3 78 45 B k43 A R A 7]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE— =%+ _-H=+—HI-FEF

11. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and Employees’

Remuneration (continued)
Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Group, four (2012: four) were directors and the Chief
Executive of the Company whose emoluments are included
in the disclosures in this note above. The emoluments of the
remaining one (2012: one) individual was as follows:

11.

B TETBRAEBRESH
% (&)

EEME (&)

AEBAGERTMALS  OF(=ZF
——F NR)AARREBSRES(T
HBAB  HEZMEEHR U EAK
FeoHEB—Z(ZZ——F: —F) At
ZHMEemT

2013 2012

—_E—=F —E——F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARET T AREETFIT

Salaries and allowances Fre KoERL 2,500 2,500

The emolument for this individual was within the band of
RMB2,000,001 to RMB3,000,000.

ZB AT E RN AR 2,000,001 7T
Z= AR# 3,000,000 T2 S EIA o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

AR

S 5 R ek (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

12.

Dividends 12. RE
2013 2012
—E—=F —E——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETT
Dividends, recognised as distribution RS - HBREBFADIK :
during the year:
2012 final - RMB5.20 cents (2012: 2011 ——HFRPA-FRARKES205
final dividend RMB5.15 cents) per share  (ZZ——4F : —T——F K
REFRARKES 155 136,006 134,698
2012 special dividend — HK26 cents T FRRIRE — AR 26 (L
per share 550,000 -
686,006 134,698
On 22 March 2013, the board of directors of the Company RZZE—=F=A=+=H AxRAE=E
declared a special dividend of HK$0.26 per share. Pursuant E2ERFHNKREER0.26 BT o BIE
to the circular issued by the Company dated 4 June 2013, ARARHBMA-ZT—=F/ X AMAT|E

shareholders of the Company may elect to receive special
dividend in (i) a cash dividend of HK$0.26 per share; (i) an
allotment of such number of shares of the Company credited
as fully paid equal to the total amount of special dividend which
such shareholders would otherwise be entitled to receive in
cash; or (i) partly in cash and partly in shares.

On 4 July 2013, dividend amounting to HK$412,063,000
(equivalent to RMB336,592,000) was paid in cash and
approximately 163,095,000 shares (equivalent to approximately
HK$267,966,000 or approximately RMB213,408,000) were
allotted as share dividend.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2013 of RMB8.0 cents
per share has been proposed by the directors and is subject
to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming general
meeting.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 H e A B A 7]
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7 PAIR & K B BARR f WCERRF B AR 8. o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

13. Earnings Per Share

For the year ended 31 December 2013

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share

attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following

ok B s A M (4D

EF St —ALEE

13. SRER

AR R AR BRI R AR
TARSE TR E ¢

data:
2013 2012
—E—=fF —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
Earnings 25 ARBTRT ARBTT
Earnings for the purposes of basic RERERREERF
and diluted earnings per share, mE2&8F - AR
being profit for the year attributable A ABEF AR
to owners of the Company 735,824 930,272
2013 2012
—E—=fF —E——4F
‘000 000
Number of shares RAEHE T T
Weighted average number of ordinary RERERBFNME 2
shares for the purpose of basic LA I8
earnings per share 2,683,811 2,615,500
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: i@ EBIEESER L
— Share options — R 1,383 =
Weighted average number of ordinary HEREE RS 2
shares for the purpose of diluted LA I8
earnings per share 2,685,194 2,615,500

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the year

ended 31 December 2013 has accounted for the effect of those

share options granted where the exercise price of the options

was lower than the average market price of the Company's

shares. The computation of diluted earnings per share for the

year ended 31 December 2012 has not accounted for the effect

of the share options granted because the exercise price of

the options was higher than the average market price of the

Company's shares.

AEBE—E-=F+t-A=t+—HL
FEZSREERMNE  HOREER
BZITEBERNARARNDZFHT
B At A\RERBREZRE - FEE
E-E-ZHFT-A=+-HLEFEZ
SREFRNE  AREREBREL
TEESNRARTARNZFHME -
ST AR RE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 e B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 #HZE —FE— =4+ _H=+—HIFFF

14. Property, Plant and Equipment 14. Y% - BENRSZE
Hotel under Office Motor Leasehold
Buildings  development  equipment vehicles improvements Total
BF  BEWER BARfE RE  HENEEE fit
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETR  ARETr  ARMTr  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
COST A
At 1 January 2012 RZE-—F-f-H 450,759 - 54,215 28729 40,083 573,786
Transfer from properties for sale (note) BRRNHEENE (12) 16,281 = = = = 16,281
Additions AE = = 8,655 1837 14,644 25,136
Acquired on acquisition of WERELAME
subsidiaries (note 35(b)) (Wit 350b) - - - 52 = 52
Disposals e - - (9,261 (6,120) (2,128) (17509)
At 31 December 2012 R-E-—%+-F=1-H 467,040 - 53,609 24,498 52,599 597,746
Additions WE 18,009 - 8,197 3,965 6,454 36,625
Transfer from investment properties BEETRRENE (Wi 16)
under construction (note 16 - 40,186 - - - 40,186
Acquired on acquisition of VB RAE (i 350))
subsidiaries (nate 35(a)) - - 20 - - 20
Disposals i - - (116) (529) (3343) (3,988)
Disposals of a subsidiary (note 36) E—RNELRZ5) - - - (83) - (83)
At 31 December 2013 R-E-=%+-f=1-H 485,049 40,186 61,710 27,851 55,710 670,506
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT NERAE
At 1 January 2012 RZE-—F-f-H 14,661 - 28,279 20,844 18,272 82,056
Provided for the year EREE 11,615 - 5,936 2,249 10,703 30,503
Impairment loss recognised in profitorloss ~ INEEARARERE 125,000 = = = = 125,000
Eliminated on disposals RiEEREHH - - (8,900 (5,936 (803) (15,639)
At 31 December 2012 RZE-——F+-f=1-H 151,276 - 25315 17157 28,172 221,920
Provided for the year FkeE 1511 - 11,852 1,920 8,552 33,901
Eliminated on disposals RiEEREHH - - (74) (529) - (603)
Disposals of a subsidiary (note 36) E—RNELRZ5) - - - (48) - (48)
At 31 December 2013 R-E-=%+-f=1-H 162,853 - 37,093 18,500 36,724 255,170
CARRYING VALUES FAE
At 31 December 2013 RZE-=F+-F=1-H 322,196 40,186 24,617 9,351 18,986 415,336
At 31 December 2012 RZF-—&+-A=1-H 315,764 - 28,294 134 24,421 375,826

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group transferred the
carrying value of properties for sale to property, plant and equipment

relating to a sale office for the Group's own use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 72 —FE—=%#1+_-H=+—HI-FEF

14. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment except hotel
under development are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the following estimated useful lives:

Buildings Over the shorter of the relevant
lease term or 3%-5% per annum

Office equipment 3 to b years

Motor vehicles 3 to b years

Leasehold Over the shorter of relevant lease

improvements term or 3 to 5 years

The impairment loss of buildings was made for a hotel
property during the year ended 31 December 2012 which was
attributable to economic performance worse than previously
expected because expected occupancy rates and room rental
were lower than actual amounts.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the management
of the Group performed a valuation on a hotel property which
is included in “Building” category of property, plant and
equipment, and impairment loss of RMB125,000,000 has
been made according to the excess of the aggregate carrying
amounts of the hotel property over the recoverable amount
which is determined as the fair value less costs to sell of this
hotel property. The fair value of the hotel property was arrived
at using a combination of land portion of the hotel which was
assessed by the market approach, and buildings and structures
portion which was assessed by depreciated replacement
cost approach (“DRC"). The market value of land portion was
referenced to the comparable land transactions in Guangzhou,
PRC. The DRC approach considers the current cost of
replacement (reproduction) of the buildings and improvements
less deductions for physical deterioration and all relevant forms
of obsolescence and optimization. The DRC approach generally
furnishes the most reliable indication of value for the hotel
property in the absence of a known market based on comparable
sales. With reference to the valuation of the hotel property
as at 31 December 2013 and financial results during the year
31 December 2013, in the opinion of the management of the
Group, the carrying amount of hotel property approximates to
its recoverable amount and no impairment loss was recognised
during the year ended 31 December 2013.

14. Y% - BE KR (&)

L% - R R (R AR
9N YR TSR Bl E A I B AR
r

ES3 PR ENEE
3%-5% ZEREE

PN R A 3E=G4E

B 3&EGE

HEMERE  ERESYN3E5F
ZENEE

BE-Z-——F+-A=+—-ALF

g - %%ME%%@TJE &8 5 ) S 1F
b BERGERRTMERMES R
AABEAAEXNEFEHSENERH

=

%

REBEEZZT—=—F+=-A=1+—HBLHF
B AEBEEELHEERYE  BE
mEPIEF BRI ZBEMEED
HE BEWEZFEEAEBL K
SHEBVEEDEQAFERBERA) B
tH Rk 1B 85 18 & A R 125,000,000 7T ©
BIEYEZ A FEEBEE LI
ERATISE - MEFREEMIHER
WEEENANEGEAEEH - D
MGEEL2EFRBEEMNAELER 2 i
HBL MEEERAEZZEREFR
BEZEHESE(ER)KEA  RERE
BRIBRENFT A RBRE N ZRE REIE
HZim e —MmE - ERREMATE
EEMSHERRZBAT  HEEE
BRAE AT IR & ] S22 B E M EEE
Zo RIBBEMER=_Z—=F+=A8
=t+—RAZHEERBEE=Z—=F1+=
A=Z+—BUHEFEZVHESE  ~&H
EEERE  BEMENERDERLA
WEEEHEE BERBE_T—=%F
+ZA=t+—BIEFEREERERR
B -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 e B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=#1+_—H=+—HI FZF

14. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

As at 31 December 2013, buildings of RMB264,702,000 (2012:
RMB281,060,000) were pledged for certain banking facilities
granted to the Group. All the buildings of the Group are situated
on leasehold land in the PRC under medium lease term.

15. Prepaid Lease Payments

The carrying amount of prepaid lease payments represents land
use rights held under medium-term lease in the PRC is analysed

14.

15.

Y ~ BB R (&)

HE-T—=F+"_H=+—0  &F
TEH B AR#264,702,0000( =T — =4 :
AR #281,060,00070) BAEBEER 2
ETHRTEEMTUNGH - XNEEHTA
AR BEAE L 2 EFRIERBRAE
HRR#FA ©

RNHEERE

BENHAEFAREEEN T ERES
MERFANLERE - DT

as follows:
2013 2012
—E—=F —E——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Non-current asset IEmMBNEE 167,527 3,046
Current asset MEEE 415 69
167,942 3,115

During the year ended 31 December 2013, certain portion of
land use rights of RMB12,866,000 (2012: nil) included in the
investment properties under construction was transferred to
prepaid lease payments.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 F] e 4 A B A 7]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 72 —FE—=%#1+_-H=+—HI-FEF

16. Investment Properties 16. REYXE
Completed Investment
investment properties under
properties construction Total
ERIREME ERREME Bt
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETT ARBTT
At 1 January 2012 RZE——F—f—H 334,379 1,048,322 1,382,701
Additions NE - 393,681 393,681
Transfer to completed EREERTRENS

investment properties 1,523,361 (1,523,361) -
Disposals HE (10,258) - (10,258)
Net change in fair value recognised in ERGEBRKEM2ERERER

the consolidated statement of profitor ~ ZAFEEFE

loss and other comprehensive income (83,942) 267252 183,310
At 31 December 2012 RZZE-——F+-A=1—H 1,763,540 185,894 1,949,434
Additions NE 90,949 348,229 439,178
Transfer to completed EREERTRENS

investment properties 59,883 (59,883) -
Transfer to hotel under BREHRDAE (fE14)

development (note 14) - (40,186) (40,186)
Transfer to prepaid lease payments ERSBEARETE (FiE15)

(note 15) - (12,866) (12,866)
Disposals HE (1,152) - (1,152)
Net change in fair value recognised in ERGAERREM2ARERER

the consolidated statement of profitor ~ ZAFELEFE

loss and other comprehensive income 29,859 55,132 84,991
At 31 December 2013 RZZE-=5+=-A=1—H 1,943,079 476,320 2,419,399

Annual Report 2013 & —=4R4E$)

-

181



182

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

16. Investment Properties (continued)

16. REY= (K)

The carrying value of investment properties shown above i EYENREERE
comprises:
2013 2012
—E—=F —E——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFIT
Properties situated on land with R FBBREA THERS
land use rights in the PRC Tt FRRE 2 i
— under long lease —RHHAE 145,400 214,700
— under medium lease —HHEE 2,273,999 1,734,734
2,419,399 1,949,434

All of the Group's property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are
measured using the fair value model and are classified and
accounted for as investment properties.

At 31 December 2013, investment properties of
RMB1,184,572,000 (2012: RMB1,130,525,000) were pledged to
secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group.

The fair values of investment properties under construction and
completed investment properties at 31 December 2013 and
2012 were determined by reference to valuations carried out
by American Appraisal China Limited, an independent qualified
professional valuers not connected with the Group. The fair
values of the investment properties were determined by the
valuers on the following basis:

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 H e A B A 7]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE— =%+ _-H=+—HI-FEF

16. Investment Properties (continued)

Completed — by reference to capitalised income
investment to be derived from the existing
properties tenancies and the reversionary

income potential of the properties
or, where appropriate, by reference
to market evidence of transaction
prices for similar properties in the
same locations and conditions

Investment — by reference to the current or recent
properties prices of investment properties
under and estimated costs to completion
construction based on construction budget,

committed contracts, allowances for
contingencies as well as developer's
profit margin, which reflect the risks
associated with the completion of
the development of the properties
and in achieving the anticipated
income or capital appreciation on the
date of valuation

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of these investment properties are determined (in particular,
the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

16. REY= (K)

BERTEREME — 2L KHRAMEE
EENEAREBA
KEOEFRA
BN (HBEE)
BRERARME
EESEREE SN/ ES
ZR B BRI

RS

ERRENE - 2ZREVENE
A ST HE A DA 2
RIETERE -2
RREH  HEF
BEREARERRE
BN R E G
RTER  RBRR
CYASRGE %)
XRBRBERE
WARERIEESR
A RO JEL R

TRINEBIAEEZSRENER
FENER (CERMGERT MAARREA
8U) A RRIB R FEFTERAEARUE
MABREERENAFEFEMBR
FEFR(E1REEIR) -
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16. Investment Properties (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2013

16. REY= (K)

Investment properties Fairvalue  Fairvalue Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs Range (weighted
held by the Group RMB'000  hierarchy  and key inputs (relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value) average)
AT EXTIEREANG L]
ARERANRENF ARBTL  ATESER HEEDREZEARE (FERBAREREATENEE) (MET56E)
Completed investment 1,785,139 Level 3 Direct comparison method and income Term yield (the higher the term yield, the lower the 3% - 7%
properties capitalisation of the net income and fair value)
made provisions for reversionary income Reversionary yield (the higher the reversionary ~ 6.5% - 275%
potential. Also reference to the market yield, the lower the fair valug)
observable transactions of similar Market unit rent (RMB/sqm) (the higher the market 18- 45
properties. unit rent, the lower the fair value)
Market unit sales rate (RMB/sqm) (the higher the 900 - 26,300
market unit sales rate, the higher the fair value)
BRIRENZ £30 ERURERFUAMMARAL R T (e ShiiE - ATERE)
RERABNELEE - T2ZRNE EEWE (BRluHR - ATERE)
HmEIRER S« maBES (ARE/ThR) (MRELAEH
5 ATEEE)
MRBNER(ARE/ThR) (MRENLERM
5 ATEES
Completed investment properties 157940 Level2  Direct comparison method-based on NA
market observable transactions of similar
properties and adjusted to reflect the
conditions of the subject property.
ERIRENZ 220 ERUWE-BERUMENTEVEE  TER R

25 BfELERARBRESNZHOM
Re
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 #HZ _—F—=F+_A=+—HIFFZF

16. Investment Properties (continued)

16. REY= (K)

Investment properties Fairvalue  Fairvalue Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs Range (weighted
held by the Group RMB'000  hierarchy  and key inputs (relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value) average)
AT EATNIEREARE L]
AREREIRENE ARBTT  ATESER HEEDREZEARE (FERBARBEREATENEE) (MET56E)
Investment properties under 70,500 Level3  Residual method-based on market 1. Contingency (the higher the contingency, the lower — 75%
construction observable transactions of similar the fair value)
properties and taken into account the 2. Developer's profit (the higher the developer's profit, ~ 15% - 20%
construction costs that will be expended to the lower the fair value)
complete the development. 3. Marketing costs (the higher the marketing costs, 3%
the lower the fair value)
4. Future construction costs for completion (the higher ~ N/A
the construction costs, the lower the fair value
EEREYR IR BEEZ-BERUNEOTRIERR 1 WEPE(IETEMS ATEHE)
5 UEBTREREIHNEIEE . 2 LEEEA(AEEEES  ATERE)
3 ERERM(ZHEMER ATEEE)
4 TREEOAREIER(RIBRHR ATEE @R
)
Investment properties under 405,820 Level3  Direct comparison method-based on  Market unit sales rate (RMB/sqm) (the higher the 376,580
construction market observable transactions of similar  market unit sales rate, the higher the fair value)
lands and adjusted to reflect the conditions
of the subject lands.
ERRENR £30 ERMRE-REANLHOTAUER WHELER (ARM/THK) (MEELERM
X7 UfEHARAREEMTHAR & Nm%’)
e
2,419,399
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 &2 —

E—=F 1 A=F—HILFE

17. Interest in a Joint Venture

17. R—RB&

TENER
2013 2012
—E—=F —E——F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFR ARETTT

Unlisted cost of investment
Share of past-acquisition loss and
other comprehensive expense

FEETIRERA
FEEYIBREBREREMEEAX

Details of the Group's joint venture at the end of the reporting

period is as follow:

Place of
incorporation/
principal place

5,000

(75) -

4,925

AEERBERRNAELEFBOT

Proportion of

register capital

Name of entity of operation held by the Group Principal activity
Az Ly FEE AT
BREW TELEHE &AL FTERE
2013 2012

—EB—=fF —T——F

Guangzhou Baoao Real Estate PRC 50% N/A Property development
Development Limited

BMNRES R AR AR H TER WEER

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 H e A B A 7]
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18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 e B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 #HZ _—F—=F+_A=+—HIFFZF

Interest in a Joint Venture (continued)

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
interest in a joint venture is set out below:

17. A—B&EEENER (&)

AEER—HEEEXNED 2 AEY
AT -

RMB'000

ARETT

Current assets MENE EE 10,001
Non-current assets JEMBEE -
Current liabilities mEEE 152
Non-current liabilities JEMBEE =
Loss and total comprehensive expense EEREEERS 150

Available-For-Sale Investment

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group initially
acquired 5% equity interest in an unlisted entity established
in the PRC, WKERE(LEZEFR AT (“Shanshui”), at a cash
consideration of RI\/IBZZ,370,000. Pursuant to the revised
agreements entered in April 2012 and August 2012, the equity
interests acquired by the Group was increased to 10% at the
revised consideration of RMB25,000,000 by further contribution
in cash of RMB2,630,000.

It is measured at cost less impairment at the end of the
reporting period because the range of reasonable fair value
estimate is so significant that their fair values cannot be
measured reliably.

18. AIHHERE

BHE—_Z——F+ZA=+—8H1L
FE ARAANBEEREARE
22,370,000 7T #1 25 U g 78 R .ﬁXiE'J
FEEMERBILKEAEEERBRA

(T7k]) 5% KIR%#E - *ET)%E/\\\f%—fi
MAR ZZE—ZF N\ AL 2 &IEET
& ASBERE ZIREEINE10% @ &
EETRE A AR 25,000,000 7T (£ A
SE—FHEARK2,630,0007T) °

HR|ERRBRKATRBETE - B
EBRAVEMGESEEDTER  HHEAQ
:F@TE\E u+i °©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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(#4)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 #Z —F— =%+ _-HA=+—HIFFZ

19. Deposits Paid for Acquisition of Land Use
Rights

The deposits paid for acquisition of land use right consists of:

19. W THERAREENES

WL ERED RSB

2013 2012
—E—=F —E——F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
it ARETT ARET T
Guangzhou Land BN A3 (i) - 1,705,435
Zhuzhou and Foshan Land RN B b 1L £ 3 (i) - 796,940
Zhuzhou Land RN £ 3 (1if) 50,000 320,000
Chongging Land BE T (iv) 970,000 =
Yingde Land ) (v) 43,890 -
1,063,890 2,822,375
2013 2012
—E—=fF —E—_F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T

Analaysis as: DT :
Non-current assets ERBEE - 1,705,435
Current assets MENEE 1,063,890 1,116,940
1,063,890 2,822,375

On 10 December 2012, the Group acquired nine
parcels of land at total cash consideration of
RMB3,410,870,000 through public auction. The Group
had paid RMB1,705,435,000, representing 50% of the
consideration of the land, as a deposit to the government
as at 31 December 2012. During 2012, the Group
subsequently entered into co-operation agreement with
ERRFEHMERZ AR AF Guangdong Poly Property
Development Limited (“Poly”), an independent third
party, to develop the nine parcels acquired (”Co-operation
Agreement”).

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited HH [ 5 [ 3 78 45 B i 43 A R 2 )

RZZE—=—F+=A+H ' &x5H
BERAABRNEREREARE
3,410,870,000 7T & A J1 1@ £ #f ©
RZE——F+=—HA=+—8"
AEBERMBNZTEREARYE
1,705,435,000 7t (FHE R L HAKE
250%)  R-—T——%F A&EH
BB E = ERRAEME
FEBR AT (RA])FTLE 1R
& URZEBEWEN BT (&
1tk D) ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

19. Deposits Paid for Acquisition of Land Use
Rights (continued)

(i)

(continued)

Pursuant to the Co-operation Agreement, the Group and
Poly each control the operation and development of four
parcels of land individually. However, the final conclusion
on jointly developing the ninth parcel of land has not
been finalised in December 2012 and they are therefore
classified as non-current assets as at 31 December 2012.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the land use
rights certificates of nine parcels of land were issued
to an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
established in the PRC (the “PRC subsidiary”). As
mentioned, the Group had paid half of consideration of
acquisition of land to the government during the year
ended 31 December 2012 and remaining half was paid by
the Group to the government during the year ended 31
December 2013 and was fully reimbursed from Poly for
its portion of land acquired. A supplementary co-operation
agreement was signed between the Company and Poly
(the “Supplementary Co-operation Agreement”), which
states that 50% of the registered capital of the indirect
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company which held the
land use right certificate was transferred to Poly upon
receiving the 50% of consideration for acquisition of
land from Poly. The equity interest of the indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company which held the land
use right certificate is required to transfer back to the
Company once the related land use rights certificates for
the four parcels of land were transferred to Poly and final
conclusion in jointly developing the remaining one parcel
of land has been finalised. Pursuant to the Supplementary
Co-operation agreement, no daily operation decision was
being granted to Poly over the PRC subsidiary.

Aok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2013

R E— = H=+—HIFEE

19. WiELERES FRE (&)

(%)

RIBE(EHZE - AEBEERNEB
226 PO iR T Ay =B R B o AT
FEhRTHHERAZER =T —=
FrZAMKEERRER - Bt
R-B——F+-_F=+—BHH
RIEMENEE °

REBEE-_T—=F+=-A=+—8
IEEE - AUIE £ 30 E) 1 (5 A %
ERARREFRBKYZ EEE2E
B AR ([RBEMEAR]) DS -
Ban EXCFa - ARBEREE=
T——F+_A=+—ALLEER
B HRE L —ERE &
T—H¥ERASEREE-Z—=
F+-—A=Zt+—HIFERRFX
o WEHRM B E W E 2 T HES
2ERE - ARRIERRFRBHTE
GiemE ((HREERRE]D - EF
BT - RIERFIME L2 50% 4.
BARER  BAAREEZZENH B
AR (RARFHE L FERER) N
50% it & A& TR F o —H M
i+ 3 O A B 1 b (o PR AE B AR
FRFA - BT — 8 L e H R
BREBERRER  AQnHEE2E
M A R (%A RlHE A L b {FE A
F)WREENEERI A QA o RIR
wmas RS RETRAFHR
M A RHEL R A B ERTE o
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h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

19. Deposits Paid for Acquisition of Land Use
Rights (continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

190

(continued)

In substance, the related four parcels of land acquired by
the Group and intended to be developed properties for
sales were recognised as properties under development
for sale of RMB1,564,742,000 and the consideration paid
to government by the Group for the acquisition of the
remaining one parcel of land was recognised as prepaid
lease payments of RMB 152,029,000 upon the land use
right certificate was issued but the final conclusion to
jointly develop this parcel of land has not been finalised
with Poly in December 2013.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group
entered into an agreement to acquire two parcels of land
situated in Zhuzhou and Foshan Nanhai, the PRC, at a
consideration of RMB796,940,000. However, the land use
right certificates were not yet issued as at 31 December
2012. Accordingly, the amount was classified as deposits
paid for acquisition of land use rights. The Group obtained
related land use right certificates of aforesaid land and
intended to develop properties for sale during the year
ended 31 December 2013. Accordingly, the deposits paid
was transferred to properties under development for sale.

On 29 November 2012, the Group entered into an
agreement to acquire three parcels of land situated
in Zhuzhou, the PRC, at a cash consideration of
RMB746,250,000 through public auction. As at 31
December 2012, the Group has paid RMB320,000,000
as deposits and an additional RMB65,660,000 was paid
by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2013.
Upon obtaining of land use right certificates of two parcels
of land, the consideration paid for acquisition of these
land use rights of RMB335,660,000 was then transferred
to properties under development for sale during the year
ended 31 December 2013. The remaining one parcel of
land amounting to RMB410,590,000 and RMB50,000,000
has been paid by the Group as deposit as at the year
ended 31 December 2013.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 H e A B A 7]

19. WL EAES FRE (&)

(ii)

(iii)

(%)

BERMmME @ RBH T AEE
B - AL B AT IR 2 ERI Mg+
HREREAZEHEEZMED R
REAHEEEEMEARE
1,564,742,0007T * AN EFE U EERR
N — 18 L B AR ER
B T AR ER AT
& 1B AR ¥ 152,029,000 7T 18
R-Z—=F1+ = AHRERFE
B HERRZIE TSR &R o

BE—_T——F+-_A=+—HIt
FE - AEER W - AREEA
AR BRI T R 56 LU 70 0 [ A
B - KEA AR 796,940,000
e AM RZE—=F+=H
=+ —H #WARZED AR
o EItt - ZRIBD HEAUEE T
FAEENZE BEZZT—=
+ZA=+—HILFE F~EEED
B 45 E it 4 b 9 4 B8 4 i P B A
B WA HEEME - B
It BENRewEEnHIESERE
L7

R=_F——F+—A=-+tAB &
S  BRARBESN
®I\ & R E AR 746,250,000 7T
U BT PA AR B AR M B9 =18 £ 4 A
ZE—ZF+ZA=F+—H" 'K
£ B2 ¥ AR # 320,000,000 7T
EREe YTREBE-_ZT—=F
TZA=F+—HILEFESIZHFA
R #65,660,0007T °© R EL1S M &
THE A T AR RE (& - Bh U
ZETHERAEERNRKEARE
335,660,000 LEREZEZE =T —=
F+-_A=+t—HItFEE@E=A#
HETREWE BHE_T—=F
+ZA=+—HIFE HBT—I&
TR E A R# 410,590,000 7T I
BAEEE X AR% 50,000,000
TLIERIRE °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

19. Deposits Paid for Acquisition of Land Use
Rights (continued)

(iv)

(v)

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the
Group entered into an agreement to acquire a parcel
of land situated in Chongging, the PRC, at a cash
consideration of RMB970,000,000 through public
auction. As at 31 December 2013, the Group has fully
paid RMB970,000,000 for this parcel of land situated in
Chongging. However, the Group has not yet obtained the
land use right certificate. Accordingly, the amount paid
was classified as deposit paid. The land in Chongging
is designated to develop commercial and residential
properties for sale.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group
entered into an agreement to acquire eight parcels of
lands situated in Yingde Qingyuan, the PRC, at a cash
consideration of RMB219,350,000 through public auction.
The Group has paid RMB43,890,000 as deposits during
the year ended 31 December 2013. However, the Group
has not yet obtained the land use right certificate.
Accordingly, the amount paid was classified as deposit
paid as at 31 December 2013. The land in Yingde is
designated to develop commercial and residential
properties for sales.

20. Properties for Sale

ok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2013

EF St —ALEE

19. WL EAES FRE (&)

(iv)

REBEEZZT—=F+=-A=+—H
HFEE NEBLBE B8
AAHEFNRESREARE
970,000,000 7T Y2 & iz 72 P B &
H—tEti e R-ZT—=F+_7
=t+—HB ' AEEERZBEALNE
& /) + #3215 A R % 970,000,000
TC o AR - ANEEE M ARERS L Hb{E
AEE - Bt ENSEIEAD
RS o ZIBA R EERN L
EARAERERTEYMEME -

REE_Z—=F+=-A=+—H
WFE  AEEFL—HHE &
BARBEIANZASREAR
#& 219,350,000 7T U f& iz 74 R B )5
REEMN\BLIH REBREE
B+ -_A=+—HLFE
B ¥ A R # 43,890,000 7T £ A&
Be o Rm - AKE ARG L
FEREE - Bt ENSER=F
—ZF+-_A=+—A28BACH
RE o ZIBALA EIER) T U IEE
BRAZEEmEREEDEEE -

20. AJREHEME

2013 2012
—E—=F —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREETTT

Properties for sale comprise of: A EYEBIE
Completed properties BRI 3,391,226 2,820,802
Properties under development TR 16,046,012 8,727012
19,437,238 11,547814
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

20. Properties for Sale (continued) 20.

Properties for sale of RMB4,475,600,000 (2012: RMB3,352,800,000)
are expected to be realised within twelve months.

At 31 December 2013, certain of the Group's properties for sale with
carrying value of RMB1,706,024,000 (2012: RMB1,888,216,000)
were pledged for certain banking facilities granted to the Group.

A HEEEY=E (&)

A SHE Y A R#4,475,600,0007T( =
T——F : AR¥3,352,800,0007T)FE R
BN+ ZEARNEREL -

R-ZT—=F+=-A=+—8 ~4&H
ERFETAEENE TRITEE MK
BREE A AK#1,706,024,000 (=&
—— 4 : AR¥1,888,216,0007T)H)E T
AIHEHEYZE -

21. Trade and Other Receivables 21. EZ R EHMEWR

2013 2012

=F =4 —E=—_4F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T AREBTT

Trade receivables B 5 WK 169,096 19,425

Rental receivables & ENGRIE 40,606 25,009

Other receivables At fEYGRIE 317,865 312,143

Advances to constructors and suppliers R GER R AR PR RS S IE 82,121 68,441
Deposits paid to respective local BRHEAABE T AEL

governments for granting the NFERBIT 2 IEE

rights to purchase land by auction 201,900 115,000

Other tax prepayments H A IETE R 251,927 195,403

1,063,515 735,421
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE— =%+ _-H=+—HI-FEF

21. Trade and Other Receivables (continued)

The following is the aged analysis of trade receivables
determined based on the date of the properties delivered and
sales were recognised:

. B R EMEYK (&)

MTRBREXNYENRHEERREAE
TEHVE 5 I WGRE R DA -

2013 2012

—E—= —E——F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARETTT

0 to 60 days 0£260H 84,437 7694
61 to 180 days 612180 H 79,101 9
181 to 365 days 1812365 H 1,971 1,036
1 to 2 years —EWF - 4,836
2 to 3 years ME=4F 88 5,287
Over 3 years B=F 3,499 563
169,096 19,425

Trade receivables mainly represent receivable from properties
buyers for mortgage sale of properties amounting to
RMB®60,278,000 (2012: RMB16,616,000). The average credit
period on sale of properties is 60 days. Impairment on trade
receivables are provided for based on estimated irrecoverable
amounts from the sale of properties, determined by reference
to past default experience. Considerations under pre-sale
contracts will be fully received prior to the delivery of the
ownership certificate of the properties to the purchasers.

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group
considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivable
from the date credit was initially granted up to the end of the
reporting period.

B I RUGREZIER M= IRBIHE I
YEBERARE 60,278,000 L(=ZF—=
F: AR 16,616,0007T) Z KH ° ¥
FHENTHEERRGCOR - EFEK
HEVRETRBE2EZERTENLRET
ZYFEHE 2 et AR E & FE T IR B
He BEGHNZREBRMENTE#E
BRI ERAZHWE o

RETEE 5 RUGRZ ATl El 1 - RN
EeZRAKMKLEENRREFE
BERRIEBEZEUYREELRNER

ek

= °
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

21. Trade and Other Receivables (continued)

As at 31 December 2013, there were no (2012: RMB4,836,000)
receivable aged 1 to 2 years and RMIB3,587000 (2012: RMB5,850,000)
receivables aged over 2 years that were past due but not
impaired. The management of the Company is of the opinion
that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these
receivables as these have good repayment history and low
default rate under the internal credit assessment system used
by the Group. The concentration of credit risk in the remaining
trade receivables is limited due to the customer base being
large and unrelated.

As at year ended 31 December 2013, included in the other
receivables is: (i) amount due from [/ 22 4 @ 2 f i 2E it
B4 BB A4t (the “Luogang Business Association”) and BN
EEREER AR (the “Yijing Investment”) of RMB90,000,000
(2012: nil). The amount is interest-free, unsecured and is
expected to be settled within twelve months from the end of
the reporting period.

As at year ended 31 December 2012, included in the other
receivables are: (i) amount due from Panyu Information
Technology Limited (“PIT"), which is owned by local
government, of RMB75,471,000 as at 31 December 2012. The
advance to PIT is related to the settlement of land cost by PIT to
local government. The amount is settled during the year ended
31 December 2013; and (ii) deposit of RMB100,000,000 paid
to Poly during the year ended 31 December 2012 as security
to honour the Group's obligation to jointly develop the parcels
of land with Poly for the property project as disclosed in note
19(i). The deposit paid to Poly was fully refunded during the year
ended 31 December 2013 upon transferred of the related land
use right certificates of four parcels of land to Poly.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 H e A B A 7]

21.

B REMEBYK (&)

RZE—=F+_A=+—H EKKRAE—
EMFZRBFAET (ZE—ZF: AR
#54,836,0007T ) K AR BREB B RN F 2 FE MK
BARE3,587,000L(ZF—=4F : AR
#£5,850,0007T) B B HAE N ER(E © AR
RIERERA  ARZIERFAEER
BN AR EBATRA 2 NEE
BEFDZREBARK B THERZ
LRBKFIRBERE AR EP AR
BERNBIWERE  BHBRESEBGRZ
EEETRBRER -

HE_ZT—=Ff+-_A=t+—HLILHF
B HMEWRIERE  ()EWEMNT
ZHRERTEACRESER AL RE
MHEREEBRA R ([EREE R
B A B #90,000,000c( =& — — £ :
#) ZEHIEARE - BRI - WIEH
R ERERRES T —EAARNEE -

HE-_FT——F+-_A=+—HI%F
B HMEWRZRERERE (R —=
F+_A=+—BHRERKREBBEEERITER
BERABAR([EBEEHRM)) (A
MR A ) KB AR 75,471,000 7T °
BN TEREERNHREBNEEZERRE
BEMRAEMWHRA N R AEE -
ZRERNEE T =Ft+_A=+—
BILEFEEHEE: RRBE_T—=F
T A=+t HLEFENTFRAINZRS
AR #100,000,0007T * {EREITAS
B ZEHEE190) MATH By 1E B SR A
HAZRZEB I BBHOER - B
FRAIMNZERBE_T—=F+=A
=+— B IEFE A MR8 FE i 11
HAERE T R R TR EE -
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23.

24,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013

Amounts Due From Non-Controlling
Shareholders of Subsidiaries

An amount due from a non-controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary of RMB 100,000,000 (2012: nil) as at 31 December
2013 carries interest at rate of 12% per annum and repayable
by 31 August 2014. The remaining amounts are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand. The Group is expected
to receive the entire balance within twelve months from the end
of the reporting period.

Amounts Due From Related Parties

The balance of RMB143,057,000 (2012: nil) is due from a
related party, HRMNTREEHERZEFR AR (“Zhuzhou Tianjun
Properties Development Company Ltd.”), an entity established
in the PRC, which is controlled by Mr. Feng Yuanzheng and Mr.
Hu Ran, who are non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries.
The balance of RMB21,056,000 (2012: nil) is due from a related
party, ST Pzt REB AR A E (“Yicheng”), which is the holding
company of a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary.
The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

Restricted Bank Deposits/Bank Balances
and Cash

Restricted bank deposits

As at 31 December 2013, the deposits amounting to
RMB1,658,730,000 (2012: RMB762,481,000) are restricted
for the payments to the construction contractors, which
carry interest at variable rate of 0.35% (2012: 0.35%) per
annum, and will be released upon the completion of the
development of properties. The remaining deposits amounting
to RMB240,500,000 (2012: nil) were pledged for short term loan
facilities granted by banks and carry interest at variable interest
rates ranging from 1.7% to 2.1% per annum.

22.

23.

24,

ok B s A M (4D

EF St —ALEE

FEW I B 2 B) 2 R IR IR SR K
|

BR_ZE—=F+_RA=+—HBREK—M
MEBAR —RIFERBERABARE
100,000,000 7T (=& ——4F : )& 12%
ZENRFBYAR_FT—NENA
=+ —HAMEE - EHRFRIBRERM
RERANRBREEER - AEEEHN
WEHR T _EARZERE 2 HFE

FEWR B E A R FIE

7 AR 143,057,0000( =T — =4 :
=) TyEW —EEEA RN T REE i
ERZEBRAR(RPRKIFERE B
M A R e IR AR SRS iR AE e A R A8
AR FRIE o #AREA R 21,056,000
T(ZZE—=F: ) HEKR—F@EER
AVIFTmmAREEAR AR ([RKR]) (—
B A Rl — B IR AR R IR A 7))
M ZERBRAEER . RERER

FREFEE -

ZREMTERBITHERR
BE

ZIRHBIRITER

R-EBE—=F+_A=+—H #BFEA
R#1,658,730,000 (=T —=4F : AR
#& 762,481,000 7T ) 2 F{E R AR A1
EAPR T NFIE - RFEFFE0.35%
—E——F :035%):t 5 WERE
BRBERIERR -EBRTERARME
240,500,000 (= Z——4 : #)ERR
RARESROTEINEHER  Z57F
FARZBNERRN T E2.1% 5T o
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

24. Restricted Bank Deposits/Bank Balances
and Cash (continued)

Bank balances and cash

The bank balances carry interest at variable rate with an average
interest rate of 0.35 % (2012: 0.35%) per annum.

25. Trade and Other Payables

24,

25.

ZREMTERBITERR
Be (&)

RITEHREES

B2 EA Rt B R IRTT A 88 T F A R
50.35% (ZZF——4% :0.35%) °

B S RHEMEMNRK
2013 2012
—E—= —E—_F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARBTT

Trade payables =Y ANE
Other payables H b FE (S 518
Other taxes payables HAth FEAS T IE

Trade payables principally comprise amounts outstanding
for payments to constructors and purchases of construction
materials. The average credit period for trade purchases is
from 6 months to 1 year. The management closely monitors
the payments of the payable to ensure that all payables are
paid within the credit timeframe. Details of the financial risk
management polices by the Group are set out in note 34.
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2,355,170 1,863,564
557,036 363,243
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE— =%+ _-H=+—HI-FEF

25. Trade and Other Payables (continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables determined
based on the invoice date:

. BEZREMEARK (&)

MTRAREZRZEMEBEENE S EMNR
EVARER AT

2013 2012
=F =4 —E=—_4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT

Age: BRER
0 to 60 days 0£60H 1,052,076 948,494
61 to 180 days 61%2180H 576,594 493,574
181 to 365 days 1812365 H 311,033 125,238
1 to 2 years —EMF 279,103 180,065
2 to 3 years W = 98,657 112,760
Over 3 years =4 37,707 3,433
2,355,170 1,863,564

At 31 December 2013, the balance of trade payables with
age over 1 year include retention money of RMB237750,000
(2012: RMB153,054,000) to the sub-contractors of property
development projects, which relates to 5% to 10% of the
contract prices.

According to the construction contracts, the retention money is
interest-free and would be paid to the sub-contractors after 1 to
3 years from the completion of development of the properties.

Included in other payable is an interest-free balance of
RMB®6,059,000 (2012: RMB32,701,000) payable to a former
non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary acquired in 2011 and
is expected to be settled within a year. The remaining balances
of other payable mainly represent deposits received, payable for
staff salaries, staff welfare and operating expenses.

R_ZE—=F+_-_A=+—8 " kK&
—FHNESRNAREHBIERNYE
EREBES>PEANEEREFEARE
237,750,000t ( =T ——F : AR
153,054,0007T) * BREAIEE5% ZE10%
B -

RIBERELSY HEREESARE ' I
SR TR I ERB 1 E3FEEBINTF
DB e

PEEEMENRBRAAOARE
6,069,000t —Z T — —F: AR ¥
32,701,00070) K R B 4584 - BER T
RZE——FREN—FRBARN—
BRIGEIERARER - BEAITR —FERAEHE -
BR T B B M RN IR A A E B 45 B iR
¢ BNEIHE BIREMNEEEH
350
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

26. Amounts Due to Non-Controlling

26. FE{THIE AT 2 FERRER

Shareholders of Subsidiaries bi]
2013 2012
—E—=F T
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
KiaF AR®T T ARETTT
Amounts due to non-controlling R NENGIE S 2
shareholders of subsidiaries FRIBZER AT 2R
are repayable as follows: B8 -
Within one year N (a) 185,552 156,174
More than one year, but not 1F A EEREE2 F
exceeding two years (b) - 45,000
185,552 201,174
Notes: BisE -
(a) Included in the balance is an amount of RMB44,000,000 (2012: a. HEEIEARY 44,000,000 T (=T ——4F :

RMB44,000,000) which is unsecured, interest bearing at 20% per annum
and repayable on demand. The remaining balances are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

(b) According to the loan agreements, the amount is unsecured, interest-free
and due on 31 December 2014. The amount is repayable within twelve
months from the end of the reporting period and is classified as current
liabilities as at 31 December 2013.

27. Amount Due to A Related Party

The balance represents an amount due to #k/NHKEBEHBERT
ZEHBR/AA] Zhuzhou Tianjun Properties Development Company
Ltd., an entity established in the PRC which is controlled by
the non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries. The amount is
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE— =%+ _-H=+—HI-FEF

28. Bank and Other Borrowings

28. RITREMMER

2013 2012
=F =4 —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFIT
Bank and other RITRE M AR
borrowings comprise: B

RMB bank borrowings AREERITHER 6,947,708 3,520,784
HKD bank borrowings BITIRTTE X 803,045 651,853
RMB other borrowings (note) ARBEE M fE R (B EE) 402,524 =
8,153,277 4,172,637

Note: Bt &
On 3 September, 2013, the Company entered into an agreement (the RZZT—=FNA=8 AARE—HRPREKIH

e

"Agreement”) with an entity established in the PRC, which was an independent
third party. According to the Agreement, the independent third party injected
cash of RMB30,000,000 in EM EBE P2 EE AR AT (the “Guangzhou
Aoyuan”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company established in the PRC
which principally engaged in the property development. The Group held 90.91%
enlarged equity interest in the Guangzhou Aoyuan after the completion of capital
injection while the independent third party held 9.09% enlarged equity interest
in the Guangzhou Aoyuan. In addition, the independent third party provided (i) a
shareholder loan amounting to RMB270,000,000 which is secured and interest-
free and (ii) an entrusted loan amounting to RMB100,000,000 which is secured,
bears fixed-interest rate of 13.6% per annum and repayable on 30 September
2015.

According to the Agreement, if the Group could not meet any of certain
specific conditions set out in the Agreement, the Group shall acquire back the
9.09% equity interest in the subsidiary held by the independent third party
by repaying the aggregate principal amount of RMB400,000,000 contributed
by the independent third party with interest calculated at 8.8% per annum
on RMB300,000,000 and with interest calculated at 13.6% per annum on
RMB100,000,000 respectively. The directors based on the available information
assessed and considered that certain of these conditions are very remote to meet,
therefore the Group would likely have to acquire back 9.09% equity interest from
the independent third party by the end of transaction date as specified in the
Agreement.

Accordingly, the aggregate contribution by the independent third party of
RMB400,000,000 is classified as other borrowing with an embedded option to buy
back the equity interest. The option is embedded as a derivative and the directors
consider that the fair value of the derivative to be insignificant as at 31 December
2013.

BB E=7) s — D ([&haEl) - 8
Bz BUE=ARENEEREERERAF]
(TEMEBE]RE/EE ARE30,000,000T  FE)HE
EAARRRPBRKINZENRBAR - EE2HREY
¥R - NESXETRE - AEEIFEENREL
BB 2 90.91% » MABILE = H#FH E/NBERE
BIBRREZ9.09% ° Lo+ B =75 (i) MR
IR R B B AR 270,000,0007T & (il #2
ZEEH AR 100,000,0007T © ZERAB KA
REEFFEI136%:TE  WEAR=-T—RFNA
=t+HEE-

BBz MAEBEREERZ B AT
AIETHEEGE  AEEBEFRERBIFE=7
EAZ RS 5 A R ¥400,000,0007T 0 EH A
IR #300,000,000 7T 1= &F F| £8.8% 7t B+ AR
100,000,000 JTLIZEF|R 13.6% 51 & © BEEIBILHE =
T TR B A R29.09% IR - ERIBIRATLERLEE
TR - AE '
It - AREE AR ZREIEEZ R 5 B RARTEL
E=7708[219.09% P& #E o

Et - BUE =75 &85 AR 400,000,000 L5
AR - MR RS AAE 2 B A EIHE - 22
BEATETABRA EERA RZT—=F+=
A=+—HZETAZAFETEK -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

28. Bank and Other Borrowings (continued) 28. RITREHMER ()
2013 2012
=F =4 —E=—_4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT
Carrying amount repayable as follows: ARLA T ERE R BRI BREE ¢
Within one year 1R 2,411,281 1,674,685
More than one year, but not 1F A EBREE2 F
exceeding two years 3,672,582 893,686
More than two years, 2F LA EBKRBRE 5 F
but not exceeding five years 1,823,585 1,283,635
More than five years 5 F 245,829 320,631
8,153,277 4,172,637
Less: Amount due within one year B NmEIBEEE AR
shown under current liabilities K1 FARHAFIE (2,411,281) (1,674,685)
Amount due after one year 14F 2 18 B Hi5RTE 5,741,996 2,497952
The bank and other borrowings bear the interest per annum: HRIT R E A B R R =
2013 2012
Effective —E-=5F —T——fF
Contract interest rate interest rate RMB’000 RMB'000
ERIES EERF = AR®T T ARETTT
100% to 130% of lending rate of B ARIBITE AR
the People’s Bank of China ([EARBITHE])
("PBC rate”) (2012: 90% to Z100% = 130%
130% of PBC rate) (ZZ—=%F : #H
ARBITHEZ90%
Z£130%) 7.59% 3,717,801 2,587,884
Fixed rate ranging from 6.5% to 14%  6.5% %= 14% 2 [EFE =
(2012: 6.5% to 14%) (ZE——F :65%
Z£14%) 10.96% 4,159,996 1,584,753
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rates BEABRITRAZEFEM1.3%
plus 1.3% to 6%(2012: nil) 6% (ZZF——F : &) 7.05% 275,480 -
8,153,277 4,172,637
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28. Bank and Other Borrowings (continued)

29.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE— =%+ _-H=+—HI-FEF

The weighted average effective interest rate on bank and other
borrowings for the year is 10.84% (2012: 9.52%) per annum.

Other than the assets pledged as disclosed in notes elsewhere

in the consolidated financial statements, certain equity interests
of subsidiaries of the Company were pledged for the bank and
other borrowings facilities granted to the Group.

ﬁﬁé%'
THEA UESETAKEMNRTRE
e IEEH -

28. SRITRHEMER (&)

FRERIT R E M E A I ERA
EREF10.84% (==

—Z5F 1 952%) °

EMBHRREMESARENDE
ARRAFETHERRKER

Provision 29. &
LuoAo
Guangzhou Real Estate
Wan Pui Development Total
BMNEE #REERME BF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREETTT ARETIT ARETTT
(i) (ii)
Balance at 1 January 2013 W_ZE—=F—H—H
iEeR 525,032 - 525,032
Additional provisions recognised EHERRRIMNEE 25,672 843,700 869,372
Balance at 31 December 2013 RZE—=%F
+ZA=+—H#&#% 550,704 843,700 1,394,404

On 31 December 2011, the Company entered into an
agreement (the “Agreement”) with PIT. According to the
Agreement, the Group injected cash of RMB 154,700,000
in EMmEEKREETEARAA (the “Guangzhou Wan
Pui”), an entity established in the PRC which principally
engaged in the property development. The Group held
65% equity interest in the Guangzhou Wan Pui after
the completion of capital injection while PIT held 35%
equity interest in the Guangzhou \Wan Pui. In addition, the
Group and PIT agreed that the Group has to transfer 35%
completed properties in the property development project
in Guangzhou Wan Pui to PIT and in return PIT requires
to transfer its 35% equity interest in the Guangzhou Wan
Pui to the Group. The Group is responsible for providing
funding to finance this property project and the project
management is wholly responsible by the Group. PIT will
not involve in the daily operation and management of
this property project. In addition, PIT will not share any
profit and loss of Guangzhou Wan Pui during the property
construction.

) RZE——F+=ZA=+—80"
RNAREEFBE BRG] H#E
(T - BERZE - A5EBRE
MNmEBREERERARA(E
MEE ) (RPBEKRIHERE =
ENEMERE) FTEHESARKE
154,700,000 7t > A& TR 1%
REEFHEINE B 2 65% ki -
mEBESKMAFEEMNER 2
3B%IE - N REERER
EEEMAE  AEEFRESBE
BRMEZRENERMEREIEE
3B5%E R TYE - LBRBERE
BEMAASEESZEENENER
Z.35% fxtE - REB AT BB
MEBBRHES  WAAEESR
EEBEHEEEE BREERMG
K@ﬁ$%¥ﬁﬁ%5ﬁ%k&a
o bih BRESRNERA
N/ ESEN=REES %W%TQ%?
ME B AFAIFE & &1 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

29. Provision (continued)

(ii)

Guangzhou Wan Pui is accounted for as wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group and PIT has provided land to the
Group to develop the property project in return to have
35% completed properties. Accordingly, the potential
amount of the development expenditure and other
attributable expenses for the development of properties
to be incurred to complete the development of the 35%
completed properties to be delivered to PIT is accounted
for as provision of the Group in respect of cost of the land.

On 8 August 2013, the Company entered into an
agreement (the “"Agreement”) with Luogang Business
Association and Yijing Investment to establish E/IZEER
EiERZEER AR (“LuoAo Real Estate Development”)
with registered capital of RMB100,000,000 which
engages in property development.

According to the Agreement, the Group injected
RMB60,000,000 to LuoAo Real Estate Development and
the Group held 60% equity interest in LuoAo Real Estate
Development after the completion of capital injection
while each of Luogang Business Association and Yijing
Investment injected RMB20,000,000 respectively and
each of them held 20% equity interest in the LuoAo Real
Estate Development respectively. In addition, the Group,
Luogang Business Association and Yijing Investment
agreed that after the completion of the development of
property project by LuoAo Real Estate Development,
the Group has to transfer 40% completed properties to
Luogang Business Association and Yijing Investment in
return Luogang Business Association and Yijing Investment
have to contribute part of the land consideration at
RMB926,350,000. The Group is responsible for providing
funding to finance this property project and the project
management is wholly responsible by the Group.
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29. #fE (&)

(ii)

BEMBRARINASAEEZENE
AF) - MERELRMALEER
T URBEMEREAR - KEW
36% BRI - Bt - SERFHEH
R rEREBRMRTZ236% BT
EMELEFEYRNOFE
KREMBEER 2 BESBARS
RSB GRE L HARAN 2 B

RZZE—=F\ANH ' K AH
BB S REEIRIRE R —
Dz [zl - UEMEAAR
# 100,000,000 7T 5K 37 & I & BB 55
EMEERAR ([EREHERH
) HEWERE -

B ASERNEREHER
¥ A A K #60,000,0007T ¢ I
NEB T 2 BB EREER
ZE60% Ax HE - A2 A OB B A 4
REHEHRES BRI AEAARE
20,000,0007c HFEE B D BIFAE
ZEBREHEEFT T 20% ARAE o thoh -
RNEE - ZEECBEES T RERE
BHE RERFEREZTKY
XBBE 2% AKEABERIY
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29.

30.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013

Provision (continued)

Luogang Business Association and Yijing Investment will not
be involved in daily operation and management of this property
project. In addition, Luogang Business Association and Yijing
Investment will not share any profit and loss of LuoAo Real
Estate Development during the property construction.

LuoAo Real Estate Development is accounted for as wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group and Luogang Business
Association and Yijing Investment has provided part of the land
consideration at RMB926,350,000 to the Group to develop the
property project in return to have 40% completed properties.
Accordingly, the potential development expenditure and other
attributable expenses for the development of properties to be
incurred to complete the development of the 40% completed
properties to be delivered to Luogang Business Association and
Yijing Investment is accounted for as provision of the Group in
respect of the cost of the land.

Deferred Taxation

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred
tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

29.

30.

ok B s A M (4D

EF St —ALEE

B ()

REQEBREERERRETESEZL
MEBRBRFLERERE - I ZiE
BBt MERERENNEEZRIA
Ten#EREMERENETAEN R
B8 -

RAEHWERZARISBAESEZEN
BAE MEELCEHALMERERE
ERAKEREETD THKBARE
926,350,000 ST AR ZE K TE B LAMRER
40% B TER M - Btk - TRFEEK R
EmMEEB AL REIRRE RN 240%
EERMEMELERBYENRE L
MEMEBERZ EESBARISAK
SEBR LA Z B o

I SERLTE

BERAMBIMARANZINIEREMS
ETELEHBEERABCHAEERE -
AT A AR #E R E M E R ER IR
RO

2013 2012

—E—=F —E——F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREFIT

Deferred tax assets FIEFIAE EE (118,214) (70,549)
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIBBE 331,790 311,472
213,576 240,923
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

30. Deferred Taxation (continued) 30. EZEBIE ()
The deferred tax (assets) liabilities recognised by the Group and NEFBREZANEEHREBE(EE) AERHE
movements thereon during the year are as follows: RERNREBHT -
Change in Undistributed
fair value of Revaluation earnings Other
investment of of PRC  temporary
properties  properties  Tax losses subsidiaries differences Total
RENE FEHEAR Hitr
ATES®  EfNE  HEFE AOKBR  ENER &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AR%Tn AR%Trn ARETR ARETRT AR%Txn
At 1 January 2012 W=E——%-5—H 134,190 33,671 (61,545) 10,000 (50,967) 65,349
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 35(b)  WERMIB R (#1:£35()) - - - - 18,678 18,678
Charge to consolidated statement e BEERENEE
of profit or loss and other WakmsiL (477 10)
comprehensive income (note 10) 112,284 - 25,653 5,000 13,959 156,896
At 31 December 2012 RZE-ZF+ZA=1-H 246,474 33,671 (35,892) 15,000 (18,330) 240,923
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 36) HE—RMBAR (436) - - 3,010 - (10,352) (7342)
Charge to consolidated statement e BEERENEE
of profit or loss and other WakmsiL (477 10)
comprehensive income (note 10) 26,772 - (48,305) 15,000 (13,472) (20,005)
At 31 December 2013 RZE-=F+=A=+-H 273,246 33,671 (81,187) 30,000 (42,154) 213,576

Other temporary differences mainly include the deductible
temporary differences in respect of the land appreciation tax
provision amounting to RMB29,911,000 (2012: RMB27,127,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE— =%+ _-H=+—HI-FEF

30. Deferred Taxation (continued)

31.

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had unused tax losses of
RMB687,938,000 (2012: RMB566,802,000) available to offset
against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of RMB324,748,000 (2012: RMB143,568,000) of
such tax losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the remaining tax losses of RMB363,190,000 (2012:
RMB423,234,000) due to the unpredictability of future profits
streams. The unrecognised tax losses will expire in the following

30. JEFEHIE (4F)

W-ZBE—-—=%+-"A=+—0" K
EEREEOABDATEEEARK
687,938000c(Z T —=—F: AR
566,802,000 7T) * A AIEEHARN G
AR¥E324,748,0007L(ZF—=F : AR
#5143,568,0007T ) 2 BiIEEE B MR AR
FERIEE E o AP AITRAIR A -
I R FER T AR 363,190,00070( =Z

years: ——4F : AR¥423,234,0007T) I F TH &S
BREREEHIBEEE o W AERTIEEE

PR AT S5 H -
2013 2012
—E—=F —E——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETTT
2013 —E—=fF - 2,237
2014 T 15,732 15,732
2015 —E-RE 9,821 9,821
2016 TR 115,594 160,934
2017 —E—+fF 151,494 234,510
2018 —T—)N\F 70,549 —
363,190 423,234

Senior Notes

On 23 November 2012, the Company issued senior notes in
an aggregate principal amount of US$125,000,000 (the “2012
Notes”). The issue price was 97.83% of the principal amount of
the 2012 Notes.

On 28 January 2013, the Company issued additional senior
notes (the “2013 Notes"”) in an aggregate principal amount of
US$100,000,000. The issue price was 106.668% of the principal
amount of the 2013 Notes and plus accrued interest from (and
including) 23 November 2012 to (but excluding) 28 January
2013.

31. BEEE

N-_ZT——F+—A=-+=H ' AQFA
(TR 4E%E 4 125,000,000 LB L E

BIZZ—=FF8])  -BTER=-Z
—FREAES597.83%

RZFE—=F—A=+N\B ' A28EE
METEEZR(_T—=FZFK])
A% #8585 100,000,000 %7 - HEITEA
TE - —FEBAETE 2106.668% 5
MEZZE—=—F+—A=+=H (8%
B)E-_Z—=f—A=-+/N\B(ETE
E%A) ZERTFIR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 #Z —ZE—=F+_—H=+—HIIFZ

BERE (&)

31. Senior Notes (continued) 31.

Both 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes are listed on the SEHK. Both
2012 Notes and 2013 Notes carry interest at rate of 13.875%
per annum and interest is payable semi-annually on 23 May
and 23 November in arrears. The 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes
will mature on 23 November 2017, unless redeemed earlier. At
any time and from time to time on or after 23 November 2015,
the Company may redeem the 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes, in
whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the percentage
of the principal amount of the 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes
redeemed set forth below plus accrued and unpaid interest (if
any) to (but not including) the redemption date, if redeemed
during the twelve month period beginning on 23 November of
each year set forth below:

—E-—FEREN_E-=—FZEHN
EBHMIF LT —E——FEZEK—
T -—=FEBHIRETF13.875% T 5
BREBEG¥FHARRAAZT=H
R+—RAZT=BXfT - BRIFEBERERE
Bl [BAZE-——FEZBER-_T—=4F
ZEBRR T —tF+—A=+=8%
Ho ARAIAIEER - —RAF+— A
ZT =B 2R R DRE T X ET
WELE(HER-ZE——FFBE=-F
—=FEBRASBENAEOL) BNEZE
BRI HR(ETNEEZB) Bt MR
ME(WE) (MR TXAREFEE T —
A-+=BHABRHT—E S HEARERD)
EHYELELO T —FEER T
—=FF&:

Redemption Price

Period ]| fEEE
2015 —T—FF 106.93750%
2016 —F—RF 103.46875%

At any time prior to 23 November 2015, the Company will be
entitled at its option to redeem both 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes
in whole but not in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of
the principal amount of the Notes redeemed plus the applicable
premium as defined in the offering memorandum of the
Company dated 14 November 2012 (“Applicable Premium”) as
of, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including)
the redemption date.

Applicable Premium is the greater of (i) 1% of the principal
amount of such 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes and (ii) the excess
of (A) the present value at such redemption date of the
redemption price of such 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes on 23
November 2015, plus all required remaining scheduled interest
payments due on such Notes through 23 November 2015 (but
excluding accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date),
computed using a discount rate equal to comparable treasury
price in United States plus 100 basis points, over (B) the
principal amount of such Notes on such redemption date.
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 #HZ_—F—=F+_A=+—HIFFZ

31. Senior Notes (continued)

At any time and from time to time prior to 23 November

2015, the Company may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate

principal amount of the 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes with the

net cash proceeds of one or more sales of ordinary shares

of the Company in an equity offering at a redemption price of

113.875% of the principal amount of the Notes redeemed, plus

accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the

redemption date.

The 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes contain a liability component

and the above early redemption options:

(i)

(ii)

Liability component represents the present value of the
contractually determined stream of future cash flows
discounted at the prevailing market interest rate at that
time applicable to instruments of comparable credit status
and providing substantially the same cash flows, on the
same terms, but without the embedded derivatives.

The interest charged for the year is calculated by applying
an effective interest rate of approximately 15.28% per
annum to the liability component since the 2012 Notes
and 2013 Notes were issued.

Early redemption options are regarded as embedded
derivatives not closely related to the host contract. The
directors consider that the fair value of the above early
redemption options is insignificant at initial recognition
date, 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2013.

31.

BERE (&)

RKARAIN-_E—RHF+—A=-+=H

A BE R R AR IA — IR Z IR HE AR T
EABRZBREFIRER  TREE

EA£5E113.8756% MERIE - ZNEZE
BRI A (ETRIEZAB) MER KA
FE(E) REZERE_ZT——FZ2E
MZT—=FBEAS BT °

:%—_Emﬁﬁ& TE-=FREESH

BEMO M Ll H R PRERE

(i) BEBIA/BEOHNENRERE
nE  ERAFEUERFRAR

HEARY EHERSREETEEHR
APTETAMBEHTANERER
MSNEETIRREE

FRAEBRABELIHE =
FEE R =T — = FEEEIIT R
LB FEFEMNL 15.28% 515

i) RPEERRALERIANER
DRIRMIRASTETE - EERA
REERAS =2 —F+=

A=+-BR-F—=&+-7
=+— B LR P EOEN AT
REA -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

31. Senior Notes (continued)

31.

The movement of the liability component in the 2012 Notes and

2013 Notes during the year is set out below:

BERE (&)

AN ——FEER T —=FEE
BEBLEBWT

2013 2012

=F =4 —E=—_4F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETT

Carrying amount as at 1 January K—A—HBOKREE 750,326 -
Proceeds received BT RIR 665,750 739,177
Exchange gain b 5 Wz (41,862) (607)
Interest expenses FERZ 189,979 11,756
Less: interest paid to notes holder B ENREREEATE (193,626) -
Carrying amount as at 31 December R+=ZA=+—BMEEE 1,370,567 750,326

The fair value of the 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes at 31 December
2013 amounted to RMB1,517,909,000 (2012: RMB837,920,000)
which is calculated using the market price of the 2012 Notes and

2013 Notes at the end of reporting period (or the nearest day of

trading).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013

ok B s A M (4D

EF St —ALEE

On 4 July 2013, the Company issued and allotted a total of
approximately 163,095,925 shares of HK$0.01 each in the
Company at HK$0.26 each to the shareholders who elected

to receive shares in the Company in lieu of cash for the 2013

special dividended pursuant to the scrip dividend distribution

announced by the Company on 4 June 2013. These shares rank

pari passu in all respects with other shares in issue.

32. Share Capital of the Company 32. XAFIRA
Number of shares Amount
RinEE ot
HK$'000
FHL
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SHEE0.01 Tz LBk
Authorised: AT
At 1 January 2012 and 31 December 2012 R-E——F—HA-HAK
and 31 December 2013 T —&F+-A=+—Hk
—Z—=F+-A=+—H 100,000,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETRAR :
At 1 January 2012 and 31 December 2012 RZE——F—F—HAK
—T——&%#+-fF=+—H 2,615,500,000 26,155
Issued pursuant to share dividend (note 12)  ER% S imE4T (F3E12) 163,095,925 1,631
Exercise of shares options TR RERR 4,249,429 42
At 31 December 2013 —ZT—=%+_-F=+—H 2,782,845,354 27828
2013 2012
—E-—= —E—_F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETIT
Shown in the consolidated RERE I EHRERZS
financial statements 26,347 25,015

RZZE—=FtANAB - XARIEER
B 0.26 B TR R (2 F IR IE ZIR IR
ARRR_ZE—=FNAHBEEMHIA
BB DIRARARRG (MIEHRE) B
BT —=FHFRIKRE) FTREZEESH
#9163,095,925 &% 0.01 BT 2k fh °
ZERMEMEH EEREMEZHTRG
ZERFHAL
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

33. Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries disclosed in note 26, amount due to a related party
disclosed in note 27 bank and other borrowings disclosed in
note 28, senior notes disclosed in note 31, net of cash and cash
equivalents, and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising share capital, reserves and retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
periodically. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
assess budgets of major property projects taking into account
of the provision of fundings. Based on the operating budgets,
the directors of the Company consider the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital and balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new
share issues and share buy-back as well as the issue of new
debt or the redemption of existing debt.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

34. Financial Instruments

(a)

(b)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2013

EF =t A=t —ALEE

34. €@ TH

Categories of financial instruments (a) €@TEER
2013 2012
—=2—= —E—_F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Financial assets SREE
Available-for-sale investment AL ERE 25,000 25,000
Loans and receivables (including B R EW R
cash and cash equivalents) (BRERAERRSEEY) 5,596,751 3,532,945
Financial liabilities SRBEE
Amortised cost BEEHPKAN 12,689,604 7,350,944
Financial guarantee contracts HIIEHERE L 6,432,581 3,676,455
Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIEREEEERBER

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries and related parties,
restricted bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade
and other payables, amounts due to non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries and a related party, bank and
other borrowings, senior notes and financial guarantee
contracts. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include market risk (interest
rate risk and foreign currency risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

FEEFESRTIABFEESIRA
il FEUR - FEURPH B & ) 2 FFIEAX
BRER N EERRFIA - ZRGBIRTT
TR |RITERERE BHRE
AR - BB A R 2 IR
BRER K —RRERRRIEA - RITR
H gk - BERBARMBHER
AR - WEF S R T BB R AR RN
AEFRE - EitE SR T AR
TERREBEDSRAR(BFEM=X
R\ M SMNERBR) - EEERR KR
PHETAR - BEZFRBRABER
FomT o  EREEENMERZS
[\ - CARELR & B G ROM AT &

H it ©

Annual Report 2013 =& —=4R4E$)

211



‘ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

212

ok B 5 i M

(#4)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#F1+_-H=+—HI FF

34. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

0]

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
relates primarily to its variable-rate bank borrowings,
restricted bank deposits and bank balance.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate
risk relates primarily to fixed-rate bank and other
borrowings, certain portion of amounts due to non-
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries and senior
notes. The Group currently does not enter any
interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to fair
value interest rate risk. However, the management
will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to cash flow interest rate
risk for its variable-rate bank borrowings at the end
of the reporting period. The restricted bank deposits
and bank balances are not included in the sensitivity
analysis as the management of the Group considers
that the interest rate fluctuation is minimal. The
analysis is prepared assuming the variable rate bank
borrowings outstanding at the end of the reporting
period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50
(2012: 50) basis points increase or decrease is used
when reporting cash flow interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management'’s assessment of the possible change
in interest rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013

34. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

0]

(ii)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

If interest rates had been 50 (2012: 50) basis points
higher/lower with all other variables were held
constant and excluding the effect of capitalisation
of interest, the Group's profit for the year ended
31 December 2013 would decrease/increase
by RMB3,035,000 (2012: decrease/increase by
RMB7687000).

Foreign currency risk

The Group's transactions were mainly conducted
in RMB, the functional currency of the Company
and its subsidiaries, and its major receivables and
payables are denominated in RMB. The Group is
subject to foreign exchange rate risk arising from
the assets and liabilities which are denominated in
currency other than the functional currency of the
relevant group entity. The majority of the Group's
foreign currency transactions and balances are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and United
States dollars. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. The Group manages
its foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the
movement of the foreign currency rates.

EF =t A=t —ALEE

34. £RT A (&)

(b) BIBEBREERFEREE

(%)
(i) FIEmEE ()
HBESHT (8)

(ii)

A= EFFFEB0(=F
— 44 :50) B MABE
A BEEHEFTE LT
BIEFNBERNLHFTE Al
REEHE-"ZT—=F+—
A=+—BLLFEZHEFE
B 180 A B ¥ 3,035,000
TT(ZZT——F : JD 10
AR#7,687,0007T) °

SNEEBE

AREEZRXFGEEURAF
REKBRRMNINEEE A
REEET AT ERWKEA
K ENRBEHAARES
B AEBAZHENAEBE
BERBZINEEEAINE
BilEzEERBBEMEL
ZERER AEEZBAX
BB SMNER B R K R LAE
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34. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(ii)

214

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The Group’s foreign currency denominated
monetary assets and monetary liabilities include
bank and other borrowings, senior notes and bank
balances at the end of respective reporting period
and the carrying amounts are as follows:

34. £RT A (&)

(b) BIBEBREERFEREE

(%)

(i)

SHE/RE ()
REBREREHRAINE
JIMHEMEMEEMER AR

H

(BFERITREMER - B
B RRITHER) MEREEL
T~

2013 2012
—E—= —E—_F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARETIT
Assets EE
Hong Kong dollars 7B 55,865 1,060,443
United States dollars ETT 142 807
Liabilities =0
Hong Kong dollars BIT 803,045 651,853
United States dollars ETT 1,370,567 750,326
Sensitivity analysis HRE T

The following table details the Group's sensitivity
to a 5% (2012: 5%) increase and decrease in the
RMB against the relevant foreign currencies. The
sensitivity rates used represents management's
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. A positive number below
indicates an increase in profit for the year where
RMB strengthens 5% (2012: 5%) against the
relevant currency. For a 5% (2012: 5%) weakening of
RMB against the relevant currency, there would be
an equal and opposite impact on the profit and the
balances below would be negative.
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34. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(ii)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

34. £RT A (&)

BERBEEERERBEEK
(%)

(ii) SMEmE (F)

HEEF T ()
2013 2012
—E—=F T
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETTT

Hong Kong Dollars ETT

Profit (loss) for the year FE A (E8E)
United States dollars E

Profit for the year FE A
Credit risk

As at 31 December 2013, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties and financial
guarantees provided by the Group is arising from:

° the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position;
and

o the amount of contingent liabilities in relation
to financial guarantees issued by the Group as
disclosed in note 37.

The concentration of credit risk in respect of trade
receivables is minimal as no customers represent
more than 5% of the total trade receivables as at 31
December 2013 and 2012.

37,359 (15,412)

68,523 37,486

RZZE—=F+=A=+—H" ' &
HFEFREBITEARAEBERE
B ERMSAEE R I5E
KzwmfEERKR A TSIEM
EA

s HAMBARRARMAEIEERE
ERRATHEENREE
K

o MES7TAEEEAKEEL
LB REREBENIAEE
L -

RZIZE—Z=ZFRZF——F+=A
=t+—HB AR HEREFEESE
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34. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(ii)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk of debts, the
management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual debt at the
end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies or
state-owned banks in the PRC.

The Group also exposes to concentration of
credit risk in respect of amounts due from non-
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries and
related parties at the amount of RMB193,506,000
(2012:RMB32,904,000) and RMB164,113,000
(2012:nil), respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

34. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(ii)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance
between continuity of funding and the flexibility
through the use of borrowings. The directors of
the Company closely monitor the liquidity position
and expect to have adequate sources of funding
to finance the Group's property projects and
operations.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. Specifically, bank and other
borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the earliest time band regardless of
the probability of the banks choosing to exercise
their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

The tables include both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2013

EF =t A=t —ALEE

34. £RT A (&)

BERBEEERERBEEK
(%)

(ii) SMEmE (F)

REBE LR

AEEZBRTVEBERE
B BBESHNEENEE
AR KRRARE
EZEVERRBESHRRL
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 &£ —
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34. Financial Instruments (continued) 34. £RT A (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) BEEBREEEERBEE
policies (continued) (&)
(i)  Foreign currency risk (continued) (i) SMEEfE (4E)
Liquidity tables BB xK
On demand
Weighted ~ on less Total  Total
average  than60 61180 181-365 12 23 Over3 undiscounted  camying
interest rate days days days years years years  cashflow  amount
mE  REfE ChEs
FORE  RO0BA GIZI0A WIEEE -EWE WEZE AL BERE  BEE
RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000 RMB'000
MRETR ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARETn ARMTR ARMTR ARETR
03 o8-k
Trade and other payables BAREBERR 109212 g13662  T8053 2384 81365 - 291006 2912206
Amounts due to ENHEAT
noncontroling shareholders LHERBESE (£2)
of subsidiaries (interest-free) 141552 - - - - R 17 T1137)
Amounts due to non-ontroling EfHEARZHAR
shareholders of subsiciries ReitE (ra)
(interest-oearing) 200% 44,000 - - - - - 44000 44,000
Amount due toa related party FEf-REEARE 68,002 - - - - - 63002 63002
Bank and other borrowings BRAffE 1084% 320872 7192064 1965718 424678 1405085 T30 9368909 8153277
Senior notes i 1388% 3173 63,446 %169 190338 190338 1547336 2118350 1370567
Financia quarantee ABER 6,432,581 - - - - - GARset -
TOTAL A 8099002 1729212 2688940 4618870 1682788 2306728 21,085,600 12,689,604
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34. Financial Instruments (continued)

(ii)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013

F=F—

34. £RT A (&)

=+ A= — AL R

(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) BEEBREEEERBEE
policies (continued) (&)
Foreign currency risk (continued) (ii) SMEEfE ()
Liquidity tables (continued) HBE2Zx (B)
On demand
Weighted ~ onless Tt Total
aerage  than60 61180 181365 12 23 Ovwerd undiscounted  camying
Interest rate days days days \ears Vears years  cashflow  amount
me R Feripct
TofiE  RO0BA 6IZI0A BIEMA  ERE  RESE  CEME BeRE  BEA
RMBO00  RMB000  RMBO00  RMBO00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB000
NEBTT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARMTT ARETR ARETR ARETR
01 -
Trade and other payables BARAMERS - 71938 668042  B6/02 1686 66.8M - 226806 2226806
Amounts due to ENHEAT
non-controling shareholders b E(48)
of subsiiaries (nterest-free) - 1365 - B0 45000 - - 157175 15717
Amounts due to non-coriraling AT
sharefolders of subsiciries FEE S 0000 4000 - - - - - N0 44000
Bank and other borrowings BiRERER 952% 831019 13479 876063 1063841 1165961 729660 4846345 4172637
Senior notes Br3E 15.28% 18169 3638 M50 109014 1090 99671 1323793 76032
Financiel quarantee HBER - 36745 - - - - - 36%45 -
TOTAL Gl b418680 839176 1585792 1363731 1343719 1726416 1227518 736094
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#F1+_-H=+—HI FF

34. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(ii)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

Liquidity tables (continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the “on demand or less
than 60 days “ time band in the above maturity
analysis. As at 31 December 2013, the aggregate
undiscounted principal amounts of these bank
borrowings amounted to RMB719,144,000 (2012:
RMB649,500,000). Taking into account the Group'’s
financial position, the directors do not believe
that it is probable that the banks will exercise
their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The directors believe that such bank
loans will be repaid ranging from 1 to 3 years after
the reporting date in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. At
that time, the aggregate principal and interest cash
outflows will amount to RMB823,488,000 (2012:
RMB789,608,000).

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group
could be required to settle under the arrangement
for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is
claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee.
Based on expectations at the end of the reporting
period, the Group considers that it is more likely
than not that no amount will be payable under the
arrangement. However, this estimate is subject
to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which
is a function of the likelihood that the financial
receivables held by the counterparty which are
guaranteed suffer credit losses.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 H e A B A 7]

34. £RT A (&)

(b) BIBEBREERFEREE

(%)

(i)

SHE/RE ()

nBExF (&)

Mt B R EREBGRZRT
BRI EER LME B A 5
Mz RERKNE0R A |
KESERN RZT—=4F
+=—A=+—8"  ®ERT
BERZARUBBAACHEEAA
R #719,144,000t( = &
——4F : AR¥ 649,500,000
JT) ° FF RN & B A B 7R
o BERERIT AR AL
TEEMBERERANKE
BoBEMHAGE ZERTE
AR A T B R 53 P %
TEE KA BN S HmE ERE
E3FMEE - HIF ASRE
RAEHEREEZRAR
#823,488,000 L ( — & ——
& AR#¥789,608,0007T)

EXHBENOMBERE RR
HREREFHERNKA
o ANEB A e ARIE L B
BERBEREZENRSE
B REXRBEHRNE
H  AEERR BEAEL
BARE B X E [ R
H e AT RBMGRHREF
HIIRBEERELDRER A
HEMmES - s hEF A
¥ B R R O B 75 FE W kIR
EXEEBRRNAEEZ —
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013

34. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

(i)  Foreign currency risk (continued)
Liquidity tables (continued)

The amounts included above for variable interest
rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities
are subject to change if changes in variable interest
rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

(c) Fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial instruments
carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 December 2012 and
31 December 2013 except for the senior notes issued by
the Company, for which its carrying amount and fair value
(based on the ask price in SEHK) are disclosed below:

Aok B B A M (4D

EF =t A=t —ALEE

34. £RT A (&)

(b) BIBEBREERFEREE
(%)

(ii) SMEmE (F)
nBExF (&)

14557 B s S B 2R 25 K
BE 2 FIEEHAR B
s TASMA KNI
ESEL

() A¥E

ANE E R A A sk B S5 A A T BR /Y
SHMITAZERABEHER T —=F
+=—A=+—Bk=Z—=%+=A
=+—HNATFETEEAERE
RRABEITHBERBRIN  Z5E
EERMNEMERAFE(RESS
BRI E L ERTE) BN

2013 2013 2012 2012

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

amount value amount value

—B—=5F —B—=fF —EF——4F T ——4F

FREE AEE FRMEE NFE

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T ARETT ARBFIT

Senior notes BERE 1,370,567 1,517,909 750,326 837920

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than senior notes) of the Group is determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based
on discounted cash flow analysis. The carrying amounts
of the financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

rEESREERSRAG (RELRR
SN RFERBEEERANEEER
NRSREMBINETE - REFA MBS
BRARCEERAARNEREER
CRBENREEREE A TERS
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‘ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#F1+_-H=+—HI FF

35. Acquisition of Subsidiaries 35. IWEEKIE 1 )
(@) Acquisition of assets and liabilities through (a) ZBWEBHMBATFFBAZ
acquisition of subsidiaries EERERE
For the year ended 31 December 2013 B —FE—=—Ff+—_H=1+—HI
EE
()  On 30 April 2013, the Group acquired 51% i) MRZZE—=FWA=+8"
equity interest in JTPIIE T A A ok 5 b EE 5 % AEBNREREBEARE
EBRAF Jiangmen Pengjiang Baishi Yonghao 51,000,000 7T Y2 i )T P& )T
Property Development Company Limited (the BAKBMEREZEERA A
"Baishi Yonghao”), with cash consideration of ([ B Ak ])51% k[ #E -
RMB51,000,000. The subsidiary is principally ZBAR EEREYER
engaged in the property development which holds a % WEREFEES —BAH
parcel of land pending for development in the PRC. Bt o
This acquisition was accounted for as purchase of ZERBERBAEERSE
assets and liabilities. Details are summarised below: BALR - FHIEHtman T ¢
RMB’000
ARBTT
Consideration transferred: BEEINRE

Cash e 51,000
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35. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2013

(@) Acquisition of assets and liabilities through
acquisition of subsidiaries (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 (continued)

(continued)

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at date of

acquisition are as follows:

EF =t A=t —ALEE

35. WEEKMTB AR (&)

(a) ZBWENMBARRABALZ

EEREE(R)
BE-F-—=f+-A=1+-Au1t
FE (&)

0 (&)

RUEH BB EERE
ERAENT -

RMB’'000

AR®T

Property, plant and equipment M - WE k& 20
Properties under development for sale A SHEIE YIS 231,972
Trade and other receivables B 5 R E AR 51,671
Bank balances and cash RITHEB RIS 12,785
Trade and other payables B 5 REAER K (7,780)

Amounts due to non-controlling JE S FEIZR AR AR SR IE

shareholders (188,668)
100,000
Less: Non-controlling interests W eI AR R (49,000)
51,000

The non-controlling interests amounting to
RMB49,000,000 was measured by reference to the
proportionate shares of the 49% net identifiable

assets of BaishiYonghao at the acquisition date.

FEREREA/ARY
49,000,0007T * 12 EH A
MR UEE B A2 B B RF
BEZ49% BISLLHIETE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#F1+_-H=+—HI FF

35. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued)

(@) Acquisition of assets and liabilities through
acquisition of subsidiaries (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 (continued)

() (continued)

Net cash outflow of cash and cash equivalents in
respect of acquisition of Baishi Yonghao:

35. WEEKMTB AR (&)
(a) EBWEMBLATMEAZ

EEREE(R)
BE-F-—=f+-A=1+-Au1t
FE (&)

0 (&)

ERRBAAXKAZERE R
ReFEYMIRRFE -

RMB’'000
AR¥T T

Bank balances and cash of R g B ARl 2 SRITAEB R R
the subsidiary acquired 12,785
Cash consideration paid ENBEERE (51,000)
(38,215)

(i) On 31 March 2013, the Group acquired 51% equity interest
in EMNEREEAR AT Guangzhou Kangwei Group
Company Limited (the “Guangzhou Kangwei”),
with cash consideration of RMB76,500,000. The
subsidiary is principally engaged in the property
development which holds a parcel of land pending
for development in the PRC.

This acquisition was accounted for as purchase of
assets and liabilities. Details are summarised below:

RZE—=F=Z=A=+—
B AEBEREIARSKE
A & 76,500,000 7T Y s &
MBS BB R AR ([ EM
R 1) 51% A HE o M8
BAXTEREMERE  IH
RERE —IRISFRE L -

ZHERBERBAERENA
B » RSB T

RMB’000
AR®T T

Consideration transferred: BeEE o NE
Cash ik 76,500
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE—=%#1+_-H=+—HI-FEF

35. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued) 35.

(@) Acquisition of assets and liabilities through
acquisition of subsidiaries (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 (continued)

(i)

(continued)

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at dates of
acquisition are as follows:

WEEHKE LR (&)

(a) ZBWENMBARRABALZ
BERERE (R

BE_F—=F+"A=1—HAI
FE (&)

(i) (#&)

RUEH BB EERE
ERAENT -

RMB’'000

AR®T

Properties under development for sale AIHEEHE 2 EEYE 73,643

Trade and other receivables B 5 N Hoh FEIR 50,000

Bank balances and cash RITEMR RIS 81,185

Trade and other payables 2 5 R EMERTK (4,828)
Amount due to a subsidiary of JERAR T —MEH B A RFIE

the Company (50,000)

150,000

Less: Non-controlling interests B IEFERR (73,500)

76,500

The non-controlling interests amounting to
RMB73,500,000 was measured by reference to the
proportionate shares of the 49% net identifiable
assets of Guangzhou Kang Wei at the acquisition
date.

JEVE AR M 25 & 58 A A R # 73,500,000
TC 0 T2 EBEMERE A UREE B HY 2 1]
PR EE 2 49% FEIGELHIETE -

Annual Report 2013 =& —=4R4E$)

225



226

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#F1+_-H=+—HI FF

35. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued)

(@) Acquisition of assets and liabilities through
acquisition of subsidiaries (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 (continued)

(i)

(iif)

(continued)

Net cash inflow of cash and cash equivalents in
respect of acquisition of Guangzhou Kangwei:

35. WEEKMTB AR (&)
(a) EBWEMBLATMEAZ

BERERE (R
BE_F—=F+"A=1—HAI
FE (&)

(i) (&)

FRBBEMNERz2HER
ReFEYREMAFE

RMB’'000
AR®T

Bank balances and cash of Pk gt B A RIERT T fR R €
the subsidiary acquired 81,185
Cash consideration paid BENEEKE (76,500)
4,685

On 23 July 2013, the Group, entered into a sales
and purchase agreement to acquire 80% equity
interest in (5L E{EE X AR A A]Yangjiang City
Run Xin Property Company Limited (“Yangjiang City
Run Xin"”) for a consideration of RMB4,000,000,
to develop a commercial and residential property
project mainly for sales on Long Island, Yangjiang
City, Guangdong Province, the PRC. The Group has
injected RMB261,000,000 to Yangjiang City Run
Xin by way of shareholder's loan and increase of its
registered capital.

This acquisition was accounted for purchase of
assets and liabilities. Details are summarised below:

(iii)

RZE—=FtA=+=
A AXEETLEEWE
LA B A K #4,000,000 7T
WEEIMEEEFERA
A (I EE D) 2 80% ik
B EEERBEEREGT
MEESREMARTEME
BEAHEHEE - REEERA
B AR R B R RIS N H s
ARG ITEGEEAARE
261,000,000 7T °

ZRBBERBAEENA
{BEFIBR - FHIFH T

RMB’000
ARET T

Consideration transferred: BEEE o NE:
Cash ik 4,000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

35. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued) 35.

(@) Acquisition of assets and liabilities through
acquisition of subsidiaries (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 (continued)

(iif)

(continued)

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date

of acquisition are as follows:

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE—=%#1+_-H=+—HI-FEF

WEEHKE LR (&)

(a) ZBWENMBARRABALZ
BERERE (R

BE_F—=F+"A=1—HAI
FE (&)

(i) (4&)

RUEH BB EERE
ERAENT -

RMB’000
ARBFR

Properties under development for sale
Trade and other receivables

Bank balances and cash

Trade and other payables

Amount due to a subsidiary

of the Company

Amounts due to non-controlling

shareholders

Bank and other borrowings

Less: Non-controlling interests

RIS 2 EEME
B 5 K HE A UK
RITHEBERE
85 REMBERK

FE S IR A R RO

s

RITREMIES

= g

The non-controlling interests amounting to

RMB1,000,000 was measured by reference to the

proportionate shares of the 20% net identifiable

assets of Yangjiang City Run Xin at the acquisition

date.

265,990

45

7
(202,042)

eI A B —FRIPfT 8 A Bl RRIA

(8,000)

(2,000)
(49,000)

5,000
(1,000)

4,000

FEBREZESERSARE
1,000,000 7T * J32E 5L
EERUE B 8z /A%
BEZ20% EISLLAIETE -
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h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

35. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued)

(@) Acquisition of assets and liabilities through

35. WEEKMTB AR (&)
(a) BEBWEMBLATMEAZ

acquisition of subsidiaries (continued) EEREE(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2013 (continued) Bz —_FE—=HFf+_H=+—HI
FE ()
(i) (continued) (i (&)
Net cash outflow of cash and cash equivalents in ERAWEREIMBENRES
respect of acquisition of Yangjiang City Run Xin: NI SZEYRLIFRE
RMB’'000
AR®T
Bank balances and cash of Pk gt B A RIERT TR R IR S
the subsidiary acquired 7
Cash consideration paid BENESKE (4,000)
(3,993)
For the year ended 31 December 2012 BEr—_F——Ff+-F=1+—HI
FE

The Group acquired the entire equity interest in EMH
BEREEEER AR (the “Guangzhou Wan Pui”). This
transaction has been accounted for as acquisition of
assets and liabilities as Guangzhou Wan Pui only has a
piece of land for future development.

These transactions were accounted for as purchase of

AEBECWEEMT SR &é%
BERABTEMEER D2 MR
e mREMERERE B
TERKER - BULR 52 WIIEKR
BEENAE-

ZERGERBABERBED

assets and liabilities. Details are summarised below: B o FEIBEMan T ¢
RMB'000
AREETFIT
Consideration transferred: BEEE o NE:
Deposit paid in 2011 RIZ——FEf&kE 86,000
Additional cash paid in 2012 R-T——FEMEINEE 68,700
154,700
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) I

ok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE— =%+ _-H=+—HI-FEF

35. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued) 35. WEBEMTEB A R] (&)
(@) Acquisition of assets and liabilities through (a) ZBWEBHMBATFFFBAZ
acquisition of subsidiaries (continued) EEREE(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2012 (continued) BHEr_—_E——F+_H=+—HI
EE(HF)
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of RERBMKEEE EREERE
acquisition are as follows: BT
RMB'000
AREETTT
Properties under development for sale R SHE R 654,460
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRKEIRS 358
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMERR (9,651)
Provision B (490,467)
154,700
Net cash outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect ERUEBERMEBRZRERASSE
of acquisition of Guangzhou Wan Pui: BRI FEE
RMB'000
ARETTT
Bank balances and cash of PRt B A Rl 2 SR1TAE R MRS
the subsidiary acquired 358
Cash consideration paid in 2012 R-ZE——FEMASNE (68,700)
(68,342)
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35. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued)

(b) Acquisition of business

On 16 July 2012, the Group acquired 70% entity interest
in (kM REEHERZEFR AR (the “Zhuzhou
Tianjun”) and #RMIkIEEHEFZBRR A (the “Zhuzhou
Chengtou”) at a total consideration of RMB84,000,000
from two independent parties. These acquisitions have
been accounted for as acquisition of business because
these two companies have started to presale the
properties under development at the date of acquisition.

These transactions were accounted for using acquisition
method of accounting. Details are summarised below:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

35. WEEKMTB AR (&)
(b) WX

RZE——FLA+8 A&E
LA%E R (E AR # 84,000,000 7T B
BRI A WK OMN T R B S Hb =
FEAR AR ([HRMNKER]) RAKM
Wiz E M ERZE AR A A ([R5
1M 70% B ik o B ILMHE
AEIRKEEHAREESERESRY
% B SRS EIRE 575 -

HEXZEAYBSHEAR - &
Btaan T

RMB'000
AREETFIT

Consideration transferred: BEEE o NE:
Cash Be 84,000

Acquisition-related costs were insignificant and have
been excluded from the cost of acquisition and have
been recognised as an expense in the period within the
“administrative expenses” line item in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) I

ok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE— =%+ _-H=+—HI-FEF

35. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued) 35. WEBEMTEB A R] (&)
(b) Acquisition of business (continued) (b) WiiBZ#5 (&)
Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities recognised at RUEE BB EEREBRE
date of acquisition are as follows: B AFELT

RMB'000

ARETTT

Property, plant and equipments L ER 52
Properties under development for sale Al E R 517978
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H A FE WK 18,031
Amounts due from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries & WK B A &) 2 FEHE ISR R A 31,804
Tax recoverable A EF S 3,874
Bank balances and cash RITRER RIS 58,843
Trade and other payables B 5 R HMERK (55,157)
Deposits received from sales of properties AT HE MR 2 2 E (301,327)
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries  J&{ /B A & 2 FEH2 A% A% B Z08 (10,420)
Bank and other borrowings HR1T R ELMIETR (125,000)
Deferred tax liabilities EXEBIBEEE (18,678)
120,000
Less: Non-controlling interests B FEIERRAR R M (36,000)
84,000

Amounts due from non-controlling shareholders of B s B 2 FE IS BT /B A 7] 2 FEIE AR I%
subsidiaries and trade and other receivables acquired RENE 5 &M EW A FE
with fair value of RMB31,804,000 and RMB 18,031,000, 2 RIAANERE 31,804,000 TR AR
respectively had gross contractual amounts of #518,031,0007T * WA RIBEEER
RMB31,804,000 and RMB 18,031,000, respectively. S % A% 31,804,000 T AR

18,031,000 T °

The non-controlling interests amounting to JEE IR #E 25 A A KR #£36,000,000
RMB36,000,000, was measured by reference to the IT 0 TR AU BE B HARR N R BB K Ak
proportionate share of the 30% of Zhuzhou Tianjun and IS 2 A 34 BIE B (& 30% 2 5

Zhuzhou Chengtou’s net identifiable liabilities at the STEB/E -
acquisition date.
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h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s i M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

35. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued)

35. WEEKMTB AR (&)
(b) WHBEK ()

(b) Acquisition of business (continued)

No goodwill arose on the acquisition of Zhuzhou Tianjun
and Zhuzhou Chengtou because the consideration payable
for the acquisition approximated to the fair value of
net identifiable assets of Zhuzhou Tianjun and Zhuzhou
Chengtou at acquisition date.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Net cash outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect

W RN R EB BRI AR A R EE A
B - R Z B EERM
RER RN B U 8 B B RO 7] 3
RFEERNFEES

BRI ARBBELENHERATAR
R AAFHIEHIBIA -

ERREBMBARIZEERESSE

of acquisition of subsidiary: BV 2R FaE
RMB'000
AREFIT
Bank balances and cash of FrUk BB B A R) 2 RITAA R RIA S
the subsidiaries acquired 58,843
Cash consideration paid in 2012 R-ZE——FPfHEERE (84,000)
(25,157)
Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group KB KR EF B = A

Included in the Group’s profit for the year ended 31
December 2013 is loss of RMB27,617,000 attributable
to the additional assets generated by Baishi Yonghao,
Guangzhou Kangwei and Yangjiang City Runxin in total.
No revenue is generated from Baishi Yonghao, Guangzhou
Kangwei and Yangjiang City Runxin for the year.

Had the above acquisition been completed on 1 January
2013, and the Group's profit for the year ended 31
December 2013 would have been RMB723,687000 as no
revenue is generated for the year.

The proforma information is for illustrative purposes only
and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results
of operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed at 1 January
2013, nor is intended to be a projection of future results.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Equity Interest in Subsidiaries

For the year ended 31 December 2013

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2013 72 —FE—=%#1+_-H=+—HI-FEF

36. Disposal of A Subsidiary/Partial Disposal of 36. HE—REKBAR HHEHE

B B 2 7] oz B

BE—F—=F1+-A=1T—HULFE

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group disposed HE_E—=F+-_A=+—HItHF
of its owned 70% equity interest in #kiMh XESE A AR A B AEBEHEERKMNT REE HE
& Zhuzhou Tianjun. The net assets of Zhuzhou Tianjun at the day MEERAA70% K- RHEBE
of disposal amounts to RMB64,312,000 were as follow: N KELE EFE AR 64,312,000 7T
BREATEIE
RMB’000
ARETT
Property, plant and equipment YIZ - R KRR 35
Deferred tax assets RIERIBE E 3,010
Properties for sales RIS EYIR 542,052
Trade and other receivables B 5 K& EAth FER 9,347
Amounts due from non-controlling shareholders JE UL SEHZE AR A% BR SR IE 31,824
Tax recoverable AR ER & 11,996
Bank balances and cash RITEMREIRS 26,360
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMERR (4,111)
Sale deposit received for sale of properties MAMLHEMFE W2 HEES (413,849)
Amounts due to a subsidiary of the Company FERT A A B — AT A RIFIE (10,000)
Bank and other borrowings SR1T R EAL X (122,000)
Deferred tax liabilities FERIBRE (10,352)
Net Assets disposed of Frii & EESE 64,312

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary:

Consideration receivable
Net Assets disposed of
Non-controlling interests

Gain on disposal

Net cash outflow of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary:

Consideration receivable

Less: deferred cash consideration

Less: bank balances and cash of the subsidiary
disposed of

HE— B AR

FEUAR B 65,700
Tt EEEFE (64,312)
IR RS 19,294
&R 20,682

HEE—HNEARAEzZE SR
ReFBY R RLFR

e B 65,700
o RERSE (65,700)
W HEMBARRITERERS
(26,360)
(26,360)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

36.

37.

Disposal of A Subsidiary/Partial Disposal of
Equity Interest in Subsidiaries (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2012

On 5 November 2012, the Group disposed of its 15% and
30% equity interests in a wholly-owned subsidiary-Guangzhou
Nansha Aoyuan Property Company Limited (& Y B Eith 2=
BBRAF]) (“Guangzhou Nansha Aoyuan”) to independent third
parties for a consideration of approximately RMB1,500,000
and RMB3,000,000, respectively. After the transfer, the Group
continues to hold 55% equity interest and retains control over
Nansha Aoyuan which is an investment holding company and its
subsidiary is engaged in property development.

Contingent Liabilities

At the end of respective reporting period, the Group had
contingent liabilities as follows:

(a)

36.

37.

HE—RBRBLAR FHHE
M ATz IR #E (1)
BE—F——F+-_A=1+—HULFE
RZEBE——F+—AHA AEEMAB
VE=ZFHEERZ2ENBAREIMNE
PERRERMESRAR(EMELERE])
15% & 30% MRz #E + REDBIHARE
1,500,0007T & A R #3,000,0007T ° 12
E%?é IR 2 B 4 B 5 75 55 % HY R AE N AR
BEBPBRERNEHE  Z2RARE
TR AE - B AR EMERE -

HAREE
REBELR - FREORABENT -

2013 2012
—E—= —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFIT
Guanrantees given to banks in connection FLIEFE=FMEELT
with facilities granted to third parties IRITHVFER 6,432,581 3,676,455

The Group acted as guarantor to the mortgage bank loans
granted to certain purchasers of the Group's properties
and agreed to repurchase the properties upon the
purchasers’ default on the repayment of bank loans and
repay the outstanding loan and interest accrual thereon.
The fair value of the financial guarantee contracts is not
significant as the default rate is low.

(b)  During the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group
entered into an agreement with two independent third
parties (the “Vendor"”) for a potential acquisition of
a company (the “Target”). However, this acquisition
agreement was subsequently terminated by the Group
because of the uncertainty about the validity of the Vendor's
shareholding in the Target. The Vendor then made claims
against the Group for compensation of RMB61,096,000.
The legal case is in legal proceeding. However, no provision
has been provided for this case because, in the opinion of
the executive directors of the Company and the Company'’s
legal counsel, the likelihood that the Group is required to
pay the compensation is remote.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 5] 4 A B A 7]

AEBBETALSESETHEER
RIZBIRITE R M EEERA © W
FEREREREERITEREE
EIEREENREEERLER
FIE - HREHNERIK - MISER
BHMATFELTERK -

b) RBE-_TZELF+_HA=+—H
LHEE AEEEREFILE=
TTETDRAEEE KT
(TBRRA) ZEFHRR] e °
AW - HREARBRARZEE
MBREFEIRERNSR A58
RERKIEZ B - BIEER
AASERHER  EXRBEEAR
#61,096,0007T ° ZAREERM B Al
EEETTERFRR - A > AQA]
WITEZERARBERBERRR
KEI%ﬁEIEZHE*EZT%’IHﬁ
8 EUE I R A RIS EL B -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 72 —FE—=%#1+_-H=+—HI-FEF

38. Operating Lease Arrangements 38.

As lessor

At the end of the respective reporting period, the Group had
contracted with tenants for the following future minimum lease

ReHERH
EREBEA

REBEHR - AREEBETETON
ARRSAEHERBNT

payments:
2013 2012
—E-=F —E——fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARET T
Within one year —FR 61,656 53,969
In the second to fifth year inclusive FEFRF (BEEERSE) 170,459 204,540
After five years AFAE 193,477 203,994
425,592 462,503

Rental from certain tenants of an investment property
are determined at the amount of the higher of a specified
percentage of their turnover and a fixed monthly rental. The
remaining properties are expected to generate rental yields
of average 1% to 8% per annum on an on-going basis. All the
properties held have committed tenants from 2 to 20 years.

As lessee

At the end of the respective reporting period, the Group had
outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as

REMEHOMPZHEESNIRELRE
FELXKEEAERZESEEE - #
TYOXRMBHEELESFIH1%E
8% ML OIHRE - IAREYERITH?2
ZE20FNEAHMES ©

ERAEBA

REREHR - NEERETATHOHE
LHERTHARRKEHEERIE R AX
MAERR AT A2

follows:
2013 2012
—E—=F T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETTT
Within one year —&FR 6,028 3,623
In the second to fifth year inclusive FEERF (BEEEMSE) 4,085 593
10,113 4,116
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

38. Operating Lease Arrangements (continued)

Operating lease payments mainly represent rentals payable
by the Group for certain of its office premises. Leases are
negotiated with range from 1 to 3 years and rentals are fixed for
an average term of 1 to 3 years.

39. Other Commitments

At the end of respective reporting period, the Group has other
commitments as follow:

38.

39.

RErE R (E)
EEHERAEERAEERETHA
EMEAHAS - BEASHREFH
NF-—E=F FH-E=FANES
HERE -

Hth i

REREHR - NEBZEMAFEDT

2013 2012
—E—=fF T
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETIT

Construction cost commitments for BRIAMERR GG MR NRE 2
properties for sales contracted for AT BH B W) S IR SR AN A I

but not provided in the consolidated
financial statements

Commitments for acquisition of land use B ET4IMERRER A B FERER ARG 2

rights contracted for but not provided B RN (s PR AR
in the consolidated financial statements

Construction cost commitments for EETAVIERFAR & BT 15 Rk A
investment properties contracted for AR 2 AR B Y SR RPN AN I

but not provided in the consolidated

financial statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE— =%+ _-H=+—HI-FEF

40. Share-Based Payment Transactions

Equity-settled share option scheme

The Company's share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 23 October 2007
for the primary purpose of providing incentives to directors and
eligible employees.

At 31 December 2013, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the
Scheme was 4,568,000 (2012: 8,300,000), representing 0.16%
(2012: 0.32%) of the shares of the Company in issue at that
date. The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which
options granted and may be granted to any individual in any
one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point in time, without prior approval
from the Company’s shareholders.

Consideration of HK$1 is payable on the grant of an option.
Options may be exercised according to the schedule set out
below. The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant; (ii) the
average closing price of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company's shares.

40. IR ABERNNRS

BRAGE R

ARaE BT 8 ([5H81]) HRER
—ERLFTATZHBBRIRER
Ry TEENRAEENAERESR
TEft22R -

R-_ZE—=F+—"A=+—8 " BE+t
B R R m AR TT 6 RIS AR P8 B AR
B E H 54568000 =T — =4
8,300,0000%) * 1542 Alsz A 2 &1
2016%(=ZF—=4F : 0.32%) ° RLEAR
NEIREELEAE - BB EIR D ER
T P AR 10 A8 BT A] BB 3 AN 1 B fa] B
MEZEITRMDAI10% ° RAEARRQ AR
SEE - NER—EFE AR ERA
THE KA R 2 RS B T
R E1T 2 BRDEE TRl BIR AR Bl E
IR B TR AT 1% ©

RhBERERM ZRER BT - BiE
AR T XS 2 B R T AT - 1718
EBHARRESZEE - ATHER)AR
A R B HIR T (B (i) BEE
HASHAAEEXANFHRTE: &
(i) AABRMNEEZZ=DE °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B R (4)

' E— A= —HIFE

For the year ended 31 December 2013

40. Share-Based Payment Transactions
(continued)

Details of specific categories of options are as follows:

No. of options

40. DIRBARERNFNRS (&)

BIE B ED BB

granted Exercise price Fair value/
after the after the share at
Option type adjustment Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period adjustment grant date
Eikdd RAAH
BRERY FRBRERE RLAH BEHE A{TEHE ARALGRE  SROVE
HKS HKS
BT BT
2009 900,000 25 September 2009 None 25 September 2009 140 0.58
t0 24 September 2012
2009 “STAENAZTER B “EENENAZTRRE
“E-HNAZTERA
2010A 6,124,715 18 January 2010 18 January 2010 to 23 March 2011 to 1299 0.58
22 March 201 31 December 2013
2010A ZT-ZE-ATNAH ZT-TE-ATN\HE Sy =
—F——F=f=1ZH “E-ZHtZA=t-H
20108 6,124,714 18 January 2010 18 January 2010 to 24 March 2012 to 1299 0.58
23 March 2012 31 December 2013
20108 “Z2-2£-A/\R “Z2-Z5-A1/\AZ i Sy U
“E-"%-A-1=H Z3=F+ZR=1-H
2011A 2,124,715 4 April 2011 4 April 2011 to 24 March 2013 to 1318 0.53
23 March 2012 31 December 2014
2011A —Z2-——4NANA “Z-—4NAMAZE Z3-Z¥-A-TmAZ
“2-¥=A-1=H “E-METZA=t-H
2011B 2124714 4 April 2011 4 April 2011 to 24 March 2013 to 1318 0.56
23 March 2013 31 December 2014
20118 “E——%MmAmA “E——4MANAZE “E-=#-A-fmAZ
ZZ-=F=A=1=AH ZE-WETZA=T-H
2011C 318,707 4 April 201 None 4 April 201 1318 046
to 4 April 2014
2011C “T——EmAmA & “E2——4NAmBZE
“Z2-MEMARA
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE— =%+ _-H=+—HI-FEF

40. Share-Based Payment Transactions 40. IRPAEBRINAHRS (K)
(continued)
The following table disclose movement's of the Company’s TERBEEEREENEAFERBAESF
share options held by the directors and employees during the BT AR A B BE R E 2

current and prior years:

Exercised
QOutstanding Qutstanding after the QOutstanding
at Granted  Exercised Expired at Granted ~ Adjustment  adjustment Expired at
1 January during during during 31 December during during during during 31 December
Option type 2012 the year the year the year 2012 the year the year the year the year 2013
i i R-F—_F R-F-=F
i = TZA=t-H £R TZA=T-A
AfE FRRE FROR FRER AE FRRE FRER BBROE  ERER AfifE
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 (note)
Ty N T T T (Hf:E)
2009 900 = = (900) - - - - - -
2010A 6,000 = = (4,000) 2,000 = 125 (2,125) - -
20108 6,000 = = 4,000) 2,000 - 124 (2,124) - -
2011A 2,000 - - - 2,000 - 125 - - 2,125
20118 2,000 - - - 2,000 - 124 - - 2,124
2011C 300 - - - 300 - 19 - - 319
17,200 = = (8,900) 8,300 - 517 4249 - 4,568
Exercisable at the
end of the year
RERATE 6,300 4,568
Weighted average
exercise price (HK9)
mEHAGER (B1) 1.39 139 132
Note: Regarding to the announcement of the declaration and distribution of M : tAAFIBEHA-—Z=—=—®#mA—-+<848
special dividend of the company dated 26 April 2013, the Company make BEEREMNERRE T AEmMS » ARQT
adjustment to the exercise prices and the number of share options upon HWARNGIN -—ZEE+FENA+=HEME
the outstanding options under share option scheme adopted by the RSt 21T N ARITEERE 21T EBRER
company on 13 September 2007. WA EH A -
In respect of the share options exercised during the year, the FERITEEIRERITEE B &0 F 4 5%
weighted average share price at the dates of exercise was BR1.328BT(ZF—_F : 0.8887T) °

HK$1.32 (2012: HK$0.88).
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

40.

Share-Based Payment Transactions 40. IR EBERSTAHRE ()
(continued)
These fair values were calculated using the binominal model. NEEER-ERERTE - ZER
The inputs into the model were as follows: ZEBAZEINT ¢
2009 2010A&B 2011A&B 2011C
Exercise price TE(E HK$1.40 HK$1.299 HK$1.318 HK$1.318
1.40%77C  1.299%7  1.318%r  1.318%T
Expected volatility S 70% 68% 64% 62%
Expected life TEETE A 3 year 4 years 4 years 3 years
=% kS S =4F
Risk-free rate 42 [ fp 1 2R 2.70% 0.19% 1.60% 1.20%
Expected dividend yield TEHANR B [B] 7R & 1.50% 3.00% 2.80% 2.80%

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous one
year. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted,
based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of
non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations.

The Group recognised the total expense of RMB118,000 (2012:
RMB1,079,000) for the year ended 31 December 2013 in
relation to share options granted by the Company.

The number of share options granted expected to vest has been
reduced to reflect historical experience of forfeiture of options
granted prior to completion of vesting period and accordingly
the share option expense has been adjusted. At the end of the
reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number
of options that are expected to ultimately vest. The impact of
the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in
the profit and loss over the remaining vesting period, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of
the options. The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair value of the share options are based on the directors'
best estimate. The value of an option varies with different
variables of certain subjective assumptions.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 5] 4 A B A 7]
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EHNREARENE R EBRERE
AR BELRTEROBRIELRE
HIR SR AT A E - BRI S
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 72 —FE—=%#1+_-H=+—HI-FEF

Retirement Benefit Plan 41. BRERIETE
According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, REDEIEEERNEER - KNARIHH
the Company's PRC subsidiaries are required to participate in B B JB8 A B 78 22 B pR b 75 T BURT B R Y
a defined contribution retirement scheme administrated by TFREMFRRETE - REB R PR E
the local municipal government. The Group's PRC subsidiaries ANal Ty AT R B #F iR 5 T BT R
contribute funds which are calculated on certain percentage ENRER DL TEZ @RI XA
of the average employee salary as agreed by local municipal TR AEERNEAKRGIREES - K
government to the scheme to fund the retirement benefits SEERAREMNGFEIEENEEZERER
of the employees. The principal obligation of the Group with BIET 2L PR BER R -
respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme.
Related Party Transactions 42. BEAETRS
(@)  The Group had material transactions during the year with @) AEBRAFEHBEALHENE
related parties as follows: ARSI :
2013 2012
—EB—=fF —E——4F
Related party Nature of transaction RMB’000 RMB'000
FAEAL RHMHE AR®T T ARETTT
A related party (note) Interest income 6,000 -
raEn Al () FLEMA
Non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries Interest income 1,024 -
B A B 2 FEIERR AR R FLEMA
Non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries Interest expense 16,998 3,234

MR A2 IR BRI

Note: The related party is an entity established in the PRC, and is
controlled by the non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries.

st - ZEEARARTEKINELRE - Thai B
R IR Z S o
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

42. Related Party Transactions (continued) 42. BEALTRF (E)
(b)  The remuneration of key management personnel during b) REEFEEZZEEAS G
the year is as follows: T :
2013 2012
—E—=F —E——F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFR ARETTT

Short-term benefits 72 BtE A 24,234 22,087
Share-based payments AR 17 R EERR 2 53k 118 1,079
24,352 23,166
The remuneration of directors and key executives is EERFEEZITHA B H BN TS B Er
determined by the remuneration committee having regard ZEgERBAXRBRTSBEM
to the performance of individuals and market trends. EEE ©
43. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the 44. EAREEM B A RFE
Company
(@) General information of principal (a) FENBLT—RER
subsidiaries
Details of the Group's principal subsidiaries at the end of RBEER - AEEEEZMER A
the reporting period are as follows: ZEHBI
Issued and
fully paid
Place of Attributable share capital/
incorporation/ equity interest registered
Name of subsidiary establishment held share capital  Principal activities
R A BEER BRTRAR
WEARER L2 gz BA/ZRBE  TEER
2013 2012
ZE-Zf "%
Add Hero Holding Limited British Virgin Islands 100%  100% US$10,000  Investment holding
("Add Hero”) (note a) ("BVI)
Add Hero Holding Limited ERETHS 100005 RERK

(TAdd Hero ) (i3t a)
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Company (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013

43. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the

(@) General information of principal subsidiaries

F=F—

=+ A=— AL R

43. ARREEMEQRAFE (&)

(a) EEMBERE—REFR (F)

(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of Attributable share capital/
incorporation/ equity interest registered
Name of subsidiary establishment held share capital  Principal activities
ML/ HEER BRTRARZ
WEARER ATk kS BARESR BE/EMRE  TEER
2013 2012
ZE-Zf —Z—_F
Add Gain Investments Limited BVI 100%  100% US$100  Investment holding
EREREE 100%7  REBR
Add Lion Profits Limited BV 100%  100% US$100  Investment holding
SEARES 100%T  REER
Add Power Investments Limited BVI 100%  100% US$100  Investment holding
EREREE 100%7  REBR
Add Right Investments Limited BVI 100%  100% US$100  Investment holding
SEARES 100%T  REER
Bright Oriental Limited Hong Kong 100%  100% HK$1  Investment holding
B BT RERR
China Aoyuan International Hong Kong 100%  100% HK$1  Investment holding
Development Limited B BT REER
ERAIEEHERREERAR PRC 100%  100% US$49,000,000  Property development
(Chongaing Chuangguan Real Estate
Development Company Limited)
EREIREHEREERAR G 490000005  MEER
BERNEREERERAH PRC 100%  100% RMB80,000,000  Property development
(Fogang Tong Li Sheng Investment
Development Company Limited)
FERNERERRERAR # ARES0,000000  WEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

43. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the 43. XATEEMMB A TS (&)
Company (continued)
(@) General information of principal subsidiaries (a) EEMBAT—RER ()
(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of Attributable share capital/
incorporation/ equity interest registered
Name of subsidiary establishment held share capital  Principal activities
RilAYe HEER ERTRAR
WEARER ARk Rags BE/EMRE  TEER
2013 2012
ZE-Zf —Z—_F
RESERRAF PRC 100% 100%  RMB680,000,000  Investment holding
(Aoyuan Group Company Limited)
RESEARAR Gl AR¥680,000,0007  REER
ENRE SRSt EREERAT] PRC 100% 100%  RMB380,000,000  Property development

(Guangzhou Aoyuan Hai Jing
Cheng Real Estate Development

Company Limited)
ENREESHEHEREARAT mE AR#380,0000007  WERE
ENTmEEEXERHEREERAH PRC 100% 100%  RMB170,000,000  Property development

(Guangzhou Panyu Jin Ye Yuan
Real Estate Development

Company Limited)
BT %S ZREHEREERAR e ARE170,000,0007  MEXE
ENTEREEFHEREERAH PRC 100% 100%  RMB180,000,000  Property development

(Guangzhou Panyu Jin Ye Real
Estate Development Company Limited)

BN EECEEHEREERAT] HE AE®180,000000  MEEE

BN MR B HERE AR AR PRC 100% 100%  RMB60,000,000  Property development
(Guangzhou Olympic Real Estate
Development Company Limited)

ENAHEREHEREERAR G AR®60,000,0007  WEER

BN ERRNC R B EREERAR PRC 100% 100%  RMB31,000,000  Property development
(Guangzhou Panyu Olympic Real
Estate Development Company Limited)

ENBEBRNC B EREARAT e AR®31,000000T  WEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE— =%+ _-H=+—HI-FEF

43. A QR EEMEQRAFE (&)

43. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the
Company (continued)

(@) General information of principal subsidiaries

(a) FEMBERE—REFR (F)

(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of Attributable share capital/
incorporation/ equity interest registered
Name of subsidiary establishment held share capital  Principal activities
ML/ HEER BRTRAZ
WEARER ARk Rags BE/EMRE  TEER
2013 2012
—E-=F —T-—f
BENREEELEERER AR PRC 100%  100% RMB50,000,000  Provision of consultancy
(Guangzhou Aoyuan Assets of services and hotel
Management Company Limited) ownership
BNREAELLERERAR el AR¥50,0000007T  REFARBLEREE
ENEPBREEREERAR PRC 100% 100%  RMB120,494,000  Property development
(Guangzhou Nansha Guo Ao Real
Estate Development Company Limited)
ENELEREHEREARAR hE ARE1204940007  WERE
EBgEHEREER AT PRC 100%  100% RMB31,000,000  Property development
(Longnan Jin Cheng Real Estate
Development Company Limited)
EEEHEHEREARAR hE AR%31000000T  MEER
FHEEEHEREERAA PRC 100%  100% RMB80,000,000  Property development
(Yulin Aoyuan Real Estate
Development Company Limited)
FNEEFHEREERAA el AR$800000007  MEEE
FHRARENFHEREERAR PRC 100% 100%  RMB200,000,000  Property development
(Yulin Aoyuan Cannes Real Estate
Development Company Limited)
INRERAIEHEREERAR e AR%200,000000  WEEE
P IREREERAR PRC 51%  51% RMB20,000,000  Property development
(Jiangmen Jiangao Real Estate Development
Company Limited) (“Jiangmen Jiangao”)
IR EREERAR e AR®20,000000c  MIEEE

(DIFIRI)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

43. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the 43. KR RIFXEMEB AT (&)
Company (continued)
(@) General information of principal subsidiaries (a) EEMBAT—RER ()
(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of Attributable share capital/
incorporation/ equity interest registered
Name of subsidiary establishment held share capital  Principal activities
RilAYe HEER ERTRAR
WEARER ARk Rags BE/EMRE  TEER
2013 2012
ZE-Zf —Z—_F
BEMAREEERAT PRC 80%  80% RMB50,000,000  Property development
(Qingyuan Aoyuan Property Company Limited)
FETREEXRRAR el ARES0,000000  WEER
RERERESERAH PRC 100%  100% RMB1,030,000,000  Property development
(Shenyang Aoyuan New City
Property Company Limited)
B REHERERAA el ARE1,030,000000 MERE
BNREEHERTERAR PRC 100% 100%  HK$750,000,000  Property development

(Guangzhou Aoyu Real Estate
Exploitation Company Limited)

ENRBEHERUERAR G 750,000,000  MEERE
RILEGREERERAR] PRC 100%  100% US$110,000,000  Property development
(Zhongshan Plaza Development

Company Limited)
PLBESFERRARAA Gl 110,000000%7  MEERE
itz R (BIL) EXEBAR PRC 100%  100% US$5,552,000  Property development

(Woolim Fanta (Kunshan)
Development Company Limited)

BIRZA (B ERRRAH G 55520005  MERE
ik (B) BRAR PRC 100%  100% US$3,100,000  Property development
(Woolim (Kunshan) Development
Company Limited)
(R BB AT HE 31000005  MEERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) I

ok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE— =%+ _-H=+—HI-FEF

43. A QR EEMEQRAFE (&)

43. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the
Company (continued)

(@) General information of principal subsidiaries

(a) FEMBERE—REFR (F)

(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of Attributable share capital/
incorporation/ equity interest registered
Name of subsidiary establishment held share capital  Principal activities
ML/ HEER BRTRAZ
WEAREH ARk Rags BE/EMRE  TEER
2013 2012
—E-=F —T-—f
EHEERHERZERAR PRC 60%  60% RMB50,000,000  Property development
(Zhuzhou Jin Ye Property
Development Limited)
TN XRHEREERAR el AR¥50000000T  MEEE
HNEREHEREER AR PRC 70%  70% RMBS,000,000  Property development
(Zhuzhou Cheng tou Properties
Development Company Ltd.)
RN REHEREERAR el AR¥%8000000  MEER
HHRBEEHEREER AR PRC 60%  60% RMB50,000,000  Property development
(Zhuzhou Aoyuan Property
Development Company Limited)
HWHRERESEREERAR el AREB0,000000  WEER
EEERFHEREARAT PRC 100% 100%  RMB200,000,000  Property development
(Chongaing Pan'ao Real Estate
Development Company Limited)
EFRARHERYERAR HE AR200000000  MEER
EERREXARAT PRC 100% 100%  RMB600,000,000  Property development
(Chongaing Gang Ao Properties Limited)
ERARERXBRAR HE ARE600,000000c MEEE
ENRERNEZEERAR PRC 100% 100%  RMB670,000,000  Property development
(Guangzhou Aoyuan Cannes
Investments Company Limited)
BN RERAREBRAR] e AR®670,000000  WEEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

43. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the 43. KR RIFXEMEB AT (&)
Company (continued)
(@) General information of principal subsidiaries (a) EEMBAT—RELR (&)
(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of Attributable share capital/
incorporation/ equity interest registered
Name of subsidiary establishment held share capital  Principal activities
RilAYe HEER ERTRAR
WEARER ARk Rags BE/EMRE  TEER
2013 2012
—E-=F —T-—f
BEEE (BM) BRAH PRC 100% 100% RMB1,000,000,000  Property development
(Aoyuan Group (Guangzhou)
Company Limited)
REEE (B BRAR hE ARE1000,000000t HERE
ENTEARAERERAH PRC 100% 100%  RMB238,000,000  Property development

(Guangzhou Wan Pui Investment
Management Company Limited)

ENTEEREERERAH HE AE®238,000000t  WEER

ENEYREBEBEERAF PRC 100% 100%  RMB110,000,000  Hotel operation
(Guangzhou Nansha Aoyuan
Health Hotel Company Limited)

ENEYREREEERRAR hE AR%1100000007  HEEE
IFmEIREAKEHEREERAR PRC 51% - RMB100,000,000  Property development
Baishi Yonghao

IR IREAKEHEREERAR e AR%100,000000  WEEE

BImBEERARAR PRC 80% - RMB100,000,000  Property development
(Yangjiang City RunXin Properties

Company L\'mited)

BImaEERBRAR e AR%100,000000  WEER
EFRREXARA PRC 100% = RMB50,000,000  Property development
(Yun Fun Aoyuan Propemes

Company L\'mited)

EFRAREXARAR e ARFDB0,000000T  MIEERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) I

ok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE— =%+ _-H=+—HI-FEF

43. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the 43. KR RIFXEMEB AT (&)
Company (continued)
(@) General information of principal subsidiaries (a) EEMBAT—RELR (&)
(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of Attributable share capital/
incorporation/ equity interest registered
Name of subsidiary establishment held share capital  Principal activities
RilAYe HEER ERTRAR
WEARER ARk Rags BE/EMRE  TEER
2013 2012
—E-=F —T-—f
ERBREXBRAF PRC 100% - RMB450,000,000  Property development
(Chongaing YueAo Properties
Company Limited)
EFBRELERARA hE ARM 4500000007  WIEEE
RESEEEEXERAR PRC 100% - RMB200,000,000  Property development

(Aoyuan Group Chongging YueAo
Properties Company Limited)

BRSEEREXERAH i AE®20000000070  MEEE
ENEREEBRAR PRC 51% - RMB150,000,000  Property development
(Guangzhou Kangwei)

BNRESERRAR el AR®150,00000000  MERRE
BILTEIRERHEREBRAR PRC 100% - RMB50,000,000  Property development

(Foshan City Nanhai Aoyu Real
Estate Development Company Limited)

TR RERHERTEERAR i AREB0,000000  MEERE
BEZE (BM) ERAH PRC 100% - RMB100,000,000  Property development
(Aoyuan Group (Meizhou)

Company Limited)
RESE (/M) BRAF HE AKR%100000000c MEEE
HEmRRREREERAR PRC 90% - RMB100,000,000  Property development
(Yingde City Aoyuan Liang De

Investment Company Limited)
REmRRRERABRAH i AK%100000000c MEEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

43. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the
Company (continued)

(@) General information of principal subsidiaries

43. A QR EEMEQRAFE (&)

(a) FEMBERE—REFR (F)

(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of Attributable share capital/
incorporation/ equity interest registered
Name of subsidiary establishment held share capital  Principal activities
ML/ HEER BRTRAZ
WEAREH FRL 4026 Rags RE/EMRA  TEER
2013 2012
—E-=F —T-—f
ENZREHEREER AT PRC 100% - RMB100,000,000  Property development
(Guangzhou LuoAo Real Estate
Development Company Limited)
ENEREHEREERAR B ARHE100,000,0000  MEER
ENREEEERERAR PRC 100% 100%  RMB300,000,000  Property development

(Guangzhou Aoyuan Commercial
Development Company Limited)

ENREAZERERLA e

AR EHEREERAR PRC -
(Zhuzhou Tianjun Properties

Development Company Limited)
(Disposal during the year ended

31 December 2013)
TR EREREERAR i
(REEZZF-=F+tZA=T—-ALFELE)

Notes:

(a) Add Hero is directly held by the Company and the remaining
subsidiaries comprising the Group are indirectly held by the

Company.

(b) Except for BVI and Hong Kong incorporated companies which are
operating in Hong Kong, other subsidiaries are operating in the
PRC.

(c) The above table lists the principal subsidiaries of the Company

which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affect the results or
assets of the Group. To give full details of subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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ARE300,0000007T  MEEE

70% RMB35,000,000  Property development

AR%35,0000007T  MEER

MG
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) I

AR A B R A RE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE— =%+ _-H=+—HI-FEF

43. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the 43. KQFFEMBE QN FFHE (&)
Company (continued)
(b) Composition of the Group (b) ZAEBEZARK
Information about the composition of the Group at the end AREBNRREEARARK 2 E L0
of the reporting period is as follow: T

Number of subsidiaries

Principal place B ARIZE
Principal activities of businesses 2013 2012
FEXE FEEIE =2—= —T—F
Investment holding BVI 5 5
REERR HEERES
Hong Kong 2 2
BB
PRC 1 1
H
Property development and investment PRC 37 27
MEERENRE B
Provision of consultancy and
management services PRC 1 1
TR EER N B IR AR B
Hotel operation PRC 1 1
R G
47 37
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h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=%#1+_-H=+—HI FZF

43. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the 43. XAEFEME A S (8)

Company (continued)

(c) Detail of non-wholly owned subsidiary that (c) BEEARIFIERERZHES
have material non-controlling interests =—IENDES
The table below shows details of a non-wholly owned TRENAEFR=—ZE—=F+=
subsidiary of the Group as at 31 December 2013 and A=+—HEk=-_ZE——F+_HA
31 December 2012 that have material non-controlling =+ —HBEAEAIFERES 2 I
interests: 2EMB AR

Proportion of

ownership

interests

Place of voting rights

establishment held by
and principal non-controlling Profit allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary place of business interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
FERER
RUBEREE iiEsE ol AEEFER
HELD R AR X EZREELM 2 A Rt FERER
2013 2012 2013 2012
“E-=f C—Z--—f =ZB-=F —FT-—-&
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR®TR AR¥ETT AR%®Tr AR¥ET:R
Jiangmen Jiangao PRC 49% 39,930 18,460 93,768 53,838
IFITE H

Individually immaterial

subsidiaries with

non-controlling interests 211,042 98,512
BEFERERNSIFEANBAF

304,810 152,350

Summarised financial information in respect of Jiangmen BEIPFDIREAIEERER ZIBE
Jiangao that has material non-controlling interests is set BT o "X BELEZRNE
out below. The summarized financial information below B A HRI SR ©

represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) I

AR A B R A RE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 —FE— =%+ _-H=+—HI-FEF

43. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the 43. KR RIFXEMEB AT (&)

Company (continued)

(c) Detail of non-wholly owned subsidiary that (c) BEEAFERES ZHES
have material non-controlling interests BHEBA TS (E)
(continued)

2013 2012
—E-=F —T——F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR® TR ARETT

Non-current assets FERBEE 13 227
Current assets MEEE 399,408 396,472
Current liabilities nEaE 208,158 146,826
Non-current liabilities FRBAE - 140,000
Equity attributable to owners RARIHER AELER

of the Company 97,595 56,035
Non-controlling interests FEE R 93,768 53,838
Revenue WA 298,636 241,827
Expenses (53 217,147 204,152
Profit and total comprehensive FREFNREIBALE

income for the year 81,489 37675
Profit and total comprehensive RAREMEER R ZERALEE

income attributable to the Company 41,559 19,215

Profit and total comprehensive income  FEFEARRERS E(E F & 2 U A 4258
attributable to the non-controlling

interests 39,930 18,460
Profit for the year FRRA 81,489 37675
Net cash inflow (outflow) from RETEHEEZBSRACRH) T4

operating activities 6,211 (52,860)
Net cash outflow from REEHELZRSRLFE

investing activities - (156)
Net cash (outflow) inflow from BMETHELZES (RE) RAFE

financing activities (69,225) 139,534
Net cash (outflow) inflow Be (Rl RAFE (63,014) 86,518
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=#1+_—H=+—HI FZF

44. Events After the Reporting Period

Subsequent to the reporting date, the Group had following

significant events took place:

(a)

(b)

(c)

On 8 January 2014, the Company entered into an
agreement to acquire a parcel of land situated in Foshan,
the PRC, at a consideration of RMB 344,500,000
through public auction. The Company has paid half of the
consideration and remaining balance of RMB 172,250,000
is required to pay by the end of July 2014. The land in
Foshan is designated for commercial and residential
properties for sale.

On 17 January 2014, the Company issued additional senior
notes (the “2014 Notes") in an aggregate principal amount
of US$300,000,000 (equivalent to RMB1,830,240,000)
carries interest at 11.25% per annum and due in 2019.
The issue price is 99.254% of the principal amount of
the 2014 Notes. Details of the terms and conditions are
set in at the announcement issued by the Company on
10 January 2014. Up to the date of these consolidated
financial statements were authorised for issuance, the net
proceeds of approximately US$290,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB1,771,407000) from the issuance of the 2014 Notes
have been fully received.

On 15 January 2014, the Company granted share options
to 2 employees of the Company to subscribe for a total
of 9,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the
Company with exercise price of HK$1.61 per share under
the Scheme. Details of the share options granted are
set out in the announcement issued by the Company
on 15 January 2014. The management of the Company
is in the process for the assessment of fair value of the
share options at the date of grant up to the date these
consolidated financial statements were authorised for
issuance.
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44. FEHEREE

RBEBMR  AREREUATERE

i

(a)

(c)

RZZE—NMHF—ANRB ' KAF
R BB ARABREREN
RABEE LT —E T KE
& AN R #344,500,0007T © AN A
AEXN—FRE #SKEARK
172,250,000 T # K —F — M F £
RIERISZ AT o sz IL T3 E AR
A ERmEREEYE

R=ZFE—NmWF—A++tH &xAQ
A) 174N % #4858 /4 300,000,000 3%
7o (#8 % B A R #1,830,240,000
TLIRZZE—NFEH 2 EIMET
ZER(ZZ—WFER]  BF
FEN.25%E - BITERE
—NERBEARNETE299.254% ° B
BIERRIEHFHBERARF R
T—ME—f+AFEZQE B
FREREVHRREREEITA
B BT T NFERIERERE
% %8 #7290,000,000 3 7T ( 48 & R
AER#1,771,407,000 7T) B 28k
@ o

R=ZZT—MNF—A+AHH ' AQF
BIEZAEMAQRMEREERE
REARHE - AHRITEEER1.61 87T
RETFREMEOBLZARAE
$£9,000,000 18 L BA% o AT I A
BEFBHNRARRN T —MHF
—At+RBREZ G - EERE
AP RREREEITER - K
RAEEEIFETEEREN RS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2013 72 —FE—=%#1+_-H=+—HI-FEF

45. Financial Summary of the Company

45. RN T EHBE

2013 2012
—E—=F —E——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT

NON-CURRENT ASSET EMEBEAE
Investment in a subsidiary R—ERB AR ZIKE 4,401,648 4,401,648
Property, plant and equipment M - BB KR 860 =
4,402,508 4,401,648

CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Amount due from a subsidiary FEU — M B R Bl 5kIA 1,695,172 1,340,522
Bank balances RITHERR 44,043 421,934
1,739,215 1,762,456
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENBE

Other payables HE g R 247 6,506
Bank and other borrowings RITREM AR 210,250 405,322
210,497 411,828
Net current assets BB EE R 1,528,718 1,350,628

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EMEBIAE
Bank and other borrowings RITREM AR 364,487 246,531
Senior notes BAEEE 1,370,567 750,326
1,735,054 996,857
Net assets BEFE 4,196,172 4,755,419

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR R HE
Share capital &N 26,347 25,015
Reserves ] 4,169,825 4,730,404
Net equity M an ) FER 4,196,172 4,755,419

Annual Report 2013 & —=4R4E$)

255



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 e B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ - E—=#1+_—H=+—HI FZF

45. Financial Summary of the Company 45. XA T EEE ()
(continued)
Statement of Changes in Equity of the Company RATERSER
Retained
Share profits
Share Share option  (accumulated
capital premium reserve loss) Total
REEA
B R EE BRERE (REER) ait

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®FRT  AR®TR  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARETR

At 1 January 2012 R=E——%-A—H 25,015 4,123,191 8,230 43,874 4,200,310
Profit and total comprehensive FREFREARALSE

income for the year - - - 688,728 683,728
Dividend recognised as BRAMEZRE (F12)

distribution (note 12) - - - (134,698) (134,698)
Recognition of equity-settled AR LG AR

share-based payments RERAFE - - 1,079 - 1,079
Transfer of share option reserve R ER B

upon forfeiture of share options IR ER - - (5,161) 5,161 =
At 31 December 2012 RZE-—&+=A=+-H 25,015 4,123,191 4,148 603,065 4,755,419
Loss and total comprehensive FREBRZERLEE

expense for the year - - - (91,134) (91,134)
Dividend recognised as BRBA KRS (HF12)

distribution (note 12) 1,299 212,109 - (686,006) (472,598)
Recognition of equity-settled RARALEE AR D

share-based payments REBHER - - 18 - 118
Exercise of share options IfbiERE 33 6,653 (2,319) - 4,367
At 31 December 2013 R=E-=F+-A=1-H 26,347 4,341,953 1,947 (174,075) 4,196,172
The total amount of share premium and retained profits, if any REEHR - OB ERRE R 258
amounting to RMB4,167878,000 (2012: RMB4,726,256,000) is (1B ) AR%4,167,878,0007T0( =T ——
available for dividend distribution as at the end of the reporting &F : AR¥4,726,256,0007T) A AR AL S
period. DK °
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 g2 —ZF—=

Consolidated results

Financial Summary

S R

Year ended 31 December

=+ A=+ —HIHEE

RE¥EE BE+t=-A=t—HIEE
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
“FENF ZF-TF T % T F ZB-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AR®TT ARETT ARETR
(restated)
(&E7)
Revenue EL 2,364,467 2,442,172 3,022,154 3943205 5,729,267
Profit before taxation BREE AR F 429,895 705,737 778,960 1,625,181 1,265,081
Income tax expense SR (103,598) (359,137) (336,300) (592,537) (512,945)
Profit for the year FER A 326,297 346,600 442,660 932,644 752,136
Consolidated assets, equity and liabilities As of 31 December
REEE  ERkERE W+=A=+-H
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
“FTAF ZF-TF T % T fF ZB-=F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AR®TT ARETT ARETR
(restated) (restated)
(=7) (&E7)
Assets EE
Non-current assets ERBEE 3,160,832 3,090,876 3,992,103 4,129,290 3,150,401
Current assets mMENEE 8,664,509 10,059,824 12,922,368 16,683,751 26,781,105
Total assets BE 11,725,341 13,150,700 16,914,471 20,813,041 29,931,506
Equity and liabilities ERRkAE
Non-current liabilities FnBaE 2,243,384 2,223,726 2,166,444 3,604,750 7,444,353
Current liabilities mEaE 3,728,997 5,068,586 8,619,250 10,104,606 14,963,297
Total liabilities BafE 5,972,381 7,292,312 10,685,694 13,709,356 22,407,650
Equity attributable to owners AR FHEHE A
of the Company FE(h s 5,727,308 5,807,405 6,159,182 6,951,335 7,219,046
Non-controlling interests S 25,652 50,983 69,595 152,350 304,810
Total equity and liabilities BERkaE 11,725,341 13,150,700 16,914,471 20,813,041 29,931,506
The Company was incorporated on 6 March 2007 as an exempted RRABRZZEZ+F=ANBRASHESTM

company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands and became
the holding company of the Group as a result of certain business
combinations transactions on 6 September 2007. The financial
summary has been presented on the basis that the Company had
been the holding company of the Group from the beginning of the
earliest period presented.

PR R EFHRBRAR - jII_YytijLﬂ
/TEZ%?%%%%{%X%&Z%K%IZE
c AU EDRIBEARFTBA25RKFH

Fﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂt ERAEEIZERARCEERR
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Major Properties Held for Sale

Properties for Sales o {HEEEY X
GFA Interest
(thousand attributable to
sq.m.) the Company
Project Location Status Existing use BEEEE AT
EHH ik AR REA% (FFFK) Frib s
1 Shenyang Aoyuan Shenyang Liaoning Under construction Integrated residential 1,200.6 100%
The Metropolis FEEREGT iz community
&5 R B matkE
2 Guangzhou Aoyuan  Panyu, Guangzhou Under construction Hotel, office, 224.1 100%
City Plaza BMmESE P commercial properties
N B B i R BIE - BFE  BE
ES
3 Zhuzhou Aoyuan Zhuzhou, Hunan Under construction Commercial 393.3 60%
Shennong Health City J5IEa%& KM i buildings, low-density
MR E SR E AW residential buildings
and integrated
community
BEAE  BEREE
EREFEHE
4 Jiangmen Aoyuan Jiangmen, Under construction High-rise apartments, 2073 51%
Yicheng International  Guangdong fri commercial properties
Plaza EREIFm SERE  BEME
TP R E R B E
%
5  Zhongshan Aoyuan Zhongshan, Under construction Low-density 402.0 100%
L) B ] Guangdong fri residential buildings,
EBREH LT integrated residential

258
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Investment Properties

BEYI=

1. Completed properties held for investment 1. ERIEEREYE
Gross floor Interest
(thousand attributable to
sq.m.) the Group
No. Project Location Type Lease term BREERE rEE
Fi% &R 2 L] ity (FE7K) Frib s
1 Guangzhou Nanguo Panyu, Guangzhou Golf course & commercial Long 84.2 100%
Aoyuan BMNmE SR building REH
ENEERE SBITRBSREEAE
2 Guangzhou Panyu Aoyuan  Panyu, Guangzhou Retail shop & commercial Long 74 100%
ENESRE EBMTESR building REH
ERARBFEAE
3 Guangzhou Guo Ao Nansha, Guangzhou Office Long 24 100%
Investment Development ~ BMmEYE BT REH
Centre
EMERREERER
4 Guangzhou Aoyuan Panyg, Guangzhou Retail shop Medium 8.6 100%
BNRE BMNmEEE JE% e
5  Chongging Aoyuan City of ~ Chongging Retail shop & Clubhouse Medium 58 100%
Health BEM EHRERH thEH
6  Guangzhou Aoyuan Plaza Panyu, Guangzhou Retail shop & commercial Medium 80.5 100%
EMNREES EMmEER building FR AR
ERREEAE
7 Guangzhou Aoyuan Plaza  Panyu, Guangzhou Retail shop & commercial Medium 6.1 100%
ENEEELES BENTEBE building REH
EARBFEAE
8  Shenyang Aoyuan The Shenyang Liaoning Commercial buidling Medium 70 100%
Metropolis EELERT BEAE 4
e EdE
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Investment Properties

BRI

2. Investment properties under construction IPREMEYE
Gross floor Interest
(thousand attributable to
sq.m.) Stage of the Group
No. Project Location Type Lease term BEEE Completion AER
Fi 2R 2 il sk (FFEX) EE FribiEs
1 Shenyang Aoyuan Shenyang, Liaoning Commercial Medium 114.2 Under 100%
Convention Plaza BE&ELM buildings FEH construction
BEREERES [EEINE LA
2 Guangzhou Panyu, Guangzhou Retail shop & Medium 277 Under 100%
Aoyuan City Plaza EMMEBE commercial FEEH] construction
BN A building HEIH
S CEINE
3 Guangzhou Luogang, Guangzhou Retail shop & Medium 23.1 To be constructed 60%
Luogang Aoyuan BN TZEHE commercial FEEH] T
Plaz building
ENEERRES ERREERE
4 Guangzhou Aoyuan Zengcheng, Guangzhou Retail shop & Medium 60.0 To be constructed 51%
Kangwei Plaza M T commercial HAEH FHT
BN RE R ES building
ERREERE
5  Yangjiang Yangjiang, Guangdong Commercial Medium 10.0 To be constructed 80%
Aoyuan Central BRERB LN buildings 5 EHT
Parkview [EEINE]
IRENE—%
6  Chongging Chongaing Retail shop & Medium 18.9 To be constructed 100%
Aoyuan The BEm commercial HEEH] L
Metropolis building
EF RE B ERREERE

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited H [ 5 [ 3 78 45 B k43 A R A 7]



This 2013 annual report (the “Annual Report™ ), in both
English and Chinese is available on the Company’s website at
http://www.aoyuan.com.cn (the “Company Website” ) and
the website of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited at
http://www.hkexnews.hk.

Shareholders who have chosen to receive the corporate
communications of the Company (the “Corporate
Communications ) via the Company Website and who for
any reason have difficulty in receiving or gaining access to the
Annual Report posted on the Company Website may request

the Annual Report in printed form free of charge.

Shareholders of the Company may at any time change their
choice of the means of receipt (either in printed form or
via the Company Website) and/or language (either English
only or Chinese only or both languages) of Corporate

Communications.

Shareholders of the Company may send their request to receive the
Annual Report in printed form and/or in the requested language,
and/or to change their choice of the means of receipt and/or
language(s) of Corporate Communications by notice in writing
to the branch share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at 17M
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’ s Road East Hong Kong or

by sending an email to at aoyuan.hk@aoyuangroup.com.
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